
  
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET 
 
Tuesday 6 August 2013 
2pm 
Council House (Next to the Civic Centre), Plymouth 
 
Members: 
Councillor Evans, Chair 
Councillor Peter Smith, Vice Chair 
Councillors Coker, Lowry, McDonald, Penberthy, Vincent and Williams. 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
This agenda acts as notice that Cabinet will be considering business in private if items are 
included in Part II of the agenda. 
 
This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Warspite Room and during the course of the meeting, councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting. 
 

By entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, the public are consenting to 
being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting. 
 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 
 
 
Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 
 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
Please ask for  Nicola Kirby, Democratic 
Support 
T 01752 304867 
E nicola.kirby@plymouth.gov.uk 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
29/07/2013 

Public Document Pack



 
CABINET 
 
 

NOTICE 
  
Further notice of intention to conduct business in private                     (Pages 1 -2)  
  
AGENDA 
 
PART I  (PUBLIC MEETING) 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for absence submitted by Cabinet Members. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   (Pages 3 - 4) 
  
 Cabinet Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items 

on this agenda.  A flowchart providing guidance on interests is attached to assist 
councillors. 

  
3. MINUTES   (Pages 5 - 6) 
  
 To sign and confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 18 June 2013. 
  
4. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC    
  
 To receive questions from the public in accordance with the Constitution. 

 
Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 
Unit, Plymouth City Council, Civic Centre, Plymouth, PL1 2AA, or email to 
democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 

  
5. STRATEGIC ALCOHOL PLAN FOR PLYMOUTH (2013-18)   (Pages 7 - 36) 
  
 The Director for People will submit a written report on a Strategic Alcohol Plan for 

Plymouth 2013-18 which sets out a strategic approach to tackling alcohol related harm 
whilst contributing toward Plymouth’s ambition of being one of Europe’s most vibrant 
waterfront cities where an outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone.  
 
A background paper to this report can be accessed at the Council’s website Council and 
Democracy/ Councillors and Committees/Library/Cabinet background papers or using 
the following hyperlink –  
http://tinyurl.com/bdqgk2r 

 
Councillor Mrs Aspinall, former Chair of the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Task and Finish Group has been invited to attend the meeting to present the 
scrutiny report on their review of the draft Strategic Alcohol Plan.  



 

  
6. BUSINESS RATES: DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF   (Pages 37 - 46) 
  
 The Director for Corporate Services will submit a report on the council’s current 

approach to granting discretionary business rate relief in order to identify resources to 
promote growth in the local economy. The report will recommend an interim review for 
2013/14 to ensure that the relief given provides the greatest benefit to the businesses and 
residents of Plymouth. 

  
7. FINANCE - CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING 

REPORT   
(Pages 47 - 60) 

  
 The Director for Corporate Services will submit the first quarterly monitoring report for 

2013/14 which outlined the finance monitoring position of the council as at the end of 
June 2013.  
 
Information will also be presented on staffing resources and sickness absence.  

  
8. URBAN ENTERPRISE: NEW ENTERPRISE UNITS AT 

OCEAN STUDIOS   
(Pages 61 - 68) 

  
 The Director for Place will submit a written report on the Ocean Studios development 

which is a £4.06 million building project which could unlock £3.27 million public funding 
to create 1,900 square metres of affordable artists’ studios. The report will explain how 
the delivery of the project is facilitated by a capital contribution of £794,000 from the 
City Council’s Investment Fund. In addition, it is proposed that the council acts as 
guarantor to a loan of similar value and the report will explain how the potential financial 
impact of this enabling role will be mitigated.  

  
ADULT SOCIAL CARE: IMPROVING QUALITY AND OUTCOMES, 
INCREASING CHOICE AND CONTROL 
  
9. Increasing choice and control in day opportunities   TO FOLLOW 
  
 With reference to the Cabinet meeting on 15 January 2013 which asked officers to 

undertake inclusive and meaningful consultation with service users, families and carers on 
proposals relating to day care opportunities, the Director for People will submit a written 
report on the outcome of the consultation process and making a series of 
recommendations designed to “Increase Choice and Control in Day Opportunities”. 

  
10. Improving quality in dementia care   TO FOLLOW 
  
 With reference to the Cabinet meeting on 15 January 2013 which asked officers to 

undertake inclusive and meaningful consultation with service users, families and carers on 
proposals relating to dementia care, the Director for People will submit a written report 
on the outcome of the consultation process and making a series of recommendations on 
“Improving Quality in Dementia Care”. 
 

  



 

11. ADDITION OF A SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS 
SUPPORT CENTRE TO KEYHAM BARTON CATHOLIC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL   

(Pages 69 - 78) 

  
 The Director for People will submit a report on asking to undertake formal consultations 

with all interested parties on proposals to add a special education needs support centre 
for complex children with autistic spectrum condition to Keyham Barton Catholic 
Primary School with effect from September 2014, using the facilities to be renovated by 
the Diocese. 

The report will also ask seek authority for the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People, in light of the outcomes of and responses to the formal consultations, to 
determine whether to publish formal proposals (Public Notice) to undertake the above 
change and to determine whether to implement the proposal outlined in any such Public 
Notice. 

Background papers to this report can be accessed at the Council’s website Council and 
Democracy/ Councillors and Committees/Library/Cabinet background papers or using 
the following hyperlink –  
http://tinyurl.com/bdqgk2r 

  
12. CONTRACT AWARD - DOMESTIC ABUSE VICTIM 

SUPPORT, RECOVERY AND PREVENTION SERVICES   
(Pages 79 - 86) 

  
 The Director for People will submit a report summarising the recent tender process for 

two separate services for victims of domestic abuse.   
 
Service A will support people assessed as being at a ‘higher risk of serious harm’ and will 
replace the current domestic abuse victim support contract.  
 

Service B is new provision that will focus on supporting people who have been assessed 
as being at a ‘lower risk of serious harm’ to prevent escalation of their needs.      
 

The report will recommend the awarding of the contracts to the winning provider(s) and 
contract award information is contained in a separate confidential report also on this 
agenda. 

  
13. CONTRACT AWARD FOR LOCAL BUS SERVICES   (Pages 87 - 98) 
  
 The Director for Place will submit a report summarising  the recent tender process for 

the commissioning of the following local bus services across the city: 
 

 7D, 13, 14, 18, 19, 25, 27, 28B, 31, 39, 43B and 52.  
 
Please note that there is a separate private report also on this agenda detailing the 
outcome of the tenders and recommendations for awarding contracts for specific bus 
services. 
 
 
 
 

  



 

14. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. 
 
(Members of the public to note that, if agreed, you will be asked to leave the meeting). 

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
  
15. CONTRACT AWARD FOR LOCAL BUS SERVICES (E3)   (Pages 99 - 110) 
  
 Further to agenda item 13 above, the Director for Place will submit a written report on 

the confidential contract award information and recommending the award of contracts, as 
appropriate, for various local bus services.  

  
16. CONTRACT AWARD - DOMESTIC ABUSE VICTIM 

SUPPORT, RECOVERY AND PREVENTION SERVICES 
(E3)   

(Pages 111 - 118) 

  
 Further to item 12 above, the Director for People will submit a report on the confidential 

contract award information relating to the recent tender process for two separate 
services for victims of domestic abuse.   

  
17. RESTRUCTURE OF TWO CITY CENTRE HEAD LEASES 

(E3)   
(Pages 119 - 128) 

  
 The Director for Place will submit a confidential report on a restructure of two City 

Centre head leases. 
  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Not protectively marked  

FURTHER NOTICE OF 
INTENTION TO CONDUCT 
BUSINESS IN PRIVATE  
6 AUGUST 2013

 
REGULATION 5 OF THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) 

(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

 
A Notice was published on 8 July 2013 indicating that the Cabinet meeting on 6 August 2013 is 
likely to move into private session to consider the following decisions under Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 where the press and public may be excluded from the meeting on 
the grounds that it/they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information in accordance 
with Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 

No representations have been received in respect of the following - 

 

Title Exemption Paragraph  

Contract award for local bus services  Paragraph 3 

Contract award for domestic abuse victim support, 
recovery and prevention services.   

Paragraph 3 

Restructure of two City Centre Head Leases  Paragraph 3 

 

The following items have been deferred to a future meeting – 

• Contract award for the redevelopment of the Civic Centre and relocation of staff and 
services; 

• Contract award for Domiciliary Care Services. 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 
 
 
 
 
           
          
 
         
    
         No   Yes 
 
 
 
 
   
    No   Yes 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
              
         
          
     
                
          
                
     
 
           
 
             
      
     
 

 
 
 
 
 
D
P 

I 

Does the business relate to or is it likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)?  This will include 
the interests of a spouse or civil partner (and co-habitees): 

• any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for profit or gain 
• any sponsorship that they receive including contributions to their expenses as a councillor or the 

councillor’s election expenses from a Trade Union 
• any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and them 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and any organisation with land in 

Plymouth in they are a partner, a paid Director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities 

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which they have a 
relevant interest in its shares or its securities 

What matters are being discussed? 

 
 
 
P
r 
I 
v
a
t
e 
 
I
n
t
e
r
e
s

t 

Does the business affect the well-being or financial position of (or relate to the approval, consent, licence or 
permission) for: 

• a member of your family or  
• any person with whom you have a close association; or 
• any organisation of which you are a member or are involved in its management (whether or not 

appointed to that body by the council).  This would include membership of a secret society and 
other similar organisations. 

 
Yes           No   You can speak and vote 

 
 
 
   

 
 

Yes    No 

Speak to Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting to avoid risk of allegations of corruption 
or bias 

Declare interest and leave (or obtain 
a dispensation) 

Declare the interest and speak and 
vote  

Will it confer an advantage or disadvantage on your family, close associate or an organisation 
where you have a private interest more than it affects other people living or working in the 
ward? 

C
a
b
i
n
e

t 

Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* relating to the matter to 
be decided and leave the room when the matter is being considered. Cabinet members may apply to the 
Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest. 
 
*A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal interest in the situation or where s/he may 
profit personally from the decisions that s/he is about to take. 
 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



��������	
����
�����
��������

��������
�

	
����
�����
��������
�

������	��
�
����������	
���
�	��	���	������	
����������
	������	���������	����������	�������	���	�������
�	
	
��
�	��	�����������	������	 ��	!����"	
#�������$�	����	%�����	!��������	"��	���&�����	
'������
$�	������	%��(����	!��������	"��	���&��$�	�������	�����	!��������	"��	�����$�	)���
	
�������	!*���	�"	�������	���"�������	���	�������
��&
$	���	+�����	,����	!'�����	����������	
'�&&���	-""����	!�������$�			
	
�&���(��
	"��	��
�����	����������
	�����	'����	!����	�����$	���	 �.���	
	
���	������(	
������	��	/�00	&�	���	"���
���	��	/�/0	&��	
	
�����������	
�
�������
�����������
�����
�������
�����������
������	����������	���
�
��������������������
�
������������������������������������
�
�����	����������
���������	
������������������
�
���������
��������������
	

���� �������	����������	����	���
	
�����	.���	��	�����������
	�"	������
�	����	��	����������
	��	����������	.���	���	����	�"	
�������	��	��������	��	����
	�����	���
���������	��	���
	������(��
	

����  ��!	�����
	
�(����	���	������
	�"	���	������(	����	��	/1	���	/012�	
	

���� "!��	�������� �	#���!$������
	
�����	.���	��	3��
����
	"���	���	&�����	"��	���
	������(�	
	

���� �������	�����������%�&�'����(%�)���
	
���	����"	
#�������	
��������	�	��&���	��	���	���"�	���&�����	����	/012415	6	/017418�			
	
����������	
���
	!�������	 �����$	&��
�����	���	&��&�
��
	.����	6	
	

�	 
��	 ���	 �	 �����	 ��
���	 "��	 ���	 �������	 ��	 ������	 �	 9%��������	
���&�������	�������:	.���	 "���	���&�������	�����
	����	���	�������	
.�
	����������;	��
&��
����;	"���	���	�	&������;	
	

�	 ���""�����	���	�������:
	����������	��	���	����	��
���	���	���	
&��&�
��	"���	��<������
	��	��	�	&��������(�	(��.��(�	�����(	���	
���"�����	�����		

		

Agenda Item 3Page 5



���	���&�����	����	/012415	��	/017418	���	����	���
������	��	���	���&�������	'�������	
%����	��	/=	���	/012	.��	���	��������
��	
�&&�����	���	&����			
	
����������	
���
	�������	���	�������	"��	�����	����	.���	��	�������(	���	&����		*�	��
�	
�������	���	�������:
	&������
	"��	
�(���(	�&	��	
�&&���	���	��<������
;	)���
	�������	!*���	
�"	�������	���"�������	���	�������
��&
$	���	����	)������	!�

�
����	��������	"��	*>	���	
-�(���
�������	������&����$	���	�����	����
;	
�������	���	���	���&�����	���	
�����	
����(�����	����
	"��	�����	.����								
	
���	����"	
#�������	��
�	��&�����	����	���	������	����	?��������	����	.�
	����(	������&��	
.����	.����	
��	����(
���	���	���&�����	����	���	������"�	���	��
�����
	��	������	��������	
�"	���	&����		�	3��������	���������(	��&���	.����	��	&��
�����	��	���
���	���	&��(��

�		
-""����
	�����	��
�	��.	��(��	.���	��	
������	&������(�	
	
�����������	�&����
	���
������	���	���
��
	"��	���	����
���	6	
	
�
	
��	���	��	���	��&����		
	
���	����	�������	�
	>����������	��	���&�	���	���&�����	����	/012415	6	/017418�	
	
	
	

Page 6



 

 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:  Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth (2013-2018)   

Committee:   Cabinet 

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor McDonald 

CMT Member:   Carole Burgoyne (Director for People) 

Author: Dave Schwartz, Commissioning Officer 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 307561 
    email: dave.schwartz@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    Strategic Alcohol Plan  

Key Decision: Yes  
 
Part: I    
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
The Strategic Alcohol Plan sets out a strategic approach to tackling alcohol related harm whilst 
contributing toward Plymouth’s ambition of being one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities 
where an outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone.  
 
This is a complex and long term challenge that will require robust oversight of the delivery plans and 
clear links across key city priorities, namely health and well-being, growth and culture. This cross 
cutting relationship will ensure that strategic coherence is achieved leading to a mutually supportive 
approach and shared benefit of outcomes. This will maximise the efficient use of investment. 
Decisions around investment and commissioning intentions will be considered within a partnership 
approach; they will be evidence based and represent value for money.     
 
The Strategic Alcohol Plan will sit under the governance of the Health and Well-Being Board. The 
Health and Well-Being Board will be using the delivery of the Strategic Alcohol Plan as the focus for 
their development as system leaders over the next twelve months. Learning from this process can be 
made available to the Fairness Commission. 
 
There will be an annual delivery plan outlining a partnership programme of actions to support defined 
outcomes. The Plan will be reviewed yearly to ensure that it remains current and is responsive to 
changing need, changes in national policy, legislation and evidence.  
 
A Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group reviewed the draft 
Strategic Plan between November 2012 and March 2013 as part of pre-decision scrutiny. The Group 
took evidence from a wide range of stakeholders covering children’s services, health and social care, 
police, licensing, planning and economic development. The report produced sets out 16 
recommendations the first of which states:  ‘The Task and Finish Group are in agreement with the 
aims, objectives and recommendations of the Strategic Alcohol Plan and recommends its adoption 
and implementation by the city council.’ 
 
The remaining recommendations from the report have either been incorporated into the final 
version of the Strategic Alcohol Plan or will be incorporated into the detail of delivery plans.  
         

Agenda Item 5Page 7



 

 

The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 – 2016/17 
 
The Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth will support Plymouth being a Brilliant Co-operative Council 
through addressing the four key corporate objectives: 
• Growing Plymouth 

The Strategic Alcohol Plan will lead to a safer, more vibrant Plymouth. This in turn should attract 
more visitors to the City and also support an increase in the numbers of citizens of Plymouth 
who will utilise the social, cultural and sporting offers available. Opportunities for increased levels 
of employment should follow.  

 
• Confident Plymouth 

The Strategic Alcohol Plan will lead to a safer, more vibrant Plymouth. This in turn should attract 
more visitors to the City and also support an increase in the numbers of citizens of Plymouth 
who will utilise the social, cultural and sporting offers available. Experiences of those attending 
showcase events in Plymouth should be improved, building pride for those that live here and 
further establishing the City as an attractive destination both nationally and internationally. 

 
• Caring Plymouth 

Through changing attitudes to alcohol, supporting parents, children and individuals in need, the 
Strategic Alcohol Plan will reduce inequality. Whilst alcohol misuse affects individuals from all 
sections of society, those from the most disadvantaged communities experience the highest 
burden of harm. By using local levers to manage the supply side of alcohol, changing attitudes to 
alcohol, identifying need earlier and having evidence based intervention available the Strategic 
Alcohol Plan will over time reduce inequality. 

• Pioneering Plymouth 

By taking a strategic approach to alcohol across the key City priorities, namely health and well-
being, growth and culture; the City will be able to use resources efficiently, maximise mutual 
impact across these priorities and so deliver best value.   

 
The Strategic Alcohol Plan is underpinned by the four key values described in the Co-operative 
Council Corporate Plan. Delivery of the Strategic Alcohol Plan will: 
 

• be influenced by stakeholders and so be democratic 
• require all to work toward a safer drinking culture – and so be responsible 
• address inequality and so be fair 
• require all stakeholders to work together and so work in in partnership  

        
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
As a Partnership Strategy, commissioning intentions supporting delivery of the strategy and requiring 
investment will need to be approved by the Joint Commissioning Partnership. Partners on the Joint 
Commissioning Partnership will make investment decisions within their own budget constraints and 
plans.  Similarly, Partners on the Growth and Culture Boards will do the same. 
   

Page 8



 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 

This plan will contribute towards the priority to reduce child poverty and will also contribute toward 
improving community safety 

 

Equality and Diversity 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken 

  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 

It is recommended that Cabinet approve the Strategic Alcohol Plan (2013-2018) as implementation of 
the Plan will:  
 
Reduce alcohol related harm in Plymouth 
 
Specifically the Strategic Alcohol Plan will achieve this by (delivering these aims):   
 
§ Changing attitudes towards alcohol  
§ Providing support for children, young people and parents in need  
§ Supporting individual need 
§ Creating a safer more vibrant Plymouth  
 
Resulting in (delivering these objectives):  
 
• Reduction in the rate of alcohol attributable hospital admissions  
• Reduction in levels of harmful drinking by adults and young people 
• Reduction in alcohol related violence 
• Reduction in alcohol related anti-social behaviour 
• Reduction in the number of children affected by parental alcohol misuse 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
The alternative would be to have no Strategy for the City to tackle alcohol related harm. This was 
not considered. 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Alcohol Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2011(Plymouth)  
(http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/jsnaalcoholneedsassessment.pdf) 
A report of the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Panel Task and Finish Group 
following a review of the Strategic Alcohol Plan  
(http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s46170/Final%20Report%20Alcohol.pdf) 
 
Background papers: 
 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

EIA  for Strategic Alcohol Plan x         
  
 
 

Page 9



 

 

Sign off:   
Fin djn1314.

08 
Leg 1779

8/DV
S 

Mon 
Off 

177
98/
DV
S 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member: Carole Burgoyne 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  
 

Page 10



THE STRATEGIC 
ALCOHOL PLAN

A report of the Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel – Task and Finish Group 
following a review of the Strategic Alcohol Plan

Page 11



Page 12



�

�

���������
�
�	� �
���
�� �������

�
�	� ���
��
������

�
�������

�	� �����
�
�����������
�������� ���� �� ��� �������
�

!	� �����
�
����������"���������������#������������� �����!�
�

$	� %�"�
������&���' ������������"���� �����(�
�

(	� )� �"����������� ������'���'�������*�
�������
�

�����+�

+	� )� �"����&��� ������'���'�������*�
��������
�

������,�

-	� ��'������*���'���
�
.�.
���''� ��������
�

/	� �
��������'�*
���������'������*���'���
�
.� �
�
�

/	�� 0�
'���������� ��������
�

/	�� ��������������� ������!�
�

/	�� ���
����������
�

������(�
�

� /	!�
�

0�

���1������� ������+�

� /	$�
�

0�"��1������� ������-�

�,� ���� 
'���'��
�

������-�

��� ��
�������������

*���� ������,�
�

��� )�������������'� ������,�
�

� �..������'�
�

�

�� �
�2���������������3��
����� �
� � �
� � �
� � �

�
� �

Page 13



�

��

�

�
� �

Page 14



�

��

�

�
�� ��������

�
�	�� � ���� �. ��'���'����*������
� ���������������*�� ���
��������"�
����� �'���������� ���
���

��'�'��������4.��'�����*����������#���������������
�''�����
� �'����
��'��*���������	�����'�
�
�5����*����������#���������������'�6����6���*���� �*�
�� ���
�����������5��'7����6
���'�
�������������������8����.
�"���'�2�6'8����
���'�"�'���
'�����6
���'�.��. ���������
����
'���� �'��������"��*
�	�
�

�	�� �������'��������8�5����������"��������'���
'��*�� ���� ��'�������
�  ���'
6'��������������
��.�����*�� ���� �
� ������
���8���'�
��
���������'�
��
'���� �����.���'��4.�
�������6��
.��. ��5����� ���� ��'��6
'��	�
�

�	�� ���9
 ���,�������:�� ���������
 ������� ���
���"�
"��5�������

��������� ����'���
�������
�
�*��� ���
�����
�������� ���� �� ���;�
������)�'.��'�6� ���8�1�����'��:�
�<	�
�
6'�=
����������'�������������.��� �'
6���������
�=
�'������'��6 �'������'������0���'��
%
�
.����*��
'�����''�'���������*

���
���"� �.������*�����'�
������������.�
������ �. ��	�
������'������*���'���
�
.�5�
 ��*��
'����6� ���������.�����*�� ���� ������� �������
��������������"�6
����������������������	�
�

�	!� �������
���������'���=
�
�����6�
'��*�������'������*���'���
�
.�
����"����"�������*
�����
5����"�
������*�'�

��'8�����
�������'����.�
�'��
��������4������������.
�������*
���
� '�5��
�	�>��*�
��������.
�����"������������8��
�"����
.�=
� ��������������"�
'�����*�
� ���
��?'����������������������
 ���� .������.
�"���
'����
��4.�
�����8��
�5������
5���
�
������*�.��. ������
 ������ ��
��
�������������"����.�����*�� ���� �5�� '��
'
..�
��������������"�'�������6��;�����*��

�.�?'�*���'�8���'��"�6
����5���
*
���������'8�
5��
������
�'��������=
� �����*� �*���'���2�����6���"�
����<	�
�

�	$� ����.��� ������� �'�����  �������*�
���������
���������������
�6�
��*�
�������������'�
5�����5�  �6��'
6������������6����8�"��������"�
"��5�������

�����1�������������
�	�����

�������������'��
�����������.
�"������'��
����5��
'��.��*�6��������6���*��'�����
������"����.�����*�� ���� ���
�''���������?'�.�
���
'��.'	�
�

	
� ��
�����
����
�

�	�� ���'�
�.�
����"�'�����*������'�*
�������:�� ���������
 ������� ���
���"�
"��5�������

�����
���� ?'���'������0���'��%
�
.�5�����5�  �'
..�
����'�
��������..
���������������������
'
.. ���*�� ���� ������������������5�  �����

����4���'��������.�����*���������?'���"�'���������
'�
"���'������
�'.�������� ���� �
� �������
�	�������'������0���'��%
�
.?'�
�"��5������
. �����"�
�*�"��'�''���'�6��5������"��6�
��,�������1�
����,��	�
�

�	�� 1��6�
'��..���������������
�
.�5�
���'�*�  �5'@�

�
� ��
���  �
�1
'�1�
���'.���  �A����
��*������
�
.B�
� ��
���  �
�%
����1�������AC���#����
��*������
�
.B�
� ��
���  �
�9������� �
�
� ��
���  �
�&�

�������
��
�
� ��
���  �
������
**���
� ��
���  �
�3
�9����1������

�
�**���
'�'
..�
����������
�
.�5�
���'�*�  �5'@�

Page 15



�

��

�

�
� �
�*�''�
�)�������**�A� ���
���D��"�
'���B�
� )�''�9���8�3����
������
..�
���**���
�

�
���'�
�.�
��'
���
�'�'�����*������'��*�������'������0���'��%
�
.�
�"��5���������'�

�������������'�*�
�����'�
�������������������*�� ���� ����� ���
��	��
�

�� �������������
��������������������� ��!�
�

�
�� � ���� �5�'�������*�����'���.
��
����6������� ���
����,�,���
���
'��.�����,��	����
�'.��'��
����*��
.�
������������������� ���������������
� ���*�� ���� �����.�����������"��������
� ���� �����.���'�%
�
.�5���������
��� ����#�,��	�����'��
�
.��"�
'�5����������� �5�
��
��� ���� ��"� �.����� �*� ���� � ���� � ��
������ ���� �� .� ��'������� ��� � ���� � 9�����
�����''������� %
�
.� ����
��� 6�� ���� �
6 ��� :�� ��� D���� 5����� 5�
 �� '
..�
��
��"� �.������*�����'�
����������������*�����������''����������������'������5�
 ��'
..�
��
�������
�����'�
���������
��������*��
�"� 	��
�

�
	� 
����"#����!��
�

�	�	�� �����"�
�  ���6�������*������ ���� ���
�������'����
��
���� ���� �
� �������
������ ���
��8�
'.���*���  ������'�
���������'����#�
�

� � ������������
��'���5�
�'�� ���� ��
� �
�"����'
..�
��*�
���� �
��8���
���.��. ������.�
���'����������
� �
..�
������"��
� ������
� �
�����'�*�
��
���������"�
������'�

�
�	�	�� ������
�����?'��62����"�'��
�����#�

�
� � )��
�������
�����*�� ���� ����
�6
��6 ����'.��� �����''���'��

� )��
��� �"� '��*���
�*
 ��
�������6����
 �'�������
���.��. ��
� )��
���� ���� �
� �����"�� �����
� )��
�������#'���� �6���"��

�
� )��
��������
�6�
��*���� �
����**������6��.�
���� �� ���� ���'
'��
� ���
��'�������
�6�
��*�"�'���
'�������������

�
�	�	�� ������
������'���'����'
..�
����������?'�'�
�������"�'�������������������	�
�����
�����������

�
�	��������	�	�����
�
������	�������������������
�������
���
����������������	����	�
�

�	�	!� �
���''������ �"�
���*����'�'�
������5�
 �������#�
�

� ����'
.. ���*�� ���� ��'�'�
�������  ��. ����������5�  ��������7�
� � ���� �. ��'���.
�.�
��������
� ������ ���
��?'��
 �

� 8�'.�
�����������'.��� ����

�**�
7��
� .��. ��'���� �'������
� �4������"�
������'������*�� �'�*�������
��*��� ��*
���� �7�
� "�'���
'�������������*�� �'�*����������"���������������������������������*�� �

����"��������
��

�7�
� ��
��.��. ���
�������
�'.��'�6 ������5������ �5�
�
�'�� ����'7����
� *�5�
�.��. ��6�������������������'.��� 7���
�  �''�� ���� �*
�  ����
���7���
� *�5�
���� �
����**������6��.�
���� �� ���� ���'
'�7���

Page 16



�

!�

�

� .��. �����������*��� .���������''�������*�
������8���"��������'
..�
������������
����
�

�
$� �������������%&�!�!���!'�������
�"��%��!�"(�

�
!	�� 1�'��DE������'���"����"� �.����� �"� �������#�������������5���������6��6���*���� ��������

����?'��������������
�.
������� �'���
'	�� ���
�����'��� �
����
�6�
��*� ����'���.
���'�'�
�����

������#�������������*��
'�'��������
'���*����'��.
���'�'�����
��'�'
����'�1
� ���
� ���8���
���:�  8�������
6���������D�������
���	���'���
�'
 �8����� �"� ��*�� ���� �
� �����
.
�6 �����������'�������'���
��'��'�'����*����� �������
������� '�5��
�������������	��
�

!	�� � ���
���6��'�'���'� ��������*�
�'��

���'8������
�'8�������'8�6�
'������������ 
6'8�6
������
������������������������ '��6��������
'���*��
�'����	�1����
�'�����'��
�����*
������5����
����#'���� �6���"��

8� ����
8����'�8���'�

6�������������
�����"��
� ������
�
 ���"����.���'�
�*������������������������5�����5�  ���������6�����
�''��������������
�����5��	��
�

!	�� ����"� 
���*�����DE��"���������������#�������������A����B�5�'��'�����������F((6�����
�,,/8�����
������*�
��+G��*���5���������������
���

��"�
�����6��5����$#�,G��*�
��. ������	���
�

!	!� �
'���''�'��.�
��������������������
�"���� �
���.
�.�
������*�����
��������6��5����(.����
(���������. ���'��**8���"�'�������**�
�'�
"���'�������������������'��*��
'����
'	������
���������6���*��'��''��������5��������**����"���������
 ����� 
����������� �������������
*�
����'
�.����8���. ��������������
��������� ���8��
����"���8����
�.
���

'��.�����5�� ��	��
�

!	$� ����,��8�� ���
��?'������'
..�
�����"�
�(8,,,���. ����'�A(8!,,���� 
�����5�
�����
.
�.
����
'B�����5�'�5�
����
�
���F/�	����  ���������
�'��*�%
�''�C� 
��������A%C�B	�
���'��=
��������(G��*��������. ������������	�G��*�%C�	��
�


�#����)��'��������C� 
���*�� ���
��?'������A��. �����������%C�B8��,���
�
� ���!'��'��!'*+������

���++�,������!��,�
%��!�"���
����&����+�
�
-����	../0�
�

%"1��("�!�2�

%"1��(��+�

�3�4�
5
%�
-60�

�3���
-6"0�

0
  #
�����

��
�#
�����

���� �

����""�'����!�
:��� '�����'��� �
�
�������������� -,,� !,,� �,,� -,,� �$8�,,� �$	��

��+��*��!�+�

&����'���

�'��

���'� �8!,,� (,,� /,,� �8!,,� ��8(,,� ��	��

D� ����'���

�'��

���'�����
��*�'�

�8�,,� (,,� $,,� �8�,,� ��8(,,� �+	/�

������5���*����
'��.'�������6� ��
*����'����'�

-,,� �,,� $,,� +,,� ��8(,,� �,	��

���+�
&����'���� 
6'� +,,� �,,� !,,� (,,� ��8(,,� -	��
�
6 �����
'�'����� �8$,,� $,,� /,,� �8!,,� ��8(,,� �,	��

���������������������������������������� ����
1���)�&���H�1�E���''������'�A�,,/B�������1�4�����4�

Page 17



�

$�

�

6�
'�
� ����&�����II� 78$..� 	8$..� �8/..� 78...� 		8	..� 9�
	�
��

��@��)���A���B8��4*�
����������'��
�
!	(� ��6 ������"�'���6
����6
�����5���*��������.�����'��*���������?'�����������'��
�
.��������

�������������8�)�'��

���'�������
'	����'����*�������'������� ��6�����'���
������
�'��������*�����
�� �"� 
���*�����������'�����*��

�'��4� 
��������
�'8�������'�������'���'�
������� 
��'�
�'��

���'�������*�'������.���.�'��(.�	��
�

!	+� ����DE��"�
������. ��������������������'�$	+G����.�
����������(G��*����� ���. �������
���� ���
��	��*�������������.�����'8����������
�����������'��A(����
���*��,������'B��������

� ���"��.
�.�
������*���. ����������J��
'?�A�	�	� ����'���� 
6'8�.
6 �����
'�'�����6�
'B	�
J)�'��

���'?�5�'����� �
��'����. ���
�����6'� 
�����
�'	�����
�

!	-� ��. �������������������
��������
� ���"� ��'��6 ���"�
�����.�
�����,,-#�,��8�5�� ������
����?'����� �2�6�'���������
������'����*����� �	��
�

�������)��������. �������AGB�*�
���� ���������'8��,���
�

�
��

��@��)���A���B�
�
!	/� �
�
���(,G��*�� ���
��?'�������'��������
���������������������
�	�&����'���
�'��

���'�


�.
�'���������� �
��'��'��
���*�������������� ����'���� 
6'8�.
6 �����
'�'�����6�
'�����
'��  �'��5�����
�* ���'�������'.�
'������� ��� �'������

���*����'��6
'���''�'	��
���*�/8�-,�
DE���
��� �5�
�'8��������
���������>���
*
����
�������!��������'��*�
������
�6�
��*�
�����6
'���''�'	���
�
�
�

, � ! ( - �, ��

&
���
:
  

����������
��
�������

�5�����
��"���
�

���**�� �
&���'

3�
6�
�
�'�� 

�
���
 ���
)������

��%&��3
� ���
��

��
����.���
&�"�
.�� 

1�����'��

��
�'��
��

��5��'� �
K�
�

��

����
��

�������. �������G����� 

������������

)�'��

���'

��
'

�

Page 18



�

(�

�

:
� ��3%���%�
�;%���;�
�����
�

$	�� ����;���!+�!������	..���'��6 �'������'��� �������
�����'������*�
� ����'����.
���'�'������
�
��
'���*�
�����'
.. ���*�� ���� 	����������
��'*�

���
�'.��'�6� ����*�
� ����'�����*�� 
6'�
����.
6'���� ��� ��
���
����'��������������
����*�������.�����*� ����'���.
���'�'��������
5���
�����
����	�&��� ��
���
����'�5�
���'�������6������*
 ��*���
�"��������������� ��� �
��������'�5������
����.�
�����*�
���"�'������������. ������	���'���
�'
 ���*���������
 ��� �����'���'��6�
��* �4�6 ��� �'��������'���
 ��6������	�������*����������62����"�'��*�����
����5�'����6� �������������'��*�6
'���''�'�5�������'���*�
�'�����'����� ��� �����
�����'	�

$	�� ��������.
�"�������*
���5�
��*�
� ��� ��
���
����'������"� �.���� ����'����.� ����'�����
�''�''���� ����'�����.. �������'	����
���
����������'��*
������'������
���
�����
'��.
������
���� ����'�����62����"�'@�

� ����.
�"��������*��
����������'�
��
7�

� .
6 ���'�*���7�

� ����.
�"��������*�.
6 ����
�'����7��

� ����.
����������*���� �
���*
�����
�	�

$	�� D���
����� ��������,��"��!'����������+1�!+�#����(�����-	.��08�����%�"�
������
�������� ����'���� ���' ������������
�6�
��*���**�
����5��'����

�  ��+�+��!��*!'��������������+���+�#�������4��
��*����*�
�.�
'�'�����
���
����
� ���� �'� �'�5�'���
6 ������F�,8,,,�����6
'���''�'�*�
����
� ���6��������

�'�
��
 ��6��� �'��7�

�
� 
���;���!+�!���*������(�-��*!���0�"�'������+1�!+�#����*������(�#�

&����'�����
���
����'���5���"���
����
�.�5�
'�
���
���������6��6����������

�'.��'�6 ���
���
���	����'��  �5'� ����'�����
���
����'���������
�.
�'��������'�
�����'���.. �������'�������  �*�
�
�"��5'��*� ������'�5��
���..
�.
����	�

�
� ��<���+1�!+�#����*��������+����������� ���'�
"���'�6������
�'.��'�6 ��

�
���
����'������
���6 ����������
�.
�'��������'������'����5�����"�
�������
�.. �������'8��'�5�  ��'���  ����*�
���
�"��5��*� ������'�5��
���..
�.
����	��

�
� ��'*��!�������&�'�!�������+���'�#�3���'���'�������6������ ����'�����
���
����

�
'��6��!���++��(����.
���������� ����'�����62����"�'	����'��'�6����������������
�11��1���������.
���������� ����'�����62����"�'8����
�*�
���  �5�����
����
�
* �4�6� ��������� ��� � �"� ���������������	��

�
� ��&�!����������+�'�!�+�����������+�(��!�'���+��!="�>�!��#�����.�
'�����'�����


���������������
�.
�'����������6�
������.. ���������

�'.����"���*�5��
������� �"�8�
.
�"��������������������'�
������5������.. ��������5�
 ����.���������������

� ������������� ����'�����62����"�'	�

�
� ��!=1�("�!���,��!!*���,��+�#�&����'�����
���
����'�5�  ���5�6���6 �����'
'.����

���� �������5��
������*����'�
�.����
��� �'
���������'�������6���'�� ��
��	�
�

Page 19



�

+�

�

�  ��+�!�������!��+�#�C�
��
'���5��**����'�5�
��������������� �'���*�
� �"����
�**����'���������� ����'�����
���
�����������'���
�����
��������� ������	�

�
� ;���!+�!�� ����(������"�!�+�#�&����'�����
���
����'���5���"�����.
6 �'������ ����

�����������"�
��*�"�����
'�
����
�������"�
����
��	�
�

� %���(����!�!����+�������!���'��+�-%���0�#�����1)������6���.. ����6����
 ����'�����
���
����6��5����������

'��*��������������(�������
�'�
��������'� ���*�
� ���� 	������**�����'����������'� ���
�'
.. ���*�� ���� �5�  �6��.
���6������

��������
��

'�����
������6������ ����'�����
���
���8�����������'�������������
��'����5�����
�����1)���.. ��'	������ ����'�����
���
��������� '���������5�����
�����.. ������
�1)���������5�� ���*�������'�
�����
�
�'�
������������
�����.�
�'7�����5�����
����5�  �


��*�
��� ��������
�
� �������.�
�����*�����'����'���
��������
�'�
����������� ����������
'
.. ���*�� ���� ��'��..
�.
������������.
���������*����� ����'�����62����"�'	�

�
� ;����������;�&(�#���&����������&�"������6���.. ����6���� ����'�����
���
����

6��5����������

'��*��������������(��������  �.
���'�'�5��'�� ��������  �5'������
���'�  ��
�'
.. ��� ���� �6��5�������� �"����

'8��

�'.����"���*�5�����
��
�����
��������
�  ���
�����

�������'����

'	����
 �����6����������..
�.
��������
���
��
����� �"�8����� ����'�����
���
����5�  ���"�����
���
������� ��� ����'
 �������
5��������.� ���8� ��������� ��
'���������
'	�����*��� �����'�������5�����
��
��������
���
��
�����&����������&�"������5���8��*����8�
��
�����'��
��4��.����'��
������.. ��

�'�'�5�������� ����'�����
���
���	�

�
$	!� ����?�������!'�����������������	.�	����������
����
���
���
����'�
�'.��'�6 ��*�
�

��.
�"����������� ����*�����
�.�.
 �����������'�'
�������
�'.��'�6� ����*�
�.
6 ������ ���
�
��'*�

���*
��������:����� ��� ��
���
����'�����.
� ��,��	����� ���
��������**�����*�
����3�
����
�*�
��
6 ���:�� �����'�6�����'��6 �'����5����������&��� ��
���
���������'�
6������6����
���#*������.
6 ������ ����
���	��

$	$� 3

������� ���� �������'������5�  �������
��������
�������� ���� ��
��������'�
"���'����
�����
�
��	����'���
�
.�5�
�'�� �'� ��5����5���
�.�
���
'��.'8�'
����'�����
�����
'�*����.�
���
'��.'����������
.�
��������.� ���8�.
�6�����8� ��� ���"�
�����8���
�������
������� ��	��

7� �%;%3��
���
����;��
�
��
����������5����
����
�

(	�� ����*�  �5����*������'���"��6�����6�������*
��������**����*�
�������� ������'���'?�%���
� �
&�*�'�� ���

"���A�,��B8�����1�
����)�"��5�;0��
��������8�:�� ����&�"�'<�A�,�,B�������

�.�
��.
�"�����6��� ���
����������
��� ?'�K�
������. �'�&����*�
�3

�'������ ���� 	�
������*�
�������.
�"���'���6
��*���'����������������� ��
�������.����
�'������'������������5���
���.
����'�"�	��
�

(	�� �����,���%���
� �:�
'��� ���

"�����'�'��5������������� ����������5�5�
���
�����������
.
�.�
������*���
 �'�5���
�.�
�����
��������������5����.
��
��������'

"�������
"��5���'�
������
��	�����,���((G��*���������$!G��*�5������
�����������5����.
��
��������
"��5�
���.�
������+�G��*���������$+G��*�5���������,,$	�����,��8��(G��*���������/G��*�
5����������

��������� ��'��*�"���*�����.
��������'�"������'	���
�

���������������������������������������� ����
�
%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"����"�
"��5�#���
�.�
����������,���%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"��	��**����*�
�������� ������'���'��,���

Page 20



�

-�

�

�
�
�
�
�
>�����5����
�����������5����6�*�
������
"��5�

�
��

��@�%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"���A�,��B�#��**����*�
�������� ������'���'���
�

1���5����
�����������5����6�*�
������
"��5�
�

�
��

��@�%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"���A�,��B�#��**����*�
�������� ������'���'�

�
(	�� ����.
�.�
������*���
 �'�5����
�����"�
����������,������
��'�'�5��������������
�
.7�2
'��

�G��*������(�����!������
�
.��
�����"�
�������

��������.
�"��
'�5���	����'����
��'������
!G���������$����!!��
�
.�������������/G��������!$����(!������
�
.�������G��������($�����
�"�
������
�
.	��
�

(	!�

�

����.
�.�
������*�.��. ��5����
����� ���� ��������5����6�*�
������
"��5����
��'����'�
��
'��� ������������
��'��	�����,��8��*�������
'��� �'�������� �5�'���,G�=
���� ���*�

��������������������������������������������
�L+�%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"����"�
"��5�#���
�.�
����������,���%���
� �&�*�'�� ���

"��	��**����*�
�������� ������'���'��,���

Page 21



�

/�

�

��
'��� ��������8�!$G��*���
 �'��
����� ���� ��������.
�"��
'�5��������/G�����'�����$��
�
��
�����'	�������������'���������=
���� �8�++G��*���
 �'��
�����������.
�"��
'�5��������
�-G�����'�����$��
���
�����'	!�
�

(	$� >�� ��.��. ��5���� �5�
�'����#���������'���
'��
����
�� ��� ������6'������ �������
8��*�
�����������'
���� ���� 8�������
����
�� ��� �������"��.
�6 ��������
�������.����
�'�����
��.�������������.��. �������
�
.�����'�� �	$�
�

(	(� ������ ������
�''��  �
�����'8���'.��� �����''����*�
�� ���� #'.���*������������'�*�
�6����
�� �'�����*��� �'��'��''��������5�������
��'��� �"� '��*���.
�"�����	�)���'��*�����''����*�
�
������'����.
�"���=
���� �'��
��.�
���
 �
 ������	(�
�

(	+� &���'�6��5����� ���� ����'
�.�����.����
�'�����'����#���������'���
'���"��� '��6����
������*���7���'

"����*��$��(����
�� �'����������
���>�'��
�.�
���������� ���
���6�����
�
�������5�'�*�
�����
�''��  �'��������������
�
.'����5�'���
������������������'��
 �"���������.
�"����
��'	+�
�

(	-� �"�
������  ����.��. ���������DE��
����.����������� ���� ��
��
������M�
��
' �8�����
�
��������*�
�� ���� �
� �����.
��
����'��'��� ���"�� �6 �����(G��*�.
�6 ����
����
'	-�
�

(	/� ����'��'��������������,G��*���� �
��� �"��5���������
 ��6������
����
8���G�5��������M�
��
'�
�
����
������	$G�5��������
�*
 ��
����
	/�
�

(	�,� )�'��
����"�������'��5'����������'����"�� ������'���
�� ��� �����������������

�5������
���������.�
���
�
� �����'��.'�5��
������.�
���
���'���.
�6 ���5����� ���� ��
�����
�
�

�'	�,��
�

(	��� ������'���*�� ���� ���'
'���������DE��'�'
6'������ ���������6����"����������*�

�6
����
������
��'@�
�

� :�� ����
��'�
"������'�'@����� 
�������'�'����.
���
����
��'�
"���'�������'.��� �
'�
"���'�A�H�8������� �����'

���� ���.�������'�
"���'8�.������
���'�
"���'8�.'������
���
'�
"���'8������
�.���������.�
�����'B��*�� ���� #
� �������
6������������
�� ���	�

�
� ��'���*�� ���� #
� ������
���8���'�
��
���������#'���� �6���"��

@���� 
�������'�'����

�����
����� �2
'�����'�'���8���'�'����'�
"���'�A�	�	�'���� �5�
��'�
"���'B8���'�'��*�
�
���#�
�"���8����������
������'���*�� ���� #
� �������
��A�	�	�����'�����6
'�8�
�''�
 �B	�

�
� &�''��*�.
��
���"��������.
�*���6� �����������5�
�. ���@���� 
�������'�'��������

��������*
���� ���� #
� ����������'������ ���� #
� ����� �'��5�
��������'	�
�

� ��.�������*��� ������'���� ����5�
�'@���� 
������
���������������� ���'�'�'
����'�
6
�����5���*���
��� �����*��� ��
� �����'��.'8�.�"�
��8� �''��*���. ������8�
����'����������� ���6
'�8����� �''��''���������
��

��
'�	�

�

���������������������������������������� ����
$L(L-L/L�,L���0��
��������8�:�� ����&�"�'?#���'�#�,�,���
�������)�"��5��*�:�� ������=
� ����'�A����1�
����)�"��5B�
�

/�1�������C8���'��38�0�
 ���
���H������
���������A�,,/B	���5��'������'��*������
�6�
��*���� �
��� �"����5����'
6'��������'
'����.�
���'@�
�'
 �'�
*
���DE�������� ���
'��� ��'

"��'	��1���
6 ���:�� ���/@��++	��
�,�%� "���8��	�A�,�,B��	��

���������������������������������
���
������	������������	�&�����@�� ���� ������
���

Page 22



�

�,�

�

/� �%;%3��
�;���;��
�
��
����������5����
����
�
����������!+*"1���!��!� �("�*���
�

� �������
����*�� ���� #
� �������
�� ��� �����6��.
�'���������.�.
 ����������6���'��������
6������.
�.�
������*�����.�.
 ������������������6����8���M�
��
'8���
�*
 �������.�������
�
������	����'���
�
.'��
����*�����6� �5	��
�

+	�� ?�@��'�*+�'��!>�!���
�

� :�M�
��
'��
��������'��


��� ����*������'��
�
�����#$,�
���'�.�
�5����*�
����������$#�$�

���'�.�
�5����*�
�5����	�>������� ���
������
���
������'���������$8�,,���M�
��
'�
�
����
'	���
�

+	�� ?��",*��'��!>�!���
�

� :�
�*
 ��
��������'��


��� ����*������'���
�������$,�
���'��*�� ���� ����'
����.�
�5����
6�����������$�
���'�.�
�5����6��5����	�>������� ���
������
���
���'�����������6��
(8�(,���
�*
 ��
����
'	�����
�

+	�� ��1�!'�!��'��!>�!���
�

+	�	�� 3�.�����������'��������.�
'���*�� '������������
��
��6 �����*
�������5����
��� ���� �����
�������'
�.������*�� ���� �6�����'������.�
�����*����
��������
� �*�	�1���
��� ��
��.��������
����
'��������
'
�  ���4.�
������5����
�5� �'��.���'8��
�5����
�5� �
'��.���'��
���� ���������
���	�:�5�"�
8�'�"�
� ����.��������
����
'�����4.�
������
5����
�5� �'��.���'8�5������
��
'
�  ��'�"�
�	��
�

+	�	�� 1�'��'�"�
� ����.��������
����
'�*�  ��������.����
���*�J
� ��*��
������?8�5��
��������
�������
�"�����
���
���
�5����
�5� �'��.���'	���"�
� ����.��������
����
'�
'
�  ����"�����
�4�
��� ��������� �
��������� ���� 8������
���6 ������
�������
��'������5�
 ������.��������
�
��"�����  ���'������
�.��. �	�
�

+	!� �����������'+��++�++"�!����+������ ��A����-���� 0�	..7�
�

� ����,,(������
6 ���:�� ���
�����'����������������� ���
��7�
�

� �(G��*�������
 ��.�.
 ��������'����� ���� �
'����'�
��
8�
�.
�'��������-G��*��  �
�� �'������������������(G��*�*��� �'	����'��=
���'������8$,,�����������8$,,�
5�����5�����"����.������� �� ���� �
'����'�
��
	�

� ��G��*�������
 ��.�.
 �������'���M�
��
'��
���
�*
 �� ���� �
'�
'8��=
���������
�/8�,,���
 �'�5����
��.������� ���
�*
 ��
����
'	�

� �	(G��*�������
 ��.�.
 �������'�� ���� ���.������8��=
���������(G������������� ��
.�.
 �����������G�������*��� ��.�.
 �����	����'��.
�.�
����'��=
�������(8-,,�
��.��������
����
'	���

�
�
�
�

���������������������������������������� ����
���J1��� '��*���
��*�
�� ���� �1�'
'�
'�A1���1B��
�������6���"��

����� ���
���*�
������(#($����
�.�.
 ������
���J1��� '��*���
��*�
�� ���� �1�'
'�
'�A1���1B��
�������6���"��

����� ���
���*�
������(#($����
�.�.
 �����

Page 23



�

���

�

+	$� ;������������� ��,���+�%!���!'���
�

�
��6 ����6� �5�'��5'���5�� ���
������.�
�'�5��������
� ��� ��
���
����'�����.
���
��
��
���

'�'���
�''���� ��������
�������������������������,��� ��� �� ���� �.
�*� �'�.
�"�����
6��������
���>�'���
6 ���:�� ����6'�
"���
�	��� �����'���
��'�5��
��� ���
����'�
'����*����� ��6����
��
�5�
'�������������� �����"�
�����
��
�.�
���	��

�

�����B�+��!�,���!��(�<��+�����!�
%!���!'��&�������

�����B�+��!�,���!��(�#���������!�
%!���!'��&�������

��"1���'����;�����
�*��������+�

�

��"1���'����
 ��"��(������
�*+�+�

� ���� #'.���*�����'.��� �����''������

���
��-'��

����� �����

� ���� #'.���*�����'.��� �����''������
1� �'��

�

����� �����

� ���� #'.���*�����'.��� �����''������
0��� �'��

����� �����

� ���� #���
�6
��6 ����'.��� �
����''������1� �'��

����� �����

� ���� #���
�6
��6 ����'.��� �
����''������0��� �'��

����� �����

����''�����.�'���'�*�
�� ���� #
���
�6
��6 �����������'�A.
�"��
' ��
���/B��

����� �����

� ���� #
� �����
���
�����
���'�� ����� �����

� ���� #
� �����"�� �����
���'�� ����� �����

� ���� #
� �����'�4
� ��**����'� ����� �����

� ������'��*�����.������6���*���#�
5�
����������

����� �����

1�
�� ����*
��� �����
��'.�
��
��������'��

����� �����

��. ����'����6�
'�#�G��*��  �
��. ����'�

����� �����

��6 ������&��� �� ���� ��
�*� ���,����

���������������������������������������� ����
���� ���
���� ���� �����'��''�''������,���

Page 24



�

���

�

�
C� 
��������5����?����� � ���%���

�
� ������'������0���'��%
�
.�5�'��'��6 �'�������
�"��5�������
�������� ���� �� �������*��
'�

�������
� �����'��.�5���������"���������������#������������	�������
�
.?'����6�
'��.�
5�'��
�5��*
�������:�� ���������
 ������� ���
���"�
"��5�������

��������� 	�
�

-	�� 
�+>��!'�5�!�+�����*1��#A����&�+�
�

� ��������
�������������'������5�  �'
..�
����'�
��������..
���������������������'
.. ���*�
� ���� ������������������5�  �����

����4���'��������.�����*���������?'���"�'���������'�
"���'�
�����
�'.�������� ���� �
� �������
�	��
�

-	�� 
�+>��!'�5�!�+�����*1������'����(�
�

� ������'������0���'��%
�
.����"������"�
�*�"�����'��������*�  �5��������'@�
�

� �/���"��6�
��,���
� �-�9��
�
���,���
� �$�9��
�
���,���
� !�1�
����,���
� ���1�
����,���

�
���������������������
�
.�����������'���
��"������8�
�"��5�6����
�
�����*�
�����������
���
�*
���5����''�'	�
�

-	�� ����5����''�'�5���.
�'�������"��������������.��� �5�
�@�
�

���(�D������8�3

������� ���� ������1�����
8��:��� ���
���
 �*�������!!�+8��
����)��
�������**���
8�� ���
�������
�������*������
���
'��.�
��&�����<���@8�K�
������. �?'�&���8�9����������''�������������
 ������� ���
�8�
� ���
����������
��� �
�*1���!��!'�!�����!'�!�����>+��<8�3�"���������
�5�  ��� ����
�"�!'�����"�!�+8�:�.��� �����

'�����'
 ������ ���
����:��:�'.��� '��

'��
E��!�?�"#��!8�����*��4��
��"�����������1�''����
����+��!��;�����8�:�����*��.�
�����'�:�
6�

�3

������� ���� ���
"���'��
���?*�����"1#���8��
���
����
��%���
� ��
���������
�
���>����!���8�����*��4��
��"�8�:����M��:�
'��
��*!�������%''�����!!��8�����
8�&����'��������������� ���
����������
��� �
�!'(���������!8���*���8�:�� ���H�&����'����1�����
8�� ���
����������
��� �
���!��E�!�+8����������
��1�����
8����������
�����.����
�������F;���(8�>���
*
����1�����
8�� ���
���>���
*
������
���
'��.�
���1��!���+�,��'8����������)�'��
�������1�����
�����**���
8�� ���
����������
��� �
�

-	!� ��!��G�*����&��&��<�
�

� ����
��
�����������6�
'������**���
'��*�������'������*���'���
�
.�3�"�����5�
M8�K�
���
���. �?'�&����A9����������''�������������
 ������� ���
�B����.������'�*�
�8����������
)�'��
�������1�����
�����**���
�A���������3�"� �.����B8�� ����9���'8����������
��
1�����
�A���������
�����.���B������
�*�''�
�)�������*�A� ���
���D��"�
'���B�.
�'������

�.�
�'�5�����.
�"��������6�
'�5��������
�=
�
���6����
�
������5 ����������������
�
=
�'���������*�5����''�'	�

Page 25



�

���

�

�
9�  ���%%������5����
?%�
��������5����?����� �

�
/	�� 
���,��+��"����!��

�
� �����
�
.�������������/���"��6�
��,���5��
�������
����"�����*�
���������������


����

�
�����*�� ���� ����'
�.��������� ���
�������������"� �.������*�����'�
���������
�'.��'��
��������''
���*�� ���� ��6
'�	�%�
��>�  ���8���
 ��1�%����'8�3�"�����5�
�M�����
�
.�
�����������
�������
���'��5�
�.�
������������
�

� ����9�������
�����������'��''�''���������������*����� ���� ��'���.
��
�����
�������
����� ���� �9����������''�������%
�
.�5�'��'��6 �'����5��������*��
.�
����������
��������� ���'���������
�����
�*����'�
���������
�'.��'�7�
�

� � ���� �� ��
 �����������.�
�����. �������������������������2������
.��..
�����
5�'�'�
�������6� �������������������6���*��������'����
�7�

�
� ����
�'�������� �
�����
�
����������������
���*�.�
���� �� ���� ��6
'��5�'�

'����*�����7�
�

� ��.
�"�������''������*�
�������������"���������
������*�"��
�'�5�'�
�=
�
���A���
'��. ��'�
���������� '�6����. ���
'B	�

�
� �����
�
.����� �����������
�'�'�*�
������
�
.�������'���
�5�������� 
������������

�
� 6��5�����,,�L,�������,,/L�,���'.��� �����''���'� ���������� ���� ����'
�.�����

���
��'���6��+�G����� ���
��7�
�

� ���5�'��'��������������$G��*��  ����
������3�.�
����������''���'�5�
��� ���� �

� ����8����'�*��

��
�'�����+,#-,G����5������'7�

�
� ���5�'��'�������������6��5�����8/,,�����(8$,,���� �
������� ���
���5�
���**������

6��'����*������.�
���� �� ���� ���'
'�7
�

�
�

� "�� �����
��������
�����*�
�+,G��*��  �� ���� �
� ������
����
���
���7�
�

� ����'����"�� �����5�'��'����������������
.��,G��*��  �"�� �����
�������� ���
��7��
�

� ���
��5�'������. �4�
� �����'��.�6��5����� ���� ���������� ���� ��������'�������'�
($G��*�'
�����'���
 ��6�� ����������4��''�"���
������7�

�
� � ���� �5�'���5�!!G���
���**�
��6 ������,�,����������/-,7�

�
� ���
�''�"��.
�������.������������6�����
�"���6��'
.�
��
���'������**�'� �'�����

'����� �����
��'���5�� '����#'� �'��������
��'��	����5�����//�����,,-�.

���'�'��*�
5����6
�
���������������������
��'���6��$/G7�

�
� ���
������6��������"�
�  ��
�����*����
��'����'�
������� ���� ���
��������5�
�'�

'�
�����
����
'7�
�

� .
�# �������5�'���'����*�������''
�����������'
���'������������'�5�'���������� �

Page 26



�

�!�

�

�
�����������������������.�����'�"�������	�
�

� �0
�������'�''�������
�6�
��*����������'����
�������������
�
.�5�
 ��*

���
��4. �
��@�
�

� �������������6���*����*�� ���� ���������������������
� ������*
��������*�� ���� ����
��������?'��"����������������������������7�

� �
������������'
..�
��'�'���'7�

� 
����
�''����
�������.
�6 ��'	�
�

� �
.�
�����������
���'��5����� ���������������
�
.���������
��5�
�����
�6�
��*�;��� '<�
�"�� �6 ����������
���
������
�
������� ����'����.
���''	���
���
'�������������5�
���������
��
 ��'����'��*�
�"��5�������'����� '	�;��'����
�����<�5�'���
�'.��'�6 ��
���� ����.� ����
5�������
 ��6��'�
�����������*���� 
����5����������"���������������#�������������. ��	��
�

/	�� 
���+���!'�"����!��
�

� �������'���������������*������
�
.�����.��� �����5������������ �����'8�9����:��6 ��8�
��
�'�����&��� �8�3
�:
������.6�  �����1�
�������  	�����.

.�'���*�������������5�'����
��'�
''�����'
.. �������6
'���*�� ���� ����������**��������������*�
������''������
'�
"���'	�����5�'�
�.�
���������#�
�

� � ���� 8���'��"�� �6� ���������6
'��'��
 ��6���*����������'��.
��
����*�
����������
�

� ��.��� ����.������'�5�
����������
���
7�
�

� '�
"���'�5�
������
���
��������"��
� '�5�������
��'��� �����. �4�����'�������*�
5������6
'���6�����

�'������ ���� 	���������"��
� '�5����������'�����. �4�����'�
5�
�������6��5�����,#$,����
'7�

�
� ����'
.. ���*�'
.�
#'�
������ ���
'���������
'�5�'����� ��������'����������'���
������

*�
������
�
.	�>����''�'�������������������5�'�����
� ������'
.�
#'�
������ ���
'�
��������
'�5�
���"�� �6 ����� �5�
�.
���'�����������'�*���
���'7�

�
� ���������1�''����5�'�.�
���*������.�����5��������  ����������'� ���*�5���������
�

������'���
������
��������������"��
� '�5���5�
��� ���� ���.������	��'���
�'
 ���*�
�������.�����'����5���������
�6
���'�����6����
���"���*
���'� ��� ���
�������
�
6
���'�����=
��� ��*�  �������"������'�� *�'.���7��

�
� �� �
����
�6�
��*���.������������6
'�"��� ���� �
'�
'�5�
��'�������.
���
����
�8�

.�
���
 �
 ��%���
� ��
������7��
�

� ���
��5�'�����'
**�������*
�����������������������
���������*�� ���� ���.�������8��
����.
���''��*�� ���� �����4�*��������5�'�*
�
����5����
�'������.
���
����
��
� �������'���
 ����"����������5����.������'��"�
������
����������� �5�����''
�'��*�
5����
�5� 	�1
�����
��'.���� �'��.
�"�'����5�'�
�=
�
����'�.
���
����
��'�
"���'�
5�
�������6 ���
�*
����������� �5����5����5�'�'�����'���5���'.
����.
�6 ��7�

�
� .
6 ������ ������������.����'�5�
 ����"������**����������� �"� '��*������
�
'�

�
������	���
�

Page 27



�

�$�

�

� ���
�'.��'�����=
�'����'�*
��������
�
.8�5����''�'�
�.�
������������
�

� �������.������������6
'�"���
����
'��������. �4�'���� ���
������'�5����8�

����
�''��8���
 �� �������*

���
�
�'���������6���"��

7�

�
� � ���� �5�'��*��������'������
��
��'���*�
����
�����������
������3�.�
�����'7�

�
� � ���� �'�
"���'�5��������� ����
��'������'�5�
��.��
 ��
�'�

���7�

�
� � ���� ���.��������5�'�����'�����'��� ������
�����������7�

�
� ���
������������6���
����
�����'����6�
��������'�����'��������*�� ���� ��6
'������

��.�������7�
�

� ��'�8��*������  8�� ���� ��
��������'�
"���'�5�
���


��� �������''��������
�
���
��� �������'���� ���
�8����
��5�'�����
����� �2
'����������''�������*�
�� ���� �
'�
"���'7�

�
� � ���
�������������"���� �
���'�
�����
��������
 �

�8���'��'�
�����
����
'�5�
��

���5������������'�����5�
��'
62�����������
"������'8����
��5�'���������*�
���
'�.�
����'�
�����
�������'�
��������������
�'�

�����
 ��6��6����
��.. ����
� '�5��
�7�

�
� ���. ��5������'
����� ���� �5��������������8�5���� �"� '��*����'
�.����������

��
 �� �������������5�
��������������8����.�
���
 �
�.��. ��������"�
�($���������
�������5����'�
"���'�������
������  �������5�'���������
�
�������������
�.���7�

�
� ���
��5�'���
�=
�
����������������
����"� ��������
�''�����.
�6 �����������������

���
�''�5���.��. ��'��
�����
�����������������
���
�������� ���� ���������
�
'�
 �"� '7�

�
� �
����
'�5���5�
����.����������� ���� �5�
��.
����'��'���"���������
��5�'�

�"�������*
����
'�
� ����������
���������������
��
����.
������5�
 ����"�����
�**���7��

�
� '���� ���.
�"������5�'�����2�
���
'���*�� ���� ��6
'�7�

�
� ���
��5�'�������
������ ��������
�=
�
��8��.�
���'�����������6���5�
���*������**����

���������
��
������������������
���� �
��������*���
���.��. ��5�'�������
'��� ���� �
���������������6���=
�..���5�����������5 �����������'��'�*� �7�

�
� �����
 �

���*�����'�
����� �*����������������
���.��. ��5�
����"���.�
��''�������

����"�
���

��������
��
 �
�6�'�'��������'���
 ��6��'���������.��������
�
� �����'��.�
5����� ���� � ���
������
 �� �*�7�

��
� ���
��5�'������'�������
�.���������
���8��  �.��. ���**������6���''
�'��*�� ���� �

�6
'������������6���6 ���������''�'�
"���'�*�
��� .�5����
�=
�
��7�
�

� ���
��5�'����*
'�����
�
���J
���'��*�� ���� ?����5�'���.�
����������.��. ��5�
��
�=
�..���5������*�
�����������''�''�����
��5�� �"� '��*��
������7���

�

Page 28



�

�(�

�

� �''
�'��*������ ���� ��� ���������� ���� ��6
'����������6�������=
��� �����
�''��	��
����������������
� �������'�'�'�
������5�������������6������. �������	�

�
� >����''�'����������������#��

���
� ���
��5�'���
�� �5�  �����''��*�.
�"���
'�������������
�����������
�''�����

.
�6 ��'��*�� ���� ��6
'�7�
�

� '�
��
'8�
�6
'��
�'��
����������'
 �������5�'�
�=
�
����������������.�
�

���
'���������*���5�� ���� ��6
'��������.��������5�'��**���������**�
����
�����
�.���'7�

�
� �������
� ����
��5�'��� �����*�
���
'���������6�
���������

������'�M���*�����

.
�6 ��7�
�

� �����..
����������� �5����� ���� �
� �����.
�6 ��'�����������6���
����"�8�

�'.��'�"������* �4�6 �7�

�
� ��
�
���.�
���
'��.�5�
�������������������������������� ��
�'����������6�
����'�


� �����'��.�5����� ���� 	�
�

/	�� 
�������'�"����!��
�

� ����������
�����������*������
�
.�����.��� �����5������
���  �
�������)�����8������
�����
���	�3

����������'�
''�������5�'�
�.�
���������#��

�
� ���� ����'��������������. �������*��� �����
�
� �8�5�
������������
�5����
���� �
'����

��'

�������.
���'�'�5�
����5������
��
 �����'7�
�

� �


���� ����'�����62����"�'�5�
����5�  �*�
�������������������'

��.��. ��*� ��'�*��
�������������������������7�

�
� �����������������8��������.�'�8�
'���.�5�
'����
�"���� ������'������ �'��.
���'�'	�

���5�'���������������� ����'��'�5���5�
���

�'.��'�6 ��������������5�
��5������

��
 �����'�5�
��6���*�
������
���7�

�
�  ����'����.� ����5�'��..
�"�������������'��*�����*
  ���
��� 8������.� �����������

���*�
������������ �'���
��
���
������7��
�

� � ���
������
��5�'�'������'�
����������� ��� � �"� ����5�'� ������	��
�

� ���
�'.��'�����=
�'����'�*
������6�
'��*������������������5�'�
�.�
������������
�

� ���
��5�
�����������'��"�� �6 ��������� ����'�����
���
�������.
�"��������'� ���*�
'
.�
�'�
������ ���
���������
'	��
������������'���
 ��6����
����������
��'�5����
� ��
��"��������*�
� �����.
�6 ��'7�

� 5����
���
����������
��������*��**#'� �� ������'����� �'��.
�4�������*�
���"�
��
'�
"���'��
�'�
"����*�
�"
 ��
�6 ��.��. �����5�'�������������������� ����'����
�
���
��������������������*��
�6
'��
�
��'�*�
����'
 ������������'

��������  �
'������ ��
'�5�
��������5�
���*��.. �������'��������
� ��� ��
��7���

Page 29



�

�+�

�

� � ���
������ ���'�
"���'�5�
����
�'.��'�6 ���
���
������������� ����'�����
���
����
5�'�
�=
�
���������'
 �8��
6 ���:�� ���5�'������� ����'�����62����"���������
�*�
��
��
 ������*�
������6�'�'��*������62������7�

� �
�
 ���"����.�����
��'�5�
��
�"��5���6���  �.�
���
'�����'���6��������
��� 7��

� �"�������5�������
 ��6��
'������'
..�
���*��
�
 ���"����.�����
��'���� 
�����
����
������'�
��
�*��

�'8����'�����. ����'8���6
 �����'����'���'��������. ����'��������
.� ����������
 ��*

���
���� 
�������������������
 �������'�
��������������"��
��.�����*� �
����
�6�
��*�� ���� �
���� �
'��������
��7�

� �**#'� �'�5�
��������� 
�����'������'���
������*�
��
�
 ���"����.�����
��'	����

� ���� ����'�����
���
����5�'�
��6 �������.�'��6 ���������������'���
�''���������	�
&����'�'�5�
����� �
���*�
�����"��
� �.
���'�'7����
�*�
�������5�
 ��6��
��6 �����
��.�'��'��� ��'� �'��
�'
.�
�'�
��������
�''�����������

�
/	!� 
���,�*����"����!��

�
� �������*�

������������*������
�
.�����.��� �����5����� ����9���'8���
����?&��
������

���.������'�*�
�	��3

�������������������5�'�
�.�
���������#��

� ���
��5�'���'����*������.
�.�
������*���������?'���. ���������������"���������������#
������������8��� �
���.�
���*�������. �������5�'�.�
������7�

� � ���
��'������5�'����.�
���"� �� �
���5����(,G��*��������������������������
�7�

� �����
�5����*����������5�'�.�'���"����������
� ���*�������������. �����������
'��
 ������6��
���
�'�������7�

� ���
��5�'�'��.��*�
���
��6
'���''�'�������������6
���4��� ��5����������*�6
'���''�
����5��
�������5�
�� �����������������6����
�*
  ��. �����7�

� ��"�
'�*���������*����������5�
 ��6����' �5��������5�������
 ��6�������"���
��
�
�������. ����������� ����'����.
���''	�����������5�
 ����������6��������
'�
�����*������ ���
���� ��7���

� ���
��5�'���
� ��*�
�����'�
"�������
'�
���'���6�''���
'�*�
���������8�����
��5�'���
.
�2������#�����������.
�"�� �"� '��*��
'����
�'�
"�������.
���'�'����������������
����	��

� �������������������
������
�'��
 ��6���..������	�����.�'��5�
 ����'

�������
�����5�'���
����������
�5����*�����������������
��5�'���"�'��������
�������
��
2�6'7���

� ��'��.�������
�����������'���
�6�������*�
������

. ��0 ������
����������5�'�6�����
��"� �.��	�������

. ��0 ������
����������*��
'������*�"����
��'�����
�'8���� ��
�
�"�������6�'���'�
�����8������'�����
�'��*�5�  6����8�'�*��������'����"�����8���
��������*� ��'

������"����'�������
'���*�. ������
�
���
���������������"�����7��

� .�
��.����'��*�����5���
*
���8�.�
���
 �
 ��6������ ����'��������5���
*
���8��������
���6���������7�

�  �''�������,G���*� ����'���.
���'�'�5�
��'������
.����J��'����
�����?�'�����	��
���'�
�* �����������.
6 ����'���
�''����������5�
��'������
.�����
 ��. ��
�'.��'�6 ��

���� ����'�����'��������
��5�'����'��� �����'�'�����'�������.. ������
�''���������7��

� �����5�  #�������������5��5�
 ��'�����
��.��. ���
������� �''	�����
��5�'������
������
��'������6
�������*�����������**�
	��

Page 30



�

�-�

�

�
/	$� 
���,�,���"����!��

�
� ����.��� �����*�
���*�*��������������'���
�������*�
����������������
�"��5����"�
�����

.
�������������'�������"� �.�
�������������'�5������
���
� �����6� �5	��
�

�.� ����;�������
�

� ���
�"��5�����  ��*������"�������������� �'�����  ��*����������.
�"����������
�
.�������*������
�
�6�
��*�.����'��*������
�'@�
�

�,	�� ;��>��,�+1������+��1��&�+��!�
�
���� �����*�'.���� �'��.
�"�'����*�
���.������������6
'�"���
����
'�5�'��*������
���������
�
�
.	��1��6�
'�5�
���� ���������.�������� ���� ��'�����6�������5���������5�� '��
5�������*�
�'.���� �'��� ���� ��
�������	�������
�
.�*� ����������'�'��
������5�'�����*��'�6 ��
����

��������'���
����������������6����"���������������''��������*�'.���� �'����
��������
'�
"���'�*�
����'��5���
�=
�
�����	�
�

�,	�� ;���!+�!��
�

�,	�	�� ���� ����'�����
���
������'������.�
�����
� �����. ������'
..�
�����������
�������� ���� �
� �����������"����'��62����"�'	�:�"������������������'���
����������"��5'��*���"�����
5����''�'������
�
.�5�'��*������.��������������
��5�
���
��'����5��������� ����'����
�
���
������
 ����.
�"������
����������*�
� �"���� ����'�����.. �������'�������.
�"������

�
��'�*�
����'��5���5�'����������������6���6 ��������'�	�
�

�,	�	�� ���5�'����� ��������������.��� ���������� ����'�����
���
�����������
�6�
��*�;��� '<��"�� �6 ��
5�����
������� ������'	�������
�
.���"��
�=
�'����������� ����'������� �����'�������"�� �6 ��
����  ���
���  �
'�'������������''�'�� ��� �
�'�����'�5�������5�'�����'
..�
���
��62�������
 ����'�����62����"�'	��
�

�,	�	�� ��������.�������*�������'������*���'���
�
.�������
��� �'��
 �����'���
� �66�������"�
������
�����'

�����������.
����������*�.
6 ������ ����'���� 
�����'��� ����'�����62����"����������
�


����%�"�
������'��������������
��.
�������'����  ����	�
�

�,	!� ��,������������������!��
�

� �����
�
.�
����"�����*�
��������������:�����**����
������'���J��'����
�����?�'������
5�����.
�����'�'�*�
�
���� ����.
������'�5���������� ����'����
���	��3

��������5����''�
'�''���'�����.��� �5�
����*�
���������� ���
�������'������5�'������.
����������5�'�����
�*������'�����'������.
6 ����'�����6�����'��������������5��������5�'����������������
'�����'�'
����'�.
6������ 
6�5����	�������
�
.���"�������
�������������'�������
�����.�����'�
������������.
���������*�J��'����
�����?	�
�

�,	$� �,,=����+�
�

�,	$	�� �*��
���������5����
�.
�'������"�'�*
����������������1�''��������:����M��:�
'������
�
�
.����� �������������**#'� �'��*�'
.�
�'�
����������
'����� ���
'�5�
������
'��*�
�
�����
�	��
�

Page 31



�

�/�

�

�,	$	�� �*����'� ������.�
������6��� ���5���
8��
.�
�'�
����������
����� ���
�A��.���  �����+	$G�
��C��
��6�"�B���'���.�
���
 �
 ������������**�������������� �������6���"��

��*�
���'
��
'	������**�
��6� ���������"�� �6� �����*�'
.�
�'�
�������
���'�� '������'������
���
����"�����
���
#�����
����
'�5�������'���
�6 ������������
�'�'8��'�������
���6 ���������
"�
���

��8�"�
������. ������"�
��=
��� �	�
�

�,	$	�� ����
��
���������'�
���������.���������.'5������'���5�6����

������*�
�'�4������'�����
��'�'����
��
�����'��*�'�
�����
�������
� �������������'	��������.������'�'��**# �������
�5��
'����"� 
���
� ��
���"��'
.�
#'�
������.
��
��'�*
�������
�'��
�'������
�
���-$G�
�*���������**# �������.
���'�'����������5����"����������������������	�������
�
.�5�  �
�����
�������������'����������� �������5�  6�����6��
��������'���
� ���������'�������*�
���'����

�	�

� �
�,	(� ��&��+�,������!��,�����!�������"�����!�"(�

�
�����
�
.����
������������"�����������������������������5�'�6������������
� �'������
��5�'����������'���
�''�����DE	��1��6�
'�6� ��"��������������"�
'�*���������*�� ���
��?'�
�������������������'��
 ��6��������*�����'�������'�
������������ ���
���� ��	�1�����*�
� ���
��?'�����M��'��
���4� 
����*
������������������������������.��
 ��
�.
�'������
5������ ��������������
����������
��'	�����
����"�
'���������������������5�
 ���''�'�����

��
��������'���4�
���'�������
 �����
������5���
�
������*�"�'���
'����� ���
��������
����
�������������'

�����������������
���*�����������'�J� �"���*��
�*�"�?�������� 
��'����'��
5���*�� ��4� 
����*
���� ���� #�
�"�������
�������������"����'	��
�

�,	+� 
��������������������� ��!�
�

�,	+	�� 1��6�
'�5�
���*������.���������������
'���*������
 ��#���.���������� ����
��
�������
.
�"������
��5�'��..
�.
����	�����. ���'���'������� �����
��
�������� ���� ����'
�.�����
6
��� '��� ���� �
� �����"�� �������������#'���� �6���"��

8����
�''�'��������������
�����
��
���.��. �������4.
�''�'����������*�
������.
�"��� ��� ��
��������'�'���	��
�

�,	+	�� ����,,/�����3�.�
�������*�:�� ���������*����'�"���J:������.����������'?�A:��'B�*�
�
� ���� �5�����5�
 ����"�������
����'����.���������� ���#��
�

�	 >�
�����.�
���
'��.�
�	 3�"� �.�����"����'��������
� �������.�����*�� ���� ���'
'�������������
������
�	 ��* 
�������
�
�����"������
!	 �**����"���''�������.�������*�'.���� �'���
��������
$	 �..����������*�� ���� ���� ���5�
��
�
(	 ������*������������6
��*���"����A.
��������
���� .���������

����.��. ������
����

 �''�
+	 ��. �*��������� �'���� ���
�������.
��
����'�

�
�,	+	�� 1��6�
'�6� ��"�������������
�������� ���� �� ���'��
�'�������
�''�'�����*����'���
��'	��

�.���*���  ������. ������
�

� ����6������"� �.������.�
���
'��.	�:�5�"�
�.�
���
'��.�5�
���������*��
'������
����J"�� �������������"����?����������'

������. ���5�'���'
���''���5���
�
������*�
'������ ��
'8�.�
���
 �
 �����'�������
����5���������
�5���������8�����������6��
�������7�

� �4.
�''�'�����
�=
�
�����������"� �.���.�����������������
����8�.�
���
 �
 ��

Page 32



�

�,�

�

����
���������4�*��������'�
"���'7�

� ���� ����'��������* 
�������
�
�����"�������'������
��	�:�5�"�
����6�
'�6� ��"���
���������. ���
�=
�
������������.
�*� �� ����
'��.��*�����'��6 �'����.�
���
'��.����
�
��
������"�������������A*�
��4��. ������'
.. ���*�����.�'�
����� ���� B7�

� ����'�
�������������'������. ��������� ��
�.���5����*������
�����'
..�
������
'.���� �'���
�������8������
�
.����
�������'.���� �'��� ���� ��
��������'�
"���'����
��������� ������'����*������*
����������6� ��"�������'��.'�����������6�����������
���
�''����'7�

� ������*��'�����'���'�5��
���..�
�
�����'�*�
���
 ������
"��������4�'�����.
�"���������
6�*�
�����6�����'���
����'� ������
���	�����.�
���
 �
�����. ������� ����'�5��
��
��"�'���������������*��������������"�������� �������'����*������'�"���'����������� ���
�������	��1��6�
'����� ��������������
��5�
�����������������. �������������*��
5��
������
�'�"���'���
 ��6��������������5���
���������'
����'�'�����''��6'�����
 �"� '7�

� 5����������. ���'���� �������
������
��������
��
�*�

�������'����������.����������8�
���6�
'�6� ��"���������
�
���'�
���� ��� � ����
'��.�������� �'���� ���
�������
.
��
����'���
 ��6����� �
���������. �*����*�
����� ��� �.�.
 �����	�

�
��� ��������!������+*�,����

�
��	�� ����*��
'��*����'���'������*���'���
�
.�5�'����
�"��5�����'�
�������� ���� �. ���������'�
� ��

�����������������"�6
�����"����������������������������	�������������5����5����''�'�����

�"��5������*�
�������.
�"����8������
�
.�*�
������������������� ��'�
�����������'

*����
�*�����''
��5�������
 ���**�����"�
�����6�
��*��

�'������8�'�������'�"�
������ �*��
���������5��'	�������
�
.�5�'��*������.�����������*

���
�'�

�����5�
��5�
 ����������6��

���
���������
� ���������� ���� �����5�
 ����������*��
'����#��

� �
� � ���� ���������� ���� ��8�����.�
���
 �
�5�
�������. ����������3
� �3�����'�'�

��
������
� � ���� ����
�������������
� &�''��*�.
��
���"��������.
�*���6� �����������5�
��. �����
������ ���� �
� 0

���
�5�
�����������.�����*�� ���� ������� �
�������*��� ��'�
� ��
������8�*��
'�������� ��
���''���'�
���
��������'
�.���������
���'�
� � ���� �
� �����"�� �������������'�����6
'��

�
�	� �%����%���
�����

�
��	�� ����6� �5�
�������������'8�5�
����
����6�������
�
.����6��'
6���������������"�
"��5�

������

�����1�������������
��*�
�
�*�

� ������6����	�
�

��� ������'������*���'���
�
.��
�������
�������5�����������'8��62����"�'�����
�����������
������'��*�������
�������� ���� �� �������
��������'���'����.�����������. �����������6��
�����������
��� 	���
�

� 0�
�����. ������6����'
���''�'�
�����
 �������������������5���� ����
'��.��'�
�=
�
��������'����������
��. ����������8����'
..�
�����'�������'������*���'���
�
.���"�����������*�  �5����'.���*���

�������������'���
�

�	� ���������:�� �������>�  6��������
��������5��
'��.��*�����. ����'�������������� �"�
���*�

Page 33



�

���

�

����
�"�'�����*�;:�..�8�:�� ���8��'.�
��������
�����'<���������"�'����*�
�� ���
������6��
;�����*��

�.�?'�*���'�8���'��"�6
����5���
*
���������'�5��
������
�'��������=
� �����*� �*��
�'���2�����6���"�
����?7�
� �

��� ���������������������'�
�����8��'�������'�
�����*������ ���
���� ��8�'��
 ��6����"� �.��	��
����'�
������'��
 ��'����
����� ��
�"�'����*�
�����*
�

�8��
�������*�
��. ��*�
��*�
�
��.
�"���.�
���
'��.�5�
���������'��

��*
����������������'�*�
���.
�"�������*�����
"�
��
'��������������������'���
�''���������	������.
�"��������*�� ���� �
� �����.
�6 ��'�
'��
 ��6�����������'���
���������������"� �.������*�����'�
�����7�
�

�$� ����"���������������#�������������A����B�������
�'��
 ��6���..��������'�'�����'�
.�''�6 �����'
..�
�������"���������������#�������������������"� �.������*����������
'�
�����7�
� �

�:� ����� ���
���6
'���''���.
�"��������'�
���'�'��
 ��
�"��5�������. �����������.
�������
*
�������
������'�5����
���**����"�����5�
�����5��������.
�"����'����
����*
���
��.
�"�����'��������
�����'�*���7�
�

�7� '.���*������'

�'������.
�"������=
� ����������"�
'�����*������������������������'��
 ��6��
��. �������	����'��'��
 ����� 
��@�

�
• 5�
������6��������

. ��0 ���
• ���������6�
�'��**��
�������
• � ������
�����������"����'�������
����=
� ����6
'���''�'�
• ��.
�"���.
���������*�����
������*�����"����'��"�� �6 �����������5����������

�����
• ���#� ���� � �����"���'�.
��
����'�

�
�/� *

���
�.
���������'�
���
������5����
���
���������;��'����
�����<������������

.�
����.�������������'�����7�
� �

�C� ����..
����������.
�"����'�*�
�
���� ����.
������'��'��������'� ��� ���� �����**� �������
.
���'�'�'��
 ��6����"� �.�����������'���
������'��
 ��6����"������.������� ���������"�'�
'
����'�����'
.�
#'�
������*
���.
��
���������.'5���7�
�

�9� ���� ����'�����
���
����'��
 ���
�5���������.
������'�*
�������. ���������.�
���������
��'

��������  ��.. �������'�*�
�� ���� � ����'�'��
��.
�.�
 ����"�
��'����������.
6 �������
'������ ��
'7�
�

��.� ���� ����'�����
���
����'��
 ��
�"��5���������
����������*� ��������.. �������'����

�'.��'�6 ���
���
����'�A)�'B�������'

��������  �)�'��
���5�
���*��.. �������'�������"��

�6
'��
�
��'����������������.. �������'7�
�

���� ���� ����'�����
���
����'��
 ����"� �.��� ����'����;��� ����<�*�
���
���  �
'������'

�������
�  ����6�
'���"����� ��
�
���
'���������*�����.� ����*�
������
��������*��.. �������'�����
���������'�����������'��"�� �6 ��������� ����'�����
���
���7�
�

��	� ����:�� �������>�  6��������
��'��
 �����
������������..
������������
���������
� ���� �����'���
�''������.�
���
'��.'7�

Page 34



�

���

�

�
���� ������� �
��?'�.�
���
'��.�'��
 ����'

��������.
���
�8�'������
�8�*

���
����������
�

��
��������'��6 �'�����'���. �����������
���������..
�����*�
���
������� ���� �
� �����
��*�
������������
������������
���.��. �7�

�
��$� �  ��
'����
�*������.
6 ���'�
"���'�'��
 ��6���=
�..������������*��� ���� ���'
'������6��

�6 �����'���.�'�����'��������*��������..
�.
�����'�
"���'8����.
��
������*�������*��������
����6
��*���"����'��
 ��6���'��6 �'���7�

�
��:� ������
��'�����'.���� �'�8�'�

��

�������
"������'�*�
���.��������
����
'��
'��6��

�����''�����	�����'������
"������'��
'��6��'
..�
����6�� ���'��������6
����
�
������*�
'�
"���'�����''�
�����'
..�
��
���"�
��'
����'���
'���8���
�������������. �������
'�
"���'7�
�

��7� �����6�*�
����. ������������*�����. �����'�'�����*���������
'�������'

������'
���''�����
�"� 
������5�'�
"���'��'���"� �.��	��
�

�
�

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 

May 2013 
 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Business Rates – Discretionary Rates Relief 
 
Committee:    Cabinet  

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillors Penberthy and Lowry 

CMT Member:   Adam Broome (Director for Corporate Services) 

Author: Martine Collins (Strategic Manager Revenues and Benefits) 

Contact:    Tel:  01752 304118 
    email: martine.collins@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:     

Key Decision: Yes  
 
Part: I  
   
 
Purpose of the report:  
To review the Council’s current approach to granting discretionary business rate relief in order to 
identify resources to promote growth in the local economy. New government legislation enables us 
to support a wider range of organisations in terms of rates relief, however, changes in the way that 
central government funding is allocated means that local authorities have to contribute a greater 
proportion of their revenue budget when approving such relief. 
  
This report recommends an interim review for 2013/14 to ensure that the relief given provides the 
greatest benefit to the businesses and residents of Plymouth. 
 
This Report has been considered by the Co-operative Scrutiny Board on 24 July 2013 and they 
recommended a minor alteration to 4.1. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 - 2016/17:   
Supporting organisations to thrive and deliver benefit to the local economy under-pins the corporate 
priority of growth. The wider business rate, council tax benefit and housing benefits service 
significantly contributes to the Inequalities Agenda ensuring that the most vulnerable residents of 
Plymouth receive the appropriate benefit entitlement.   
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
Changes to funding regulations, which came into effect on 1 April 2013, mean that local councils now 
take on far greater responsibility for the generation and collection of local business rates. Such 
income is now directly part of the Council’s core revenue funding. Any policy changes regarding 
business rate relief needs to be considered alongside Plymouth being part of a wider Devon-wide 
business rate pool and hence the income collection rate impact on other authorities.   
 
   
 

Agenda Item 6Page 37



 

May 2013 
 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety, Risk 
Management: 
Supporting voluntary and non-profit making organisations to help deliver city and council priorities is 
crucial. As is the need to encourage and support local business start-up and expansion in helping 
grow the local economy. 
 
  
Recommendations & Reasons for recommended action: 
 

1. Create a ‘ring-fenced’ funding pot to provide time limited rate relief to a wider range of 
businesses that can demonstrate that they provide significant economic benefit to Plymouth 
(utilising new government legislation that came into effect in April 2013); 
 

2. Review the appropriateness of discretionary business rate relief provided to individual 
charities and non-profit-making organisations for 2013/14, ascertaining the contribution that 
each organisation makes to the city and its residents; 
 

3. Adopt the principle that all organisations should contribute something towards the cost of 
their business rates in line with the newly adopted Council Tax Support scheme that requires 
all residents to contribute at least 25% towards their Council Tax bill (regardless of 
circumstances) 
 

4. As a general principle, cap the total value of discretionary rates relief given to any single 
organisation to 75% of the relief provided by the council in 2012/13; 
 

5. Remove existing ‘hardship’ relief provided unless supported by a clear business case 
evidencing how an organisation supports the local economy;  
 

6. Conduct a wider review for Cabinet consideration, providing a clear strategy for joining up all 
financial support and assistance provided by the council to all non-profit making and profit 
making organisations. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As this is a discretionary area of policy, we can ‘do nothing’. However, there would be insufficient 
funding to support any new claims for business rate relief in the city. Under new government 
legislation, there could be a number of businesses that will require the support of the council in order 
to generate additional, or protect, jobs in the city. 
 
Published work / information: 
None  
 

Background papers:  
None 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin djn1

314.
03 

Leg 1809
0/D
VS 

Mon 
Off 

1809
0/D
VS 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member Malcolm Coe 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes 

 

Page 38



 

May 2013 
 

1 Introduction 

 
1.1 Under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, local authorities have 

discretionary powers to grant Business Rates Relief on properties occupied by charities and 
other non-profit making organisations.  

 
1.2 Registered charities are entitled to mandatory relief from rates on any non-domestic property 

that is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. Registered Community Amateur Sports 
Clubs (CASC) are also entitled to mandatory relief from rates on any non-domestic property 
that is wholly or mainly used for the purposes of that club. Mandatory relief provides 80% of 
the total business rates costs. The Council can use discretionary powers to award further 
rates relief up to the full 100% on the remaining bill i.e. 20 per cent discretionary top up.  

 
1.3  There are approximately 500 registered charities and CASCs across Plymouth that claim 

mandatory rate relief, with an annual financial value of circa £8.5m. With effect from 1 April 
2013, local authorities are responsible for funding 50% of mandatory relief, (previously 100% 
funded by central government), which is built within our overall base budget for 2013/14. Out 
of the 500 organisations, Plymouth City Council provides the additional 20% discretionary 
top up relief to only 9.   

 
1.4 As well as the current Discretionary Rate Relief, (DRR), Scheme, the Council also has a 

discretionary power to grant up to 100% relief to ratepayers who are experiencing hardship. 
The ratepayer must satisfy the Council that they are suffering hardship on a temporary basis 
and that any closure of their business will have a substantial impact, either social or economic, 
on its employees or residents living in the community.  

 
1.5 Although the Council applies a clear criteria and scoring matrix to substantiate the level of 

discretionary relief provided, there are a number of legacy organisations that have not been 
robustly challenged against this criteria for a number of years. 

 
1.6 The cost of granting discretionary relief has always been shared between Government and 

the Council based on the type of relief granted. Figure 1 is the funding split prior to 1 April 
2013:  
Figure 1 Funding apportionment of rates relief up until 31 March 2013 

Type Type of relief Amount of 
relief 

Funded by 

Government 

Funded by 

Plymouth 

Charities and  

Community Amateur 
Sports Club (CASC) 

Mandatory  

Discretionary 

80% 

Up to 20% 

100% 

25% 

0% 

75% 

Other Non-profit 
making organisations 

Discretionary  Up to 100%  75% 25% 

Hardship Discretionary Up to 100% 75% 25% 

Page 39



 

May 2013 
 

 

2 Rationale for Change 
 
2.1 With the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 and Business Rates Retention Scheme 2013,  

there is a need to review the current policy in relation to Discretionary Rates Relief, (DRR), 
and Hardship due to the change in apportionment of what the government funds and the 
flexibility to support more organisations. The Council is now liable to fund 50% of DRR 
whereas previously this was only 25% 

 
2.2  DRR is the most widely applied award and the changes to funding would raise the Council’s 

costs from £224k in in 2012/13 to £508k in 2013/14 based on previous years’ awards and 
existing applications if we were not to change existing practice.  

 
2.3  The changing and evolving priorities of the Council, along with continued pressure on budgets 

and the current economic climate, means that a fundamental review of the current policy is 
required moving into 2014/15 and beyond. 

 
2.4 Organisations are required, by legislation, to be given 12 months’ notice of any change to 

existing rate relief arrangements provided by the Council. As per standard practice, all 
organisations receiving rate relief were notified of a pending review by PCC in January 2013. 
In March 2013, all organisations received their full Business Rate invoice for 2013/14 with a 
further notification that the Council are reviewing current relief arrangements in line with 
changes in government funding arrangements.  

 
2.5  As part of the consultation process in setting the 2013/14 revenue budget, voluntary and third 

sector organisations were informed of pending changes to the way in which PCC are to 
allocate discretionary rate relief  at a well-populated meeting in the Council Chamber in 
January 2013. Revenues and Benefits staff have subsequently held many discussions with 
individual organisations explaining the process and proactively agreeing acceptable payment 
plans.  

 
2.6   Our National Non Domestic Rate return that has been submitted to government for 2013/14 

reflects the level of rate relief provided by the Council as at February 2013. As such, there is 
no immediate need to enact changes to the current policy on financial grounds.  However, 
with the Council’s priority to support growth in the local economy, additional funding 
will be needed to support a wider range of businesses that provide significant economic 
benefit to the City protecting, and creating, jobs in the local area. 

 
2.7  Any changes made by the Council will need to give due regard to the Devon-wide Business 

Rate Retention pool, as material inconsistencies in discretionary relief given by an individual 
authority will have a direct impact on the total revenue collectable and apportioned across 
the whole pool.  

 
 
 

Page 40



 

May 2013 
 

2.8  Government regulations and confirmation of funding contributions were only notified to local 
authorities in March 2013.  Significant changes continue to filter out, for example in April 2013 
we were notified that the Council’s future contribution for mandatory rate relief has 
increased from 0% to 50%.  Figure 2 summaries the respective funding contribution levels of 
the Council and government for 2013/14 (to be compared with figure 1): 

 
Figure 2 Funding apportionment of rates relief for 2013/14 financial year 
 

Type Type of relief Amount of 
relief 

Funded by 

Government 

Funded by 

PCC 

Charities and 
Community 
Amateur Sports 
Clubs (CASC) 

Mandatory  

Discretionary Top-
Up 

80% 

20% 
(recommending 
capping at 10%) 

50% 

50% 

50% 

50% 

Non-profit making 
organisations 

Discretionary Rate 
Relief 

Up to 100% 
(recommended 
capping at 75%) 

 

50% 50% 

Hardship Discretionary Up to 100% 
(recommended 
capping at 75%) 

50% 50% 

 
 
2.9   All changes point to the need for the Council to be more stringent around the level of 

business rate relief provided and the benefit that individual organisations receiving relief can 
contribute to the City’s priorities. 

 
2.10  In April 2013, the Council adopted a new local Council Tax Support scheme, having to 

passport a reduction in benefit funding directly to the Council Tax payers of Plymouth. This 
change resulted in approximately 16,000 households having to pay more Council Tax than 
under the previous national framework. All Plymouth residents now have to pay a minimum 
contribution of 25% towards their Council Tax regardless of circumstances. There is a logical 
argument to support that all businesses should do the same as, ultimately, any business rate 
relief provided by the Council has to be funded through the local Council Tax payer. 

 
2.11  Benchmarking with other Local Authorities has determined that many are reviewing their 

policies this year with much confusion around the regulations and funding. Initial analysis 
demonstrates that the current Plymouth arrangements are more favourable than most, with 
some not providing any discretionary relief at all (Appendix A) 

 
 
3 The Proposed Approach for 2013/14 and beyond  

 
3.1 Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 enables local authorities to grant local rate relief, or 

discount, to a much wider range of organisations.    

Page 41



 

May 2013 
 

 
3.2 However, the cost of providing local discounts to commercial businesses will fall entirely on 

to the Council who would be required to bear 100% cost of any reduction in rates given. 
This new discretionary power to offer business rate discounts to any ratepayer is effective 
from 1st April 2013.  

 
3.3 There is currently no policy or provision available by the Council for delivering a local 

relief/discount and consideration of introducing this would need to include: 
 

• supporting the Council priorities; 
• identification of funding; 
• application and award process and  
• consideration of the wider Devon Business Rates Pool for which Plymouth is the lead 

authority. 
 
3.4 As Business Rates now forms part of the Council’s core funding, any award of business rates, 

whether this be DRR or a local relief/ discount, will reduce overall revenue income for the 
Council.  Each policy must therefore consider its impact on the Rates Retention Scheme, 
Plymouth’s growth agenda and the Devon Business Rates Pool.  

 
3.5  Supporting local businesses to remain, and grow, in the City is at the heart of the Council’s 

priorities. As such: 
It is recommended that we create a ‘ring-fenced’ funding pot to provide rate relief to a wider range of 
businesses that can demonstrate that they provide significant economic benefit to Plymouth.  

 
3.6 The current DRR policy for non- profit organisations and charities has been in place for a 

number of years.  To ensure that it remains fit for purpose, and aligns to Council priorities: 
  It is recommended that we review the appropriateness of discretionary business rate relief provided to 

individual charities and non-profit-making organisations for 2013/14, ascertaining the contribution 
that each organisation makes to the city and its residents.  

  
3.7  To promote consistency with the requirement for every Plymouth resident having to 

contribute at least 25% towards the cost of their Council Tax: 
It is recommended that all organisations should contribute something towards the cost of their 
business rates in line with the newly adopted Council Tax Support scheme.  

 
3.8  To create funding to support a wider range of organisations that provide the maximise benefit 

to the City: 
  It is recommended that, as a general principle, the total value of discretionary rates relief given to any 

single organisation is capped at 75% of the relief provided by the council in 2012/13; 
 
It is recommended that existing ‘hardship’ relief is removed unless supported by a clear business case 
evidencing how an organisation supports the local economy 

 
3.9 Through enacting the recommendations in this report, funding of approximately £250k will be 

ear-marked for providing rate relief support to more organisations across the city  that 
provide a greater contribution to the local economy. 

 

Page 42



 

May 2013 
 

3.10  One year’s notice is required at the start of a financial year to change/remove discretionary 
rates relief for existing awards.  Any award given in the 2013/14 financial year will not be able 
to be removed or changed until April 2015/16.  However this will not affect new applications 
received from 2014/15 that will be subject to the new/revised policy introduced from this 
date. 

 
3.11  Moving forward, the DRR policy will need to align itself to the work being undertaken 

through the Community and Voluntary Sector Policy ensuring that Plymouth achieves added 
value for any rates relief given to charities and voluntary organisations. 

 
3.12 Future policies for both DRR and Local discount/relief will need to deliver a corporate 

approach to provide consistency of decision making, and take into account other grants and 
funding support given.  It is intended to adopt a more thorough, integrated relief scheme in 
2014/15 with the relevant 12 month notice period provided to all organisations that are 
affected. The potential introduction of SLA’s will ensure Plymouth residents gain real value in 
exchange for any relief granted. 

 
3.13 The Council has put together a Business Rates Growth Steering Group, which consists of 

Finance, Economic Development and Revenues and Benefits Managers. The objectives of the 
group include: 

• Fully review the current Discretionary Rates Relief Policy and develop a policy for Local 
relief/discount that meets the future needs of the Council 

• Consider the implications of specific policies and how they can encourage economic 
development 

• Consider other appropriate funding streams to offer the correct incentive by taking a 
corporate view 

• Make recommendations for change taking into account that Business Rates are part of the 
Council core funding and therefore raise Council funds for the delivery of services.  

 
  
4. Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
  
4.1 Create a ‘ring-fenced’ funding pot to provide time limited rate relief to a wider range of 

businesses that can demonstrate that they provide significant economic benefit to Plymouth 
(utilising new government legislation that came into effect in April 2013); 

  
4.2 Review the appropriateness of discretionary business rate relief provided to individual 

charities and non-profit-making organisations for 2013/14, ascertaining the contribution  that 
each organisation makes to the city and its residents; 

  
4.3 Adopt the principle that all organisations should contribute something towards the cost of 
 their business rates in line with the newly adopted Council Tax Support scheme that 
 requires all residents to contribute at least 25% towards their Council Tax bill (regardless 
 of circumstances); 
  
4.4 As a general principle, cap the total value of discretionary rates relief given to any single 
 organisation to 75% of the relief provided by the council in 2012/13; 

Page 43



 

May 2013 
 

  
4.5 Remove existing ‘hardship’ relief provided unless supported by a clear business case 
 evidencing how an organisation supports the local economy;  
  
 
  
  
 
 

 

 

Page 44



 

May 2013 
 

Appendix A - Benchmarking 
Plymouth has begun benchmarking to determine what other authorities are doing in response to the 
localism agenda.  A sample of these responses are attached: 

 

Plymouth City Council 

Initial review undertaken to tighten scheme and level of award for 2013/14.  A full review is to be 
undertaken during 2013/14 and a Business Rates Growth Steering Group set up to consider: 

• Current policy and whether it meets the needs of the Council 

• Implications of policy and how it can support the wider growth agenda 

• Recommendations for change giving consideration to the wider Devon Business Rates 
Pool 

 

Exeter: 

No hardship policy is in place.  Unless the company is unique to the City, no award is given. 

No DRR policy is in place.  All requests are submitted as a supporting documentation package, 
explaining the organisations aims and objectives the background how long they have been trading 
along with accounts. This information is then passed to their director of finance who looks at the 
application form with a councillor to make a decision, usually the application is refused. There is no 
appeal process and no scoring mechanism. The decision is based on the paper work they submit. 
 
Torbay: 
No change to the current policy. However, submitted a report to members to tighten up the 
amounts issued.  Policy includes: 
 
Provision of financial records   / memorandum and letter of application 
 
Top up for registered charities and CASCs only – for maximum of 2 years 
 
Non-profit Company – Over £500.00 relief awarded - review every 2 yrs. 
    Under £500.00 relief awarded – review every year 
 
 
East Devon District Council: 
Have recently reviewed their policy, under Localism, which includes the following: 

• Anticipates that relief will only be granted in exceptional circumstances; 
• Will ensure that all ratepayers making application for this discretionary rate relief are 

treated in a fair, consistent and equal manner. 
• That relief is for a temporary period 

Considers:  
• the significance of potential loss of employment in the area  
• The measurable impact on other businesses & the local community 
• Opportunities for new business growth, expansion and employment within the area 
• Uniqueness of service/commodity being provided within the community/district 

 
Delegated authority is given to the Head of Finance in consultation with the Portfolio Holders for 
Finance and Economy (if available) for deciding applications for rate relief. 

Page 45



 

May 2013 
 

Teignbridge:  

Policy has been updated. If the criteria is met they may award up to 100%. Also applies to Top-up. 
The criteria and policy are reviewed every 5 years. 
 

Cornwall City Council  

No hardship policy 

DRR was going to be revoked on 1 April 13, in order to review their policy, however as they are still 
unsure of the cost to council, a decision has been made not to remove the relief this year, and to 
look into the policy in more detail.  They currently have 2000 cases outstanding. 

Award levels: 

Up to 15% for charities  

Up to 80% for youth organisations 

 

Bristol City Council  

Has suspended awarding DRR for 2013/14 whilst they undertake a review of their current policy. 

 

Southampton City Council  

No hardship policy, they do not grant hardship as no business is unique to the City. 

A DRR policy is in place but now under review.  A submission was made to review their current 
policy but due to the lack of clarity around the funding this has been put off until 2014/15.  

Award levels: 

• 75% relief where a club is run on a voluntary basis  

• 50% where the club is run using paid staff 

• No top up relief is awarded 

 

Liverpool  

The most they would give is 20 per cent rates relief top up to existing charities.  

Enfield  

Have a policy in place but the relief is not very often awarded as have strict criteria. 

Doncaster  

No final decision as to whether a policy will be put in place. However, pre-empting this they have 
sent an application form out to customers.  

Barking  

They have a policy which is very old (2004) and it is not given freely – organisations have to meet 
strict criteria. 

Wiltshire  

Currently reviewing their policy. 
 
 

Page 46



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Finance – Capital  !" Revenue Monitoring Report  

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry 

CMT Member:   CMT 

Author: John Bougeard, Group Accountant 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 304421 
    email: John.Bougeard@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    fin/JB001 

Key Decision: No  
 
Part: I    
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
This report is the first quarterly monitoring report for 2013/14 and outlines the finance monitoring 
position of the Council as at the end of June 2013. 
 
The primary purpose of this report is to detail show how the Council is delivering against its financial 
measures using its capital and revenue resources, and to approve relevant budget variations and 
virements, and the approval of new schemes to the capital programme. 
 
The estimated revenue overspend is £1.892m in this quarter. The current estimated position shows 
an overspend of £1.319m in the People Directoriate and an overspend of £0.573m in the Place 
Directoriate.  This equates to a net spend of £214.452m against a budget of £212.560m, which is a 
variance of 0.9%, although officers and members are working on actions to deliver a balanced 
outturn.  
 
The latest capital programme covering 2013/14 to 2015/16 stood at £122.670m which was approved 
at Cabinet on 21 May 2013 (£129.477m including Tamar Bridge & Torpoint Ferry). Following the 
approval of new schemes identified in this report, re-profiling and variations, and the inclusion of 
future years government grants the forecast capital programme for 2013/14 to 2016/17 will be 
£159.903m 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
This quarterly report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. Allocating limited resources to key priorities will maximise the benefits to the 
residents of Plymouth.          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
Robust and accurate financial monitoring underpins the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. The 
Council’s Mediurm Term Financial Forecast is updated regulary based on on-going monitoring 
information, both on a local and national context. 
   

Agenda Item 7Page 47



Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
The reducing revenue and capital resources across the public sector has been identified as a key risk 
within our Strategic Risk register. The ability to deliver spending plans is paramount to ensuring the 
Council can achieve its objectives to be a Pioneering, Growing, Caring and Confident City. 
 

 

Equality and Diversity 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 

  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
That Cabinet:- 
 

1. Note revenue monitoring position and actions being taken  
2. Approve the revenue budget virements  
3. Approve the new non-delegated schemes added to the capital programme totaling £2.3m, and 

request that they are approved by Council  
4. Note the increase in the medium term capital programme forecast to £159.903m which 

includes expected grants of £19.3m following the Comprehensive Spending Review 
announced on 26 June 2013, and £6m in respect of highways infrastructure maintenance. 

5. Note the Human Resources !"# Organisational Development #ata  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
$%"&  
 
Published work / information: 
 
2013/14 Budget Book Plymouth City Council - Budget Book 
2013/14 Budget Scrutiny Plymouth City Council - Budget Scrutiny 
 
Background papers: 
 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

          
          

    
 
Sign off:   
Fin Djn1314.11 Leg 18091

/dvs 
Mon 
Off 

18091/
dvs 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  

Page 48



 

JU
N

E
 F

IN
A

N
C

E
 M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
 

 
C

ab
in

et
 6

th
 A

ug
us

t 
20

13
  

 

R
ev

en
ue

 M
on

it
or

in
g 

P
os

it
io

n 

 

D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

 

 

20
13

/1
4 

C
ou

nc
il 

A
pp

ro
ve

d 
B

ud
ge

t 
20

13
/1

4 
B

ud
ge

t 
V

ir
em

en
ts

 
20

13
/1

4 
L

at
es

t 
A

pp
ro

ve
d 

B
ud

ge
t 

 

Fo
re

ca
st

 O
ut

tu
rn

 

 

Fo
re

ca
st

 Y
ea

r 
E

nd
 O

ve
rs

pe
nd

 / 
(U

nd
er

sp
en

d)
 

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 

Pe
op

le
 

12
9.

74
9 

0.
25

3 
13

0.
00

2 
13

1.
32

1 
1.

31
9 

Pl
ac

e 
41

.9
08

 
0.

18
2 

42
.0

90
 

42
.6

63
 

0.
57

3 

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

29
.8

83
 

0.
08

2 
29

.9
65

 
29

.9
65

 
0 

C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
es

’ O
ffi

ce
 

1.
99

1 
0.

00
2 

1.
99

3 
1.

99
3 

0 

C
or

po
ra

te
 It

em
s 

9.
02

9 
(0

.5
19

) 
8.

51
0 

8.
51

0 
0 

T
O

T
A

L
 

21
2.

56
0 

0.
00

0 
21

2.
56

0 
21

4.
45

2 
1.

89
2 

       

Page 49



K
ey

 I
ss

ue
s 

an
d 

C
or

re
ct

iv
e 

A
ct

io
ns

 (
if 

re
qu

ir
ed

) 

 

Is
su

e 
V

ar
ia

ti
on

 

£m
 

D
ir

ec
ti

on
 

of
 T

ra
ve

l 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
C

or
re

ct
iv

e 
A

ct
io

n 

P
E

O
P

L
E

 –
 J

oi
nt

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

&
 

A
du

lt
 S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e.
 U

ne
xp

ec
te

d 
pr

es
su

re
s, 

in
cl

ud
in

g,
 w

in
te

r 
pr

es
su

re
 

sp
ik

e,
 d

el
ay

 in
 t

he
 r

ec
ru

itm
en

t 
of

 s
ta

ff 
an

d 
th

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
re

vi
ew

 o
f c

ar
e 

ho
m

e 
fe

es
 

1.
10

0 
Sa

m
e 

 

·
Re

vi
ew

 le
ga

cy
 c

lie
nt

s 
– 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
al

l n
ew

 c
lie

nt
s 

ar
e 

pa
rt

 o
f n

ew
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

m
od

el
, n

ex
t 

ph
as

e 
it 

to
 r

ev
ie

w
 a

ll 
le

ga
cy

 c
as

es
 (e

xi
st

in
g 

lo
ng

 t
er

m
 c

as
es

), 
So

ci
al

 W
or

ke
rs

 a
re

 
be

in
g 

re
cr

ui
te

d 
to

 c
ov

er
 s

ta
ff 

va
ca

nc
ie

s 
an

d 
w

ill
 t

ar
ge

t 
th

is 
ar

ea
 

of
 w

or
k.

 

·
M

an
ag

em
e n

t 
of

 h
ea

lth
/s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
cl

ie
nt

s 
(C

H
C

/1
17

 F
or

en
sic

). 
 

W
or

k 
un

de
rw

ay
 t

o 
re

vi
ew

 h
ig

h 
co

st
 p

ac
ka

ge
s.

 

·
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
ac

tio
n 

at
 fr

on
t 

do
or

.  
Pr

io
ri

tis
ed

 a
nd

 d
ep

lo
ye

d 
de

di
ca

te
d 

pr
of

es
sio

na
l s

ta
ff 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
de

m
an

d 
at

 p
oi

nt
 o

f 
co

nt
ac

t 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

ne
ed

 is
 m

et
 w

ith
in

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 d

ut
ie

s.
 

·
IC

E 
an

d 
U

rg
en

t 
C

ar
e 

Tr
an

sf
or

m
at

io
n.

  H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e 
Tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
ac

ro
ss

 r
ea

bl
em

en
t 

w
ill

 b
e 

ro
lle

d 
ou

t 
fr

om
 

Se
pt

em
be

r 
20

13
 a

nd
 w

ill
 a

im
 t

o 
re

du
ce

 c
ar

e 
ho

m
e 

ad
m

iss
io

n.
 

P
E

O
P

L
E

 –
 E

du
ca

ti
on

, L
ea

rn
in

g 
an

d 
Fa

m
ily

 S
up

po
rt

. I
nf

la
tio

n 
on

 t
he

 
C

ou
nc

il’
s 

co
nt

ri
bu

tio
n 

to
 t

he
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

PF
I c

on
tr

ac
t. 

 

D
em

an
d 

fo
r 

tr
an

sp
or

t 
ha

s 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

at
 a

 
tim

e 
w

he
n 

th
e 

ex
te

nd
ed

 R
ig

ht
 t

o 
Fr

ee
 

Tr
av

el
 g

ra
nt

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
re

m
ov

ed
.  

0.
21

9 
W

or
se

ni
ng

 

·
Bu

dg
et

s 
re

du
ce

d 
in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 s
av

in
gs

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
in

 t
he

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
 o

f a
ll 

no
n-

es
se

nt
ia

l e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 

·
O

ffi
ce

rs
 w

ill
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

th
er

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 a
re

as
 t

o 
id

en
tif

y 
of

fs
et

tin
g 

sa
vi

ng
s 

·
PF

I i
nf

la
tio

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 w
he

n 
th

e 
M

TF
P 

is 
re

vi
ew

ed
 

 

Page 50



P
L

A
C

E
 –

 E
co

no
m

ic
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t.

 
30

0k
 - 

D
ow

nw
ar

d 
pr

es
su

re
 o

n 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 r

en
ts

 o
n 

le
as

e 
re

ne
w

al
s 

an
d 

re
nt

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
to

ge
th

er
 w

ith
 r

en
t 

fr
ee

 
in

ce
nt

iv
es

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
in

 o
rd

er
 t

o 
at

tr
ac

t 
te

na
nt

s 
an

d 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

vo
id

 p
er

io
ds

.  
C

ity
 

C
en

tr
e 

gr
ou

nd
 le

as
e 

in
co

m
e 

is 
re

du
ci

ng
 

du
e 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 v
ac

an
t c

ity
 c

en
tr

e 
re

ta
ils

 u
ni

ts
 a

nd
 fa

lli
ng

 r
en

ts
 o

n 
th

e 
ge

ar
ed

 h
ea

d 
le

as
es

 a
t 

re
nt

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
an

d 
le

as
e 

re
ne

w
al

s. 

(2
0k

) –
 R

ev
ie

w
 o

f i
nc

om
e 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 
fr

om
 t

ou
ri

st
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ce

nt
re

s.
 

0.
28

0 
Sa

m
e 

 

·
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
ar

e 
aw

ar
e 

of
 p

re
ss

ur
es

 a
nd

 lo
ok

in
g 

at
 w

ay
s 

of
 

m
ax

im
isi

ng
 in

co
m

e 
an

d 
re

du
ci

ng
 c

os
ts

. 

·
C

on
tin

ue
 t

o 
m

ax
im

ise
 in

co
m

e 
ac

ro
ss

 a
ll 

of
 t

he
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 

Es
ta

te
. 

 

P
L

A
C

E
 –

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 &

 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

. C
on

ce
ss

io
na

ry
 F

ar
es

 
re

du
ce

d 
co

st
s 

in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 u

sa
ge

 t
re

nd
s 

(5
0K

)  

Ea
st

er
n 

C
or

ri
do

r/
M

aj
or

 P
ro

je
ct

s 
(1

50
K

) 
re

du
ce

d 
ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 o
n 

sc
he

m
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 

St
re

et
 li

gh
tin

g 
en

er
gy

 c
os

ts
 4

50
K

 
p r

es
su

re
. 

Re
vi

se
d 

fo
re

ca
st

 fo
r 

in
co

m
e 

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
 

fr
om

 b
us

 la
ne

 e
nf

or
ce

m
en

t 
(2

00
K

) 

H
ig

hw
ay

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 is
 a

lso
 v

er
y 

hi
gh

 
an

d 
if 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

w
ill

 le
ad

 t
o 

sig
ni

fic
an

t 
pr

es
su

re
s, 

cu
rr

en
tly

 b
ei

ng
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 
al

on
g 

w
ith

 t
he

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
fo

r 
Tr

an
sp

or
t. 

0.
05

0 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

 

·
C

ur
re

nt
 p

re
ss

ur
es

 a
re

 b
ei

ng
 o

ffs
et

 b
y 

sa
vi

ng
s 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 
el

se
w

he
re

 in
 t

he
 D

iv
isi

on
 a

nd
 c

on
tin

ue
 t

o 
be

 m
on

ito
re

d 
cl

os
el

y 
fo

r 
fu

rt
he

r 
sa

vi
ng

s.
 

·
O

ve
ra

ll 
in

fla
tio

n 
on

 s
tr

ee
t 

lig
ht

in
g 

en
er

gy
 c

os
ts

 a
t 

th
is 

st
ag

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 c

al
cu

la
te

d 
at

 £
0.

45
0m

. T
he

re
 is

 a
 c

or
po

ra
te

 
co

nt
in

ge
nc

y 
of

 £
0.

30
0m

 fo
r 

en
er

gy
 in

cr
ea

se
s, 

w
hi

ch
 n

ee
ds

 t
o 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ve

ri
fic

at
io

n 
of

 e
ne

rg
y 

in
cr

ea
se

s 
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 
w

ho
le

 C
ou

nc
il.

 

 

 

Page 51



P
L

A
C

E
 E

nv
ir

on
m

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s.
 

M
er

cu
ry

 A
ba

te
m

en
t 

70
k 

co
st

 

Re
cy

cl
ab

le
 C

om
m

od
ity

 In
co

m
e 

pr
es

su
re

 
13

0k
.  

Ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
sa

vi
ng

s 
fr

om
 1

2/
13

 d
el

iv
er

y 
pl

an
s 

no
t 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 2
93

k 

St
af

f r
at

io
na

lis
at

io
n 

in
 a

dd
iti

on
 t

o 
de

liv
er

y 
pl

an
 t

ar
ge

t 
(1

00
k)

 

Re
du

ce
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 c
os

ts
 o

f p
la

nt
 &

 
eq

ui
pm

en
t 

(5
0k

) 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
in

co
m

e 
fr

om
 C

em
et

er
ie

s 
an

d 
C

re
m

at
or

iu
m

s 
(4

0k
)  

0.
30

3 
Sa

m
e 

 

·
Re

cy
cl

at
e 

C
om

m
od

ity
 P

ri
ce

s 
ar

e 
hi

tt
in

g 
a 

lo
w

 p
er

io
d 

du
e 

to
 

m
ar

ke
t 

co
nd

iti
on

s, 
of

fic
er

s 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 t

o 
se

ek
 a

lte
rn

at
iv

e 
m

ar
ke

ts
 w

he
re

 p
os

sib
le

, m
ar

ke
ts

 w
ill

 fl
uc

tu
at

e 
du

ri
ng

 t
he

 
ye

ar
, t

he
re

fo
re

 c
ha

ng
in

g 
va

ri
an

ce
 r

ep
or

te
d.

 

·
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
ac

tio
n 

un
de

rw
ay

 a
s 

sh
ow

n 
by

 s
av

in
gs

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
to

 r
ed

uc
e 

th
e 

pr
es

su
re

s 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

to
 d

at
e.

 

  

P
L

A
C

E
 –

 P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

 
B

us
in

es
s 

Su
pp

or
t.

 S
av

in
gs

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
ov

er
 a

 r
an

ge
 o

f b
ud

ge
t 

lin
es

 a
nd

 v
ac

an
cy

 
sa

vi
ng

s. 

(0
.0

60
) 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 

·
Bu

dg
et

 m
an

ag
er

s 
to

 c
on

tin
ue

 t
o 

re
vi

ew
 b

ud
ge

ts
 fo

r 
po

te
nt

ia
l 

sa
vi

ng
s. 

T
ot

al
 M

aj
or

 V
ar

ia
nc

es
 

1.
89

2 
 

 

    

Page 52



D
el

iv
er

y 
P

la
ns

 

Fo
r 

qu
ar

te
r 

1 
m

on
ito

ri
ng

 r
ed

 a
nd

 a
m

be
r 

re
la

te
d 

de
liv

er
y 

pl
an

s 
ha

ve
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

re
fle

ct
ed

 in
 t

he
 o

ve
ra

ll 
m

on
ito

ri
ng

 r
es

ul
t. 

 

D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
R

ed
 

A
m

be
r 

G
re

en
 

T
ot

al
 

 
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

Pe
op

le
 

A
du

lt 
H

ea
lth

 &
 S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

Ed
uc

at
io

n,
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

&
 S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e 

H
om

es
 &

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 –
 S

af
er

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 

Pe
op

le
 M

an
ag

em
en

t &
 S

up
po

rt
 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 

1.
48

1 

0.
21

7 

0.
03

0    

0.
37

5 

0.
28

4 

0.
62

8   

0.
05

9 

3.
94

9 

0.
68

2 

0.
81

6 

0.
33

6 

0.
04

0 

5.
80

5 

1.
18

3 

1.
47

4 

0.
33

6 

0.
04

0 

0.
05

9 

Pl
ac

e 
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

&
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s 

Ec
on

om
ic

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 

Pl
ac

e 
D

ir
ec

to
ra

te
 

 
0.

35
0  

0.
10

0 

0.
10

0 

0.
10

3 

0.
61

0 

0.
17

4 

0.
28

0 

0.
45

0 

0.
10

3 

0.
71

0 

0.
17

4 

0.
28

0 

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

 

C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

Fi
na

nc
e,

 A
ss

et
s, 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 &

 E
ffi

ci
en

ci
es

 

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 &
 O

rg
an

isa
tio

na
l D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

D
em

oc
ra

cy
 &

 G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 

0.
05

0 

0.
87

0 

 

0.
35

0 

0.
18

5 

0.
07

0 

0.
39

0 

0.
34

0 

0.
44

0 

1.
56

0 

0.
18

5 

0.
07

0 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
O

ffi
ce

 
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e 

 
 

0.
29

5 
0.

29
5 

C
or

po
ra

te
 It

em
s 

C
or

po
ra

te
 It

em
s 

1.
72

0 
0.

55
0 

2.
15

0 
4.

42
0 

T
ot

al
 2

01
3/

14
 D

el
iv

er
y 

P
la

ns
 

4.
54

3 
3.

41
5 

9.
62

6 
17

.5
84

 

 

Page 53



V
ir

em
en

ts
 o

ve
r 

£1
00

,0
00

 fo
r 

C
ab

in
et

 t
o 

ap
pr

ov
e 

 

D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

 

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 t

o 
In

su
ra

nc
e 

Fu
nd

 
P

ly
m

ou
th

 P
la

n 
G

ra
n

ts
 C

F
W

D
’s

 
D

is
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

T
ot

al
 V

ir
em

en
ts

 

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 

Pe
op

le
 

(0
.0

49
) 

 
0.

37
7 

0.
32

8 

Pl
ac

e 
(0

.2
12

) 
0.

35
0 

 
0.

13
8 

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

(0
.0

41
) 

 
 

(0
.0

41
) 

C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
es

’ O
ffi

ce
 

(0
.0

04
) 

 
 

(0
.0

04
) 

C
or

po
ra

te
 It

em
s 

0.
30

6 
  

(0
.3

50
) 

(0
.3

77
) 

(0
.4

21
) 

T
O

T
A

L
 

0.
00

0 
0.

00
0 

0.
00

0 
0.

00
0 

 Vi
re

m
en

ts
 s

ho
w

n 
in

 t
he

 r
ev

en
ue

 m
on

ito
ri

ng
 p

os
iti

on
, a

lth
ou

gh
 s

til
l n

et
tin

g 
to

 z
er

o,
 in

cl
ud

e 
al

l v
ir

em
en

ts
 a

nd
 a

re
 t

he
 c

um
ul

at
iv

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f b

ot
h 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 
w

hi
ch

 in
di

vi
du

al
ly

 a
re

 le
ss

 t
ha

t 
£0

.1
00

m
 a

nd
 t

he
re

fo
re

 d
o 

no
t 

re
qu

ir
e 

ca
bi

ne
t 

ap
pr

ov
al

, a
nd

 t
ho

se
 o

ve
r 

£0
.1

00
m

 t
ha

t 
re

qu
ir

e 
ap

pr
ov

al
 

Vi
re

m
en

ts
 o

ve
r 

£0
.1

00
m

 r
eq

ui
ri

ng
 a

pp
ro

va
l a

re
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s;
 

·
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

to
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Fu
nd

 –
 D

ist
ri

bu
tio

n 
of

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
t’s

 s
ha

re
 o

f i
ns

ur
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 t
o 

re
fle

ct
 t

he
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

20
13

/1
4 

bu
dg

et
 d

el
iv

er
y 

pl
an

. 

·
Pl

ym
ou

th
 P

la
n 

– 
Fo

r 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

ly
, v

ir
em

en
t 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

C
llr

 L
ow

ry
. T

o 
es

ta
bl

ish
 b

ud
ge

t 
to

 fu
nd

 o
ne

-o
ff 

pi
ec

e 
of

 w
or

k 
in

 r
es

pe
ct

 o
f P

ly
m

ou
th

 
Pl

an
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 e
xt

en
siv

e 
re

se
ar

ch
 c

os
ts

 a
nd

 c
on

tin
ge

nc
y.

·
G

ra
nt

 C
ar

ry
 F

or
w

ar
ds

 –
 D

ist
ri

bu
tio

n 
of

 g
ra

nt
 a

nd
 p

oo
le

d 
bu

dg
et

s 
ca

rr
y 

fo
rw

ar
ds

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
by

 C
ou

nc
il 

du
ri

ng
 2

01
2/

13
 o

ut
tu

rn
 t

o 
fu

nd
 o

n-
go

in
g 

pr
oj

ec
ts

/s
ch

em
es

. 

Vi
re

m
en

ts
 o

ve
r 

£0
.1

00
m

, c
on

ta
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

s, 
th

er
ef

or
e 

ne
t 

ni
l e

ffe
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

ab
ov

e 
ta

bl
e 

ar
e 

as
 fo

llo
w

s;
 

·
Th

e 
di

sa
gg

re
ga

tio
n 

of
 t

he
 1

6+
 s

er
vi

ce
 w

hi
ch

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
ca

re
 le

av
er

s 
ov

er
 t

he
 a

ge
 o

f 1
6.

  T
he

 r
es

tr
uc

tu
re

 h
as

 d
ev

ol
ve

d 
th

e 
bu

dg
et

 3
 w

ay
s;

 
to

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 c
ar

e,
 h

om
es

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 (y
ou

th
 s

er
vi

ce
) a

nd
 h

om
es

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 (a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

se
rv

ic
e)

, £
0.

70
9m

 

·
C

en
tr

al
isa

tio
n 

of
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

Bu
dg

et
s 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 P

la
ce

 d
ir

ec
to

ra
te

, £
0.

12
5m

 

Page 54



R
ev

en
ue

s 
&

 B
en

ef
it

s 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

R
at

es
 

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

 
Ta

rg
et

  
 

 
Ju

ne
 1

3 
  

 
26

.5
3%

   
 

£2
6.

99
8m

 

 
A

ct
ua

l 
 

 
Ju

ne
 1

3 
 

25
.9

3%
   

£2
5.

36
0m

 

 
20

12
/1

3 
 

 
Ju

ne
 1

3 
 

26
.5

3%
   

£2
4.

85
0m

 

 Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
ra

te
 is

 2
5.

93
%

, c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 2
6.

53
%

 la
st

 y
ea

r.
  T

hi
s 

is 
m

ai
nl

y 
du

e 
to

 t
he

 im
pa

ct
 o

f t
he

 n
ew

 C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

Su
pp

or
t 

Sc
he

m
e,

 (C
TS

), 
an

d 
th

e 
in

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
of

 1
2 

m
on

th
ly

 in
st

al
m

en
ts

 c
om

pa
re

d 
w

ith
 t

he
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 o
f t

en
.  

 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

C
TS

 c
as

es
 w

as
 2

1.
80

%
 w

hi
ch

 is
 a

he
ad

 o
f o

ur
 a

ss
um

ed
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
ra

te
 o

f 1
2.

00
%

 h
ow

ev
er

 t
he

 c
ol

le
ct

io
n 

ra
te

 fo
r 

th
e 

ne
w

 t
ec

hn
ic

al
 r

ef
or

m
 

ca
se

s 
is 

17
.8

3%
, w

hi
ch

 is
 lo

w
er

 t
ha

n 
an

tic
ip

at
ed

 o
f 1

8.
00

%
.  

W
e 

ha
ve

 c
on

tin
ue

d 
to

 p
ro

ac
tiv

el
y 

ca
ll 

cu
st

om
er

s 
an

d 
th

is 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
is 

be
in

g 
ev

al
ua

te
d 

to
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
be

ne
fit

 t
o 

th
e 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
ra

te
 a

nd
 o

ur
 c

us
to

m
er

s. 
 

 N
at

io
na

l N
on

 D
om

es
tic

 R
at

es
 

 
Ta

rg
et

  
 

Ju
ne

 1
3 

 
36

.3
1%

  
 

£3
2.

99
8m

 

 
A

ct
ua

l 
 

Ju
ne

 1
3 

 
35

.3
8%

 
 

£3
2.

15
6m

 
 

 

 
20

12
/1

3 
 

M
ay

 1
2  

 
36

.1
1%

  
 

£3
2.

16
3m

 

 N
N

D
R 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
is 

35
.3

8%
 -

 ju
st

 b
el

ow
 t

he
 t

ar
ge

t 
of

 3
6.

31
%

 a
nd

 la
st

 y
ea

r’
s 

fig
ur

e 
of

 3
6.

11
%

.  
 

Th
e 

aw
ar

d 
of

 d
isc

re
tio

na
ry

 r
at

e 
re

lie
f i

s 
af

fe
ct

in
g 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
on

 s
om

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 a

s 
ra

te
pa

ye
rs

 a
re

 w
ith

ho
ld

in
g 

pa
ym

en
t 

un
til

 a
 d

ec
isi

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
ad

e.
 

D
ec

isi
on

s 
ab

ou
t 

th
e 

aw
ar

d 
w

ill
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

at
 C

ab
in

et
 o

n 
6t

h 
A

ug
us

t 
w

hi
ch

 w
e 

an
tic

ip
at

e 
sh

ou
ld

 r
es

ul
t 

in
 a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 t
he

 c
ol

le
ct

io
n 

ra
te

. 

Li
ke

 C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

w
e 

ar
e 

be
gi

nn
in

g 
to

 p
ro

fil
e 

th
os

e 
bu

sin
es

se
s 

go
in

g 
on

to
 1

2 
m

on
th

ly
 in

st
al

m
en

ts
 s

o 
th

at
 w

e 
ca

n 
be

gi
n 

to
 d

et
er

m
in

e 
th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
n 

m
on

th
ly

 
pr

of
ile

d 
ta

rg
et

s. 

W
e 

co
nt

in
ue

 t
o 

re
m

ai
n 

co
nf

id
en

t 
th

at
 o

ur
 r

ec
ov

er
y 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
w

ill
 im

pr
ov

e 
co

lle
ct

io
n 

in
 y

ea
r.

 

  

Page 55



C
ap

it
al

 P
os

it
io

n 

Sp
en

d 
to

 d
at

e 

P
eo

pl
e 

P
la

ce
 

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

T
ot

al
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

8.
07

0 
0.

84
5 

0.
59

9 
9.

51
4 

  R
ev

is
ed

 m
ed

iu
m

 t
er

m
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
20

13
/1

4 
–
 2

01
6/

17
 is

 £
15

9.
90

3m
, a

nd
 is

 fo
re

ca
st

 t
o 

be
 fi

na
nc

ed
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s 

 

C
ap

it
al

 
R

ec
ei

pt
s 

U
ns

up
po

rt
ed

 
B

or
ro

w
in

g 
T

am
ar

 B
ri

dg
e 

&
 T

or
po

in
t 

Fe
rr

y 
B

or
ro

w
in

g 

G
ra

nt
s 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 

S1
06

/ T
ar

iff
 / 

R
IF

 
R

ev
en

ue
 / 

Fu
nd

s 
T

ot
al

 
Fu

nd
in

g 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

£m
 

21
.3

13
 

30
.9

52
 

7.
44

6 
90

.7
32

 
2.

14
0 

2.
27

2 
5.

04
9 

15
9.

90
3 

 Th
e 

ca
pi

ta
l p

os
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

up
da

te
d 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
 a

 n
um

be
r 

of
 it

em
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g:
 

 N
ew

 s
ch

em
es

 r
eq

ui
ri

ng
 a

pp
ro

va
l f

or
 M

ar
jo

ns
 L

in
k 

Ro
ad

 £
1.

5m
 a

nd
 V

eh
ic

le
 a

nd
 P

la
nt

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
ph

as
e 

IV
 £

1.
8m

, 

T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

co
m

m
it

m
en

t 
to

 r
oa

d 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 - 

£6
m

 o
f t

he
 £

20
m

 c
om

m
itm

en
t 

ha
s 

be
en

 a
dd

ed
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t m

ed
iu

m
 t

er
m

 2
01

3/
14

 –
 2

01
6/

17
 

(t
he

 in
iti

al
 £

2m
 h

as
 a

lr
ea

dy
 b

ee
n 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 2

01
3/

14
 in

 t
he

 r
ep

or
t 

to
 C

ab
in

et
 o

n 
21

 M
ay

 2
01

3)
 

In
it

ia
l e

st
im

at
es

 o
n 

ce
nt

ra
l g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
bl

oc
k 

gr
an

t 
fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r 
20

15
/1

6 
an

d 
20

16
/1

7 
of

 £
19

.3
 m

. T
he

se
 r

el
at

e 
to

 fu
nd

in
g 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 

Tr
an

sp
or

t, 
Sc

ho
ol

s, 
D

isa
bl

ed
 F

ac
ili

tie
s 

an
d 

A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e.
 T

he
y 

w
ill

 b
e 

re
fin

ed
 in

 t
he

 li
gh

t 
of

 t
he

 r
ec

en
t 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t 

fu
nd

in
g 

an
no

un
ce

m
en

t 
in

 Ju
ne

 a
s 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 in
di

ca
te

 h
ow

 n
at

io
na

l a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ill
 r

ea
llo

ca
te

d 
to

 in
di

vi
du

al
 lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

ri
tie

s.
 

  

Page 56



C
ap

it
al

 R
ec

ei
pt

s 

 

Y
ea

r 
C

ap
it

al
 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 
b/

fw
 

R
ec

ei
ve

d 
ye

ar
 

to
 d

at
e 

R
A

G
 R

at
ed

 
Fo

re
ca

st
ed

 
R

ec
ei

pt
s 

T
ot

al
 R

ec
ei

pt
s 

R
ec

ei
ve

d 
/ 

E
xp

ec
te

d 

C
ap

it
al

 
R

ec
ei

pt
s 

re
qu

ir
ed

 

C
um

ul
at

iv
e 

(S
ho

rt
fa

ll)
 / 

Su
rp

lu
s 

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 
£m

 

20
13

/1
4 

0 
0.

17
7 

6.
69

4 
6.

69
4 

4.
65

3 
1.

84
1 

20
14

/1
5 

1.
84

1 
N

/A
 

6.
19

7 
8.

03
8 

9.
16

0 
(1

.1
22

) 

20
15

/1
6 

(1
.1

22
) 

N
/A

 
6.

40
6 

5.
28

4 
5.

50
0 

(0
.2

16
 

20
16

/1
7 

(0
.2

16
) 

N
/A

 
2.

02
6 

1.
81

0 
2.

00
0 

(0
.1

90
) 

T
ot

al
 

 
 

 
 

21
.3

13
 

(0
.1

90
) 

 A
dd

it
io

na
l I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

  
!
"
 O

rg
an

isa
tio

n 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t "

at
a;

 

·
FT

E 
nu

m
be

rs
 

·
FT

E 
he

ad
 c

ou
nt

 

·
Si

ck
ne

ss
 

 

Page 57



W
O

R
K

 F
O

R
C

E
: F

U
L

L
 T

IM
E

 E
Q

U
IV

A
L

E
N

T
S

 
Ju
n-
13

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

 /
 1

3

Ch
an

ge
 2

01
2 

/ 
13

Ju
l 1

2
Au

g 
12

Se
pt

 1
2

O
ct

 1
2

N
ov

 1
2

D
ec

 1
2

Ja
n 

13
Fe

b 
13

M
ar

 1
3

A
pr

 1
3

M
ay

 1
3

Ju
ne

 2
-1

3

Ch
an

ge
 in

 
ro

lli
ng

 1
2 

m
on

th
s

Es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t 
Re

po
rt

 (F
TE

)
N

ov
-1

0
M

ar
-1

1
Ju

l-1
2

A
ug

-1
2

Se
p-

12
O

ct
-1

2
N

ov
-1

2

Co
un

ci
l W

id
e

37
18

.7
0

36
71

.6
0

30
63

.0
0

-6
08

.6
0

32
52

.6
0

32
70

.6
0

32
49

.5
0

32
39

.6
0

32
35

.1
0

32
12

.4
0

31
93

.9
0

31
63

.7
0

30
63

.0
0

31
11

.0
0

30
77

.2
1

30
28

.7
0

(2
23

.9
0)

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
O

ff
ic

e

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
12

.0
0

12
.0

0
0.

00

M
an

ag
em

en
t &

 S
up

po
rt

 (C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e)

2.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

(2
.0

0)

Po
lic

y,
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

23
.9

0
23

.9
0

23
.9

0
23

.9
0

23
.9

0
23

.9
0

23
.9

0
22

.9
0

21
.9

0
21

.9
0

21
.0

4
22

.0
0

(1
.9

0)

To
ta

l
37

.9
0

35
.9

0
35

.9
0

35
.9

0
35

.9
0

35
.9

0
35

.9
0

34
.9

0
33

.9
0

33
.9

0
33

.0
4

34
.0

0
(3

.9
0)

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Se

rv
ic

es

Cu
st

om
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s
14

0.
70

13
9.

60
14

4.
10

14
2.

20
14

4.
10

17
0.

10
16

9.
10

16
9.

60
16

1.
20

16
6.

10
16

2.
26

15
7.

60
16

.9
0

D
em

oc
ra

cy
 a

nd
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e
88

.1
0

88
.1

0
88

.5
0

87
.9

0
89

.5
0

87
.6

0
89

.2
0

87
.2

0
86

.5
0

87
.5

0
89

.7
4

90
.3

0
2.

20

Fi
na

nc
e,

 E
ff

ic
ie

nc
ie

s,
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 &
 A

ss
t

51
1.

30
51

4.
70

51
3.

10
51

0.
80

51
0.

00
48

1.
90

48
2.

70
47

8.
50

46
7.

50
46

3.
20

46
2.

53
44

6.
40

(6
4.

90
)

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 O
rg

an
is

at
io

na
l D

ev
10

1.
80

10
2.

80
10

0.
40

86
.9

0
86

.9
0

86
.9

0
85

.9
0

84
.7

0
83

.3
0

83
.3

0
79

.7
6

79
.9

0
(2

1.
90

)

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
0.

00

To
ta

l
84

3.
90

84
7.

20
84

8.
10

82
9.

80
83

2.
50

82
8.

50
82

8.
80

81
9.

30
80

0.
50

80
2.

10
79

6.
30

77
6.

20
(6

7.
70

)

Pe
op

le

Ch
ild

re
ns

 S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

33
0.

60
33

3.
60

33
3.

50
33

9.
40

33
9.

80
33

8.
10

32
9.

10
31

0.
40

31
0.

20
30

5.
20

28
8.

89
27

9.
20

(5
1.

40
)

Ed
uc

at
io

n,
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

&
 F

am
ili

es
57

5.
30

58
4.

30
56

7.
60

56
3.

60
56

4.
70

55
3.

70
54

4.
20

53
9.

30
53

9.
60

54
2.

00
51

3.
40

50
6.

90
(6

8.
40

)

H
om

es
 &

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

22
4.

10
22

8.
10

22
6.

30
22

6.
60

22
5.

50
22

4.
50

22
5.

00
24

0.
50

23
9.

40
24

4.
40

25
0.

61
24

7.
70

23
.6

0

Jo
in

t C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

&
 A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e

44
1.

20
44

0.
50

43
9.

00
44

6.
00

44
3.

80
43

9.
20

43
3.

90
41

6.
40

34
4.

00
38

6.
10

37
6.

88
37

3.
90

(6
7.

30
)

Li
fe

lo
ng

 L
ea

rn
in

g
0.

00

Pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 D
ire

ct
or

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

3.
00

6.
00

6.
00

3.
00

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

11
.9

3
11

.9
0

11
.9

0

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
0.

00

To
ta

l
15

75
.2

0
15

90
.5

0
15

70
.4

0
15

79
.6

0
15

77
.8

0
15

59
.6

0
15

36
.2

0
15

10
.7

0
14

37
.2

0
14

81
.7

0
14

48
.7

1
14

26
.6

0
(1

48
.6

0)

Pl
ac

e

Bu
si

ne
ss

 T
ea

m
 (D

ev
 &

 R
eg

)
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
7.

70
6.

71
6.

80
(0

.9
0)

Ec
on

om
ic

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
99

.9
0

10
5.

80
10

3.
80

10
6.

00
10

5.
80

10
4.

80
10

2.
30

10
5.

30
10

5.
30

10
5.

30
10

5.
88

10
6.

00
6.

10

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s
48

6.
80

48
5.

80
48

7.
80

48
4.

80
47

9.
20

47
8.

40
47

5.
20

47
0.

70
46

7.
10

46
4.

10
47

1.
89

46
7.

90
(1

8.
90

)

Pl
an

ni
ng

 S
er

vi
ce

s
74

.4
0

73
.9

0
72

.9
0

71
.0

0
71

.8
0

72
.0

0
72

.5
0

77
.5

0
77

.5
0

79
.5

0
79

.4
0

78
.4

0
4.

00

St
ra

te
gi

c 
H

ou
si

ng

Tr
an

sp
or

t &
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

12
3.

80
11

9.
90

11
9.

90
12

0.
70

12
0.

50
12

1.
70

13
1.

30
13

3.
60

12
9.

70
13

3.
60

13
3.

28
13

0.
80

7.
00

W
as

te
 P

FI
2.

00
2.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00
1.

00

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
1.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
2.

00
1.

00
1.

00
0.

00

To
ta

l
79

5.
60

79
7.

10
79

5.
10

79
3.

20
78

8.
00

78
7.

50
79

2.
00

79
7.

80
79

0.
30

79
2.

20
79

8.
16

79
0.

90
(4

.7
0)

M
ov

ed
 to

 T
ra

ns
 &

 In
f

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 1

Page 58



W
O

R
K

FO
R

C
E

: H
E

A
D

C
O

U
N

T
 (

N
U

M
B

E
R

 O
F 

E
M

P
L

O
Y

E
E

S)
Ju
n-
13

Es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t R
ep

or
t (

H
ea

dc
ou

nt
)

M
ar

-1
0

M
ar

-1
1

M
ar

-1
2

M
ar

-1
3

Ch
an

ge
 

20
12

/1
3

Ju
l-1

2
A

ug
-1

2
Se

p-
12

O
ct

-1
2

N
ov

-1
2

D
ec

-1
2

Ja
n-

13
Fe

b-
13

M
ar

-1
3

A
pr

-1
3

M
ay

-1
3

Ju
n-

13

Ch
an

ge
 in

 
ro

lli
ng

 1
2 

m
on

th
s

Co
un

ci
l W

id
e

4,
75

1
   

   
 

4,
71

3
   

   
 

4,
15

5
   

   
 

3,
83

8
   

   
 

(2
49

)
4,

15
5

   
   

 
4,

16
0

   
   

 
4,

13
0

   
   

 
4,

09
3

   
   

 
4,

08
3

   
   

 
4,

04
0

   
   

 
4,

02
5

   
   

 
3,

99
3

   
   

 
3,

83
8

   
   

 
3,

90
9

   
   

  
3,

92
4

   
   

  
3,

86
2

   
   

  
(2

93
) 0

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
O

ff
ic

e
0

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
0

12
   

   
   

   
12

   
   

   
   

12
   

   
   

   
12

   
   

   
   

12
   

   
   

   
12

   
   

   
   

 
12

   
   

   
   

 
12

   
   

   
   

 
12

   
   

   
   

 
12

   
   

   
   

  
12

   
   

   
   

  
12

   
   

   
   

  
0

M
an

ag
em

en
t &

 S
up

po
rt

 (C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e)

(3
)

2
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

(2
)

Po
lic

y,
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

0
26

   
   

   
   

26
   

   
   

   
26

   
   

   
   

26
   

   
   

   
26

   
   

   
   

26
   

   
   

   
 

26
   

   
   

   
 

25
   

   
   

   
 

24
   

   
   

   
 

24
   

   
   

   
  

23
   

   
   

   
  

24
   

   
   

   
  

(2
)

To
ta

l
(3

)
40

   
   

   
   

38
   

   
   

   
38

   
   

   
   

38
   

   
   

   
38

   
   

   
   

38
   

   
   

   
 

38
   

   
   

   
 

37
   

   
   

   
 

36
   

   
   

   
 

36
   

   
   

   
  

35
   

   
   

   
  

36
   

   
   

   
  

(4
)

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Se

rv
ic

es

Cu
st

om
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s
15

19
7

   
   

   
 

19
5

   
   

   
 

20
0

   
   

   
 

19
8

   
   

   
 

19
9

   
   

   
 

22
9

   
   

   
  

22
8

   
   

   
  

22
9

   
   

   
  

21
6

   
   

   
  

22
2

   
   

   
  

21
7

   
   

   
  

21
3

   
   

   
  

16

D
em

oc
ra

cy
 a

nd
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e
0

10
4

   
   

   
 

10
3

   
   

   
 

10
3

   
   

   
 

10
2

   
   

   
 

10
4

   
   

   
 

10
2

   
   

   
  

10
3

   
   

   
  

10
1

   
   

   
  

10
0

   
   

   
  

10
1

   
   

   
  

10
3

   
   

   
  

10
4

   
   

   
  

0

Fi
na

nc
e,

 E
ff

ic
ie

nc
ie

s,
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 &
 A

ss
t

(6
6)

68
8

   
   

   
 

69
6

   
   

   
 

70
2

   
   

   
 

68
8

   
   

   
 

68
4

   
   

   
 

64
5

   
   

   
  

65
1

   
   

   
  

64
2

   
   

   
  

63
2

   
   

   
  

62
3

   
   

   
  

62
9

   
   

   
  

61
1

   
   

   
  

(7
7)

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 O
rg

an
is

at
io

na
l D

ev
(3

0)
11

2
   

   
   

 
11

3
   

   
   

 
11

1
   

   
   

 
96

   
   

   
   

96
   

   
   

   
96

   
   

   
   

 
95

   
   

   
   

 
93

   
   

   
   

 
91

   
   

   
   

 
91

   
   

   
   

  
89

   
   

   
   

  
89

   
   

   
   

  
(2

3)

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
(1

)
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
 

2
   

   
   

   
   

 
2

   
   

   
   

   
 

0

To
ta

l
(8

2)
1,

10
3

   
   

 
1,

10
9

   
   

 
1,

11
8

   
   

 
1,

08
6

   
   

 
1,

08
5

   
   

 
1,

07
4

   
   

 
1,

07
9

   
   

 
1,

06
7

   
   

 
1,

04
1

   
   

 
1,

03
9

   
   

  
1,

04
0

   
   

  
1,

01
9

   
   

  
(8

4)

Pe
op

le

Ch
ild

re
ns

 S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

(2
1)

36
2

   
   

   
 

36
4

   
   

   
 

36
4

   
   

   
 

37
0

   
   

   
 

37
0

   
   

   
 

36
8

   
   

   
  

35
9

   
   

   
  

33
9

   
   

   
  

33
8

   
   

   
  

33
3

   
   

   
  

33
0

   
   

   
  

32
0

   
   

   
  

(4
2)

Ed
uc

at
io

n,
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

&
 F

am
ili

es
17

8
93

8
   

   
   

 
92

6
   

   
   

 
89

7
   

   
   

 
88

4
   

   
   

 
88

3
   

   
   

 
86

3
   

   
   

  
85

3
   

   
   

  
85

2
   

   
   

  
84

1
   

   
   

  
85

6
   

   
   

  
85

2
   

   
   

  
83

2
   

   
   

  
(1

06
)

H
om

es
 &

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

10
5

26
9

   
   

   
 

27
4

   
   

   
 

27
1

   
   

   
 

27
1

   
   

   
 

27
0

   
   

   
 

26
8

   
   

   
  

26
8

   
   

   
  

28
5

   
   

   
  

28
3

   
   

   
  

28
8

   
   

   
  

29
4

   
   

   
  

29
1

   
   

   
  

22

Jo
in

t C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

&
 A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e

(1
23

)
58

2
   

   
   

 
58

3
   

   
   

 
57

8
   

   
   

 
58

1
   

   
   

 
57

8
   

   
   

 
57

2
   

   
   

  
56

6
   

   
   

  
54

2
   

   
   

  
43

7
   

   
   

  
49

4
   

   
   

  
48

3
   

   
   

  
48

1
   

   
   

  
(1

01
)

Li
fe

lo
ng

 L
ea

rn
in

g
(2

53
)

0

Pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 D
ire

ct
or

(2
)

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
3

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

13
   

   
   

   
  

13
   

   
   

   
  

13

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
0

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
0

To
ta

l
(1

15
)

2,
15

5
   

   
 

2,
15

1
   

   
 

2,
11

4
   

   
 

2,
11

0
   

   
 

2,
10

5
   

   
 

2,
07

5
   

   
 

2,
05

0
   

   
 

2,
02

2
   

   
 

1,
90

3
   

   
 

1,
97

5
   

   
  

1,
97

9
   

   
  

1,
94

4
   

   
  

(2
11

)

Pl
ac

e

Bu
si

ne
ss

 T
ea

m
 (D

ev
 &

 R
eg

)
0

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

9
   

   
   

   
   

 
8

   
   

   
   

   
 

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

)

Ec
on

om
ic

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
1

11
2

   
   

   
 

11
8

   
   

   
 

11
6

   
   

   
 

11
8

   
   

   
 

11
9

   
   

   
 

11
8

   
   

   
  

11
6

   
   

   
  

11
9

   
   

   
  

11
9

   
   

   
  

11
9

   
   

   
  

11
9

   
   

   
  

11
9

   
   

   
  

7

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s
(2

9)
49

6
   

   
   

 
49

5
   

   
   

 
49

7
   

   
   

 
49

5
   

   
   

 
48

9
   

   
   

 
48

8
   

   
   

  
48

3
   

   
   

  
47

8
   

   
   

  
47

4
   

   
   

  
47

1
   

   
   

  
48

1
   

   
   

  
47

6
   

   
   

  
(2

0)

Pl
an

ni
ng

 S
er

vi
ce

s
5

81
   

   
   

   
80

   
   

   
   

79
   

   
   

   
77

   
   

   
   

79
   

   
   

   
79

   
   

   
   

 
80

   
   

   
   

 
86

   
   

   
   

 
86

   
   

   
   

 
88

   
   

   
   

  
90

   
   

   
   

  
89

   
   

   
   

  
8

St
ra

te
gi

c 
H

ou
si

ng
(7

1)

Tr
an

sp
or

t &
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

46
15

6
   

   
   

 
15

6
   

   
   

 
15

6
   

   
   

 
15

6
   

   
   

 
15

5
   

   
   

 
15

5
   

   
   

  
16

6
   

   
   

  
17

1
   

   
   

  
16

6
   

   
   

  
16

9
   

   
   

  
17

0
   

   
   

  
16

9
   

   
   

  
13

W
as

te
 P

FI
(2

)
2

   
   

   
   

   
2

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   
1

   
   

   
   

   

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
1

1
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

2
   

   
   

   
   

 
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
0

To
ta

l
(4

9)
85

7
   

   
   

 
86

2
   

   
   

 
86

0
   

   
   

 
85

8
   

   
   

 
85

4
   

   
   

 
85

2
   

   
   

  
85

7
   

   
   

  
86

6
   

   
   

  
85

7
   

   
   

  
85

8
   

   
   

  
86

9
   

   
   

  
86

2
   

   
   

  
5

M
ov

ed
 to

 T
IE

Pa
ge

 1

Page 59



A
V

ER
A

G
E 

N
U

M
BE

R 
O

F 
D

A
YS

 S
IC

K 
PE

R 
FU

LL
 T

IM
E 

EQ
U

IV
IL

EN
T 

(F
TE

)
Ju
n-
13

D
ir

ec
to

ra
te

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

Ju
l-1

2
A

ug
-1

2
Se

p-
12

O
ct

-1
2

N
ov

-1
2

D
ec

-1
2

Ja
n-

13
Fe

b-
13

M
ar

-1
3

A
pr

-1
3

M
ay

-1
3

Ju
n-

13
Ta

rg
et

 
Th

re
sh

ol
d

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
D

em
oc

ra
cy

 a
nd

 G
ov

er
na

nc
e

12
.6

2
12

.2
5

12
.3

6
11

.8
2

10
.9

5
10

.8
1

8.
93

9.
35

9.
04

8.
42

7.
14

6.
60

9.
00

10
.5

0
Fi

na
nc

e,
 E

ff
ic

ie
nc

ie
s,

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 &

 A
ss

t
8.

86
9.

13
9.

43
9.

87
9.

99
9.

92
10

.2
3

9.
63

9.
26

9.
47

9.
05

8.
94

9.
00

10
.5

0
H

um
an

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 a

nd
 O

rg
an

is
at

io
na

l D
ev

5.
34

5.
54

5.
99

6.
56

7.
77

8.
76

9.
59

9.
09

9.
11

9.
10

8.
90

8.
84

7.
00

9.
00

Cu
st

om
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s
6.

16
6.

69
6.

82
6.

97
6.

99
7.

11
6.

90
6.

47
6.

40
6.

84
6.

56
6.

71
7.

00
9.

00
M

an
ag

em
en

t &
 S

up
po

rt
 (C

or
p 

Se
rv

ic
es

)
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
5.

00
7.

00
D

IR
EC

TO
RA

TE
 T

O
TA

L 
8.

35
8.

59
8.

87
9.

17
9.

32
9.

31
9.

33
8.

88
8.

63
8.

77
8.

29
8.

18
8.

50

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
O

ff
ic

e
Po

lic
y,

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
nd

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s
4.

89
5.

51
5.

60
5.

22
6.

73
10

.8
2

12
.9

5
9.

98
8.

11
7.

98
8.

22
7.

17
7.

00
8.

00
Co

rp
or

at
e 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

7.
71

8.
38

5.
33

5.
33

5.
25

5.
25

5.
33

5.
17

5.
58

5.
58

5.
00

3.
42

7.
00

8.
00

M
an

ag
em

en
t &

 S
up

po
rt

 (C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
es

)
1.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
6.

00
7.

00
EX

EC
U

TI
V

E 
O

FF
IC

E 
TO

TA
L 

5.
58

6.
47

5.
51

5.
12

6.
06

8.
72

10
.1

3
7.

99
7.

01
6.

93
6.

84
5.

68
7.

00

Pe
op

le
Jo

in
t C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e
13

.7
6

14
.0

4
14

.2
3

14
.4

4
15

.1
1

15
.1

1
14

.7
4

13
.6

9
13

.2
3

13
.1

4
12

.3
8

11
.7

5
11

.0
0

12
.0

0
H

om
es

 &
 C

om
m

un
iti

es
8.

90
8.

44
8.

35
8.

03
7.

63
7.

85
8.

02
8.

16
8.

42
7.

45
7.

18
6.

68
7.

00
8.

00
Ch

ild
re

ns
 S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e
10

.8
5

10
.9

3
11

.3
3

11
.5

4
11

.8
9

11
.6

7
11

.7
0

10
.8

6
10

.2
3

10
.3

9
10

.3
2

10
.4

6
9.

00
10

.5
0

Ed
uc

at
io

n,
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

&
 F

am
ili

es
7.

38
7.

40
7.

50
7.

91
8.

21
8.

86
9.

15
9.

06
8.

68
8.

88
7.

91
7.

98
7.

00
9.

00
Pr

og
ra

m
m

es
 D

ire
ct

or
1.

33
3.

67
3.

67
3.

67
3.

67
2.

33
2.

33
3.

33
3.

33
3.

33
1.

67
1.

67
6.

00
7.

00
D

IR
EC

TO
RA

TE
 T

O
TA

L 
(e

xc
lu

di
ng

 S
ch

oo
ls

)
10

.1
3

10
.1

5
10

.3
2

10
.5

3
10

.8
3

11
.0

7
11

.0
7

10
.5

5
10

.1
8

10
.0

6
9.

43
9.

14
9.

45

Pl
ac

e
Pl

an
ni

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
s

3.
01

3.
29

3.
50

4.
18

3.
35

4.
96

3.
86

4.
79

3.
45

4.
26

4.
73

4.
74

7.
00

9.
00

Bu
si

ne
ss

 T
ea

m
 (D

ev
 &

 R
eg

)
1.

16
1.

16
1.

16
1.

42
1.

03
3.

49
6.

33
8.

91
13

.5
4

16
.0

2
22

.3
0

22
.3

0
7.

00
7.

00
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l S

er
vi

ce
s

11
.2

6
11

.3
1

10
.9

7
10

.3
1

10
.3

2
10

.1
5

10
.2

4
9.

84
9.

58
9.

80
9.

77
8.

96
9.

00
10

.0
0

Ec
on

om
ic

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
7.

15
7.

38
6.

97
4.

41
4.

45
4.

80
5.

10
5.

45
5.

78
6.

12
6.

49
4.

58
7.

00
9.

00
St

ra
te

gi
c 

H
ou

si
ng

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
an

sp
or

t &
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

8.
08

7.
58

7.
77

9.
45

10
.4

7
9.

46
9.

12
7.

84
7.

18
6.

86
3.

46
7.

53
9.

00
10

.5
0

D
IR

EC
TO

RA
TE

 T
O

TA
L 

9.
34

9.
34

9.
16

8.
72

8.
81

8.
59

8.
69

8.
33

8.
18

8.
32

8.
39

7.
80

8.
50

CO
U

N
CI

L 
TO

TA
L 

(e
xc

lu
di

ng
 S

ch
oo

ls
)

9.
4

9.
49

9.
59

9.
65

9.
88

9.
96

10
.0

1
9.

52
9.

23
9.

24
8.

83
8.

50
8.

49

Page 60



 

 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Urban Enterprise: New Enterprise Units at Ocean Studios.  

Committee:    Cabinet  

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Evans 

CMT Member:   Anthony Payne (Director for Place) 

Author: Patrick Bowes, Urban Enterprise Project Manager 

Contact:    Tel: 01752 304882 
    e-mail : Patrick.bowes@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    Your ref. PB /UE 

Key Decision: Yes  
Part: I  
 
 
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
Ocean Studios development is a £4.06 million building project which could unlock £3.27 million 
public funding to create 1,900 sq metres of affordable artists’ studios in a deprived area that has the 
strong will to provide 104 new jobs, safeguarding 40, and forms one of the ‘Plans for Jobs’ projects. 
This report explains how the delivery of the project is facilitated by a capital contribution of £794,000 
from the City Council’s Investment Fund. In addition, the Council will act as guarantor to a loan of 
similar value, and this report explains how the potential financial impact of this enabling role will be 
mitigated.  
 
Ocean Studios is a Community Interest Company (CIC) in the creative sector, one of the priority 
sectors identified for growth. Plymouth artists have been appealing for studio space for a long time 
and Ocean Studios is the product of many years cooperation between several networks of local 
creative producers. The vacant, derelict Cooperage building at Royal William Yard – a Grade 1 listed 
building – provides the project with a fitting home.  
 
Ocean Studios will provide a unique mix of studio space, fully equipped workshops and business 
support to help stem the loss of over 600 student graduates in arts related degrees from the City’s 
University and College of Art who seek workspace and infrastructure but end up moving away from 
Plymouth because no such facilities currently exist. Ocean Studios based at Royal William Yard 
currently have a waiting list of 151 artists which is indicative of the actual demand.  
 
Additionally, Ocean Studios will run an extensive education and outreach programme focussing on 
the residents of Stonehouse as well as the many recovery houses and homeless centres nearby so 
that participants can take the vital stepping stone from worklessness, crime and addiction to 
recovery, self-esteem and eventual employment. 
 
The primary funder is the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) which seeks to address 
economic disparity issues in some of the most deprived parts of the South West Competitiveness 
area through supporting regeneration and creating and safeguarding jobs. This project forms part of 
the wider, extended Urban Enterprise Programme in Plymouth which is a job creation programme 
made up of revenue and capital elements which targets mainly unemployed people and equips them 
with the advice, skills and knowledge to set up their own business. 

Agenda Item 8Page 61



 

 

 
In addition to the £1.978 million sought from ERDF, Ocean Studios will be seeking a loan of £0.794 
million from the Growing Places Fund (GPF) administered by the Local Enterprise Partnership 
matched by the Investment Fund to enable delivery of the project and the Council proposes to act as 
guarantor for any balance of the loan outstanding at the end of the 10 year repayment period. The 
remainder of the funding package will be made up by £0.445 million from English Heritage and £0.052 
million from others. 
 
The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has indicated that the Council acting as guarantor will be a 
condition of their funding offer. Therefore without this support the project, with a total value of 
£4.06m is very unlikely to proceed. The report sets out the mitigation measures proposed to limit 
the financial liability on the Council.  
 
The rationale for this capital project is to respond to the lack of managed workspace provision in the 
deprived wards and provide an enterprise culture centred around enterprise hubs which create new 
work opportunities for local people and for them to grow their new start businesses and is embraced 
by the recently approved ‘Plan for Jobs’ as one of the nineteen projects. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/2014 – 2016/17:   
 
The commitments included within this project fully supports the Co-operative Council’s 
approach to ensuring that customers are engaged and that local needs are met. The project is 
integrated with the Plan for Jobs which recognises that addressing the significant issues of 
unemployment and worklessness cannot be tackled by the Council alone, and requires a multi-
partnership approach to have the greatest impact on the lives of Plymouth residents. 
 
The Urban Enterprise programme helps deliver the Corporate Plan’s four key outcomes:- 
 

• Pioneering Plymouth – through the cultural offer providing value to the city 
• Growing Plymouth – through creating a strong economy creating a range of job opportunities 
• Caring Plymouth – through helping people take control of their lives and communities 
• Confident Plymouth – Citizens wanting to live and work in Plymouth through introducing new 

enterprise hubs in the heart of deprived communities          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
The cost of the capital project is estimated at £4,063 and will be met from the following sources of 
funding 
£1.978m - ERDF 
£0.794m - Growing Places Loan (re-payable by Ocean Studios) 
£0.794m - Plymouth City Council Grant (met from the Investment Fund) 
£0.445m - English Heritage Grant 
£0.052m - Other Sources 
 
It should be noted that project delivery and funding arrangements are directly between Ocean 
Studios CIC and the funders (with the exception of the Council’s Grant). The Council will  be acting 
as  accountable body in respect of the Investment Fund contribution but is not associated with the 
procurement or project delivery. 
 
The decision will require the Council to act as Guarantor to a Growing Places Fund (GPF) loan up to 
a maximum of £0.794 million and secured by a charge against Ocean Studios lease should the project 

Page 62



 

 

fold. This guarantee will only come into effect at the end of the 10 year loan period should Ocean 
Studios CIC not be able repay the loan at that time. The Council will have no liability should the 
project fold within this initial 10 year period. Should it be necessary for the Council to step in as 
guarantor at the end of this period, this will involve the Council paying off the Growing Places Loan 
and entering into a loan itself with Ocean Studios as explained in 4.6. 
 
The development appraisal submitted with Ocean Studios business case makes clear that the capital 
repayment of the GPF loan in years 1 – 10 is likely to be significant.  However, it is anticipated the 
loan will be repaid directly by them through a combination of retained surpluses and a commercial 
loan arrangement at the end of the 10 year period if necessary. 
 
In order to mitigate the financial liability upon the Council, further refinement of the Heads of Terms 
seeks to achieve the aim that the Council will be funder of last resort. In the event that the Council is 
required to step in as guarantor, Ocean Studios CIC have been agreed to provide security in the 
form of a legal charge against the 35 year lease of the building of which 25 years will be left at year 
10. Ocean Studios lease the building from Urban Splash. 
 
The directors of Ocean Studios have carried out extensive research to ensure the project is viable 
and robust. This has included research into the demand from artists and the local Stonehouse 
community. Liaising with the higher and further education institutions has also formed part of this 
demand analysis. In addition to this the directors have investigated other successful studio models 
nationally to ensure the delivery of Ocean Studios achieves the high level of success anticipated. 
Whilst the the business case appears robust, it is important that the Council recognises there is an 
element of risk associated with an investment on this nature. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
In order that the proposal progresses satisfactorily through the ERDF application process, a number 
of key requirements need to be met which demonstrate that the economic disparities of Plymouth 
are being addressed and the core outputs of job creation and managed workspace area are being 
met. This needs to be set in the context of providing new opportunities for the local community, in 
particular those isolated from the labour market and demonstrate sustainability and long term value 
for money. 
 
Ocean Studios wish to explore the opportunities to use the rates rebate and the new business rates 
retention scheme to help reduce their costs and therefore increase repayments on the GPF loan. The 
Council will need to consider this as against rates legislation at a later date, as a formal decision 
cannot be made on this matter until after occupation of the building. 
 

 

Equality and Diversity 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No    

As part of the ERDF requirements the proposal submitted by the Millfields Trust needs to 
demonstrate a positive contribution towards equality or opportunity. The Trust has its own Equality 
Policy and has proposed Equality Indicators as part of their application for ERDF funding. 
  
 
 
 

Page 63



 

 

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
It is recommended that 
 

1. Subject to a favourable outcome to both the ERDF and GPF applications, the Council agrees 
to act as guarantor for Ocean Studios CIC for repayment of the balance of the Trust’s loan 
from the LEP outstanding to a maximum of £794,000 in accordance with an agreed Heads of 
Terms between Plymouth City Council and the Ocean Studios CIC which mitigates the 
potential financial impact upon the Council. Authority to agree the Heads of Terms to be 
delegated to the Director of Place. 
 

2. Subject to a favourable outcome to both the ERDF and GPF applications, the Council agrees 
to make a capital contribution of £794,000 from the Investment Fund. 

 
Reason – (1) The Heads of Terms will be further refined to mitigate the financial liability upon the 
Council and take account of comments made by officers. 
 
(2) The money invested through the investment fund meets the key criteria of significant leverage,   
creating jobs, and a rental income from the vacation of a Council owned premises 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
The Regional Growth Fund (RGF) has been comprehensively researched as potential match but an 
application made under RGF 2 in June 2011 was unsuccessful. 
 
An initial application to the LEP for a Growing Places Fund loan of £1.65 million was rejected on the 
grounds that the return of investment was insufficient.  
A subsequent offer from the LEP was to meet the shortfall of £1.588 million 50/50 with PCC’s 
Investment Fund  on condition that PCC act as guarantor at the 10 year stage (now subject of this 
report) or offer the whole amount with a pay back guarantee after 5 years. The latter was rejected in 
favour of the former. 
 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Cabinet – 12 February 2013 – Building for Jobs – Plymouth Investment Fund 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s44381/Building%20for%20jobs%20-

%20Plymouth%20Investment%20Fund.pdf 
Background papers: 
 
None    
 
Sign off:   
Fin AF/Pla

ceF 
EDC 
1314 
004.2
3.07.1
3 

Leg SC/1
6157 

Mon 
Off 

DV
S 
24/
07/
13 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  

Page 64



 

 

1.0 Background 
 
1.1 The primary goal is to create jobs through halting the artistic exodus from Plymouth providing 

affordable artistic workspace that forms a creative hub, capable of attracting talent locally as 
well as from across the region. However, for some people, employment may be an unrealistic 
or a very distant aspiration and for those on recovery programmes, premature return to 
employment could set back the recovery. Therefore, in addition to job creation, Ocean 
Studios will through outreach programming aim to bring at least 10 people into economic 
activity who previously have been suffering from either substance or alcohol abuse. This in 
turn will generate an annual benefit in excess of £250,000 per annum.  

 
1.2 This Urban Enterprise hub scheme has been conceived to create jobs for local people from a 

deprived ward and bring social, cultural and economic benefits. As well as the provision of 
specialist provision for artists in the form of a unique managed workspace, the integration of 
education and outreach programmes also ensures accessibility to all, offering local people, 
some with specific barriers, the opportunity to acquire skills in a range of art disciplines as a 
catalyst for them to seek work opportunities elsewhere.  

 
1.3 The total cost of the project is £4.06 million with £1.978 million being applied for from ERDF, 

£0.794 million being applied for from Growing Places Fund, £0.794 million from the 
Investment Fund, £0.445 million from English Heritage, and £0.052 million from others. 
 

1.4 The Urban Enterprise extension – Strategic Investment framework (SIF) Phase 2 discussion 
paper to Cabinet Planning on 26th November explained the difficulties that a project such as 
Ocean Studios CIC would have in paying back the entirety of its Growing Places Fund (GPF) 
loan within the 10 year stipulated term for repayment owing to its status as a social 
enterprise. The outcome was a letter sent expressing the Council’s potential intent to act as a 
guarantor of the capital loan repayment beyond the 10 year Growing Places Fund loan, subject 
to Cabinet decision on this report and the Council being able to agree suitable contractual 
arrangements with the LEP for the guarantee. 
 

1.5 The Building for Jobs – Plymouth Investment Fund Report to 12th February Cabinet makes 
clear the types of project that might benefit from the fund citing Ocean Studios as an example 
of a quality business premises that would fill a current gap in the market at the same time as 
leverage funding from ERDF and GPF and forms the basis of an application for gap funding. 
This forms the rationale for recommending a capital contribution of £0.794 million from the 
Investment Fund, explained in 2.4 below. 
 

1.6 The Ocean Studios CIC project also features in ‘Plans for Jobs’ ‘Project 5’ which aims to 
create a series of managed business hubs to support the growth of start-ups, capitalising upon 
the success of the Urban Enterprise programme, through the development of a series of 
projects specifically targeting disadvantaged groups in the City.  

  
 
2.0      Capital Programme Business Case 
 
2.1 The project status details and programme milestones are consistent with the ERDF and GPF 

timescales. With regard to costs / budget and risks, a detailed assessment of cost and an 
agreed schedule of consultant costs and due diligence surveys has been produced and 
submitted as part of the various ERDF and GPF funding applications.  
 

Page 65



 

 

2.2 A full application was submitted to ERDF on 28th February and will be reported to the 16th 
September ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting. 

 
2.3 A GPF  loan offer is expected to be made after the 23rd July LEP Board meeting after due 

diligence.  
 

2.4 A full Capital Programme Business Case (CPBC) was submitted to the Capital Delivery Board 
on 19th July following meetings held between the Council and Ocean Studios. This provided 
information about the project details, and its request for a capital contribution from the 
Investment Fund on the basis that the project delivers:- 

 
• Leverage of £3.27 million from other public sector funding 
• Creates 104 jobs, safeguards a further 40 jobs and will involve approximately 

40 construction jobs 
• A rental income from a premises which artists will vacate and move into Ocean 

Studios  
 
The CPBC also provided an update of material submitted in the ERDF and GPF applications, 
to inform the required contractual arrangements with the Council as guarantor and what the 
financial risks to the Council would be at the end of year 10, and how they are mitigated 
through the Heads of Terms described below. 

 
2.5 The business case indicates an annual operational surplus will be achieved. It should be noted 

that the current plan is based on 100% occupancy (assumption evidenced by actual demand) 
after first and second years at 85% and 95% occupancy. The return on investment highlights a 
limited level of financial risk to the Council at year 10.  Performance against the business plan 
will be regularly monitored, and it has been agreed Ocean Studios CIC would formally assess 
whether the outstanding loan could be repaid from commercial borrowing from year 5 of the 
GPF loan term 

 
2.6 Legal Services, Finance and Capital Strategy teams have been involved through the project 

development stages. 
 
3.0 Mitigation of PCC role acting as guarantor 
 
3.1 The Council has already shared draft Heads of Terms with Ocean Studios who believe they 

are reasonable and realistic. The Heads of Terms will be further refined in response to any 
terms of offer made by the Local Enterprise Partnership should a loan offer materialise. 
Plymouth City Council will prepare a legal charge, a deed of guarantee with the LEP ( which 
together with the Heads of Terms document will be drafted to ensure the Council is the 
funder of last resort), and the loan arrangements after year 10 with Ocean Studios CIC.  

 
4.0      Heads of Terms 
 
4.1  The overarching requirement from the Council’s perspective is that Ocean Studios must 

explore every opportunity to minimise the Council’s liability in its proposed role to act as 
guarantor.  

 
4.2 At the expiration of 5 years after the date of the LEP loan agreement, Ocean Studios CIC will 

instigate an assessment of whether the GPF loan then outstanding could be repaid from 
commercial borrowing over a term of up to a further 20 years.  

 

Page 66



 

 

4.3 If commercial borrowing can then be arranged, Ocean Studios CIC will enter into the relevant 
funding obligations, and once in receipt of the commercial loan monies, will repay all GPF 
funding then outstanding. 

 
4.4 If the assessment of commercial borrowing does not identify any suitable lender, Ocean 

Studios CIC will repeat the process outlined in 4.2 at the end of years 6, 7, 8 and 9. 
 
4.5 If these further assessments prove ineffective, the Council will undertake to provide funding 

(not exceeding £0.794 million) to enable the GPF funding outstanding to be repaid at the 
expiration of 10 years from the original loan agreement. 

 
4.6 The outcome of 4.5 would be the Council repay such outstanding borrowing to the LEP and 

Ocean Studios CIC will enter into a new loan agreement with the Council on the prevailing 
Public Works Loan Board Maturity Rate (PWLB), and on the same basis as in the Heads of 
terms, except that the loan period shall be an additional 15 years. 

 
4.7 Ocean Studios CIC will also enter into a Legal charge for the benefit of the Council over the 

site and premises from completion of the guarantee agreement with the LEP. This charge may 
rank behind any charge imposed by any other external funder of the development works, such 
as the LEP. 

 
5.0 Next steps 
 
5.1 After a positive discussion at the 23rd July 2013 LEP Board meeting, a final unconditional offer 

letter is required from the LEP by 30th August to allow sufficient time for the appraisal work 
to be completed in connection with the ERDF grant application referred to in 5.2 below. 

 
5.2 Following the 22nd July ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting, a number of pre-

appraisal issues need to be addressed in readiness for recommending a decision at 16th 
September ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting which includes confirmation 
of match funding.  

 
5.3 Contractual arrangements between the Council and Ocean Studios and the LEP to be finalised 

after successful outcomes to the ERDF and GPF applications. 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Revised May 2013 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject: Addition of a Special Educational Needs Support Centre to Keyham 

Barton Catholic Primary School 

Committee:   Cabinet   

Date:   6 August 2013   

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Williams       
          

CMT Member:  Carole Burgoyne (Director for People)   

Author: Jayne Gorton (School Organisation, Access and Services to Schools 
Manager) 

Contact details:  Tel: 01752 307472 
   Email: jayne.gorton@plymouth.gov.uk     

Ref:   JH.JEG.JP(CAB)03 (07/06/13) 

Key Decision:  No    

Part:   One   
 
Purpose of the report:  
The recent Special Educational Needs (SEN) audit of needs in the city indicated that there has been a 
year on year rise in the number of statemented pupils with an Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC – 
may be referred to as ASD).  

The proportion of these statemented pupils requiring specialist provision has risen in both the 
secondary and primary sector. Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School currently has the 
opportunity, working with the Diocese, to make considerable alterations to the school and adjacent 
presbytery building which would provide a centrally located support base for ASC students and 
associated break out spaces, enabling the school to contribute to the Council’s strategic requirement 
of providing additional capacity to meet the special educational needs of complex children with ASC 
including specialist teaching input, within a mainstream setting. The school currently provides five 
places for ASC pupils from across the city.  

This report seeks: 

1. authorisation to undertake formal consultations with all interested parties on proposals to add 
a SEN support centre for complex children with autistic spectrum condition to Keyham Barton 
Catholic Primary School with effect from September 2014, using the facilities to be renovated 
by the Diocese. 

2. authorisation for the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, in light of the outcomes 
of and responses to the formal consultations, to determine whether to publish formal 
proposals (Public Notice) to undertake the above change affecting Keyham Barton Catholic 
Primary School; and to determine whether to implement the proposal outlined in any such 
Public Notice.         

The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17: 
The proposal helps to meet the City Vision, co-operative values, co-operative objectives, and co-
operative outcomes in the following ways: 

City Vision – Britain’s Ocean City – improves the education opportunities of children with ASC 
which will improve their quality of life. 

Agenda Item 11Page 69



 

Revised May 2013 

Co-operative Value – We are democratic – provide parents, staff and governors at the school, 
local residents and other stakeholders with the opportunity to participate in the decision making on 
the proposal. 

Objective – Pioneering Plymouth – provides improved service for children with ASC and their 
families making effective use of resources available. 

Objective – Caring Plymouth – provides children with ASC with specialist facilities that will 
promote independence and reduce social inequality. 

Objective – Growing Plymouth – provides additional specialist provision for the growing number 
of children with autistic spectrum condition within a mainstream environment. 

Outcome – Pioneering Plymouth – making use of the facilities to be renovated by the Diocese at 
Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School would help to address the growing need for specialist 
support for primary age children with ASC, using resources wisely. 

Outcome – Growing Plymouth – providing sufficient specialist support places that inspire 
children with ASC to attend and enjoy school would be an integral part of the city’s top performing 
education system and ensure that they achieve better qualifications and find high quality jobs,  

Outcome – Caring Plymouth – providing specialist provision for primary age children with ASC 
within a mainstream school would provide them with inclusive educational opportunities and narrow 
the gap in equality of access to support, helping them take control of their lives.          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
• Provision has been made within the 2013/14 People Directorate revenue budget to meet the 

minimal costs of the consultation. 

• The funding for the necessary capital developments would be provided by a loan from the 
Diocese to the Parish to be re-paid over a seven year period. The Parish would make the loan 
available to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School to complete the works. The loan repayment 
costs will be subject to a formal written agreement between the Diocese, the school, the early 
years provider and the Council reflecting the levels of mutual benefit based on floor area. 

• The local authority would commission Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School for the additional 
places and agree via the Support Centre Contract to make a contribution towards the capital 
loan repayment for the additional capacity in the ASC support centre in the initial seven years 
which is estimated at £20,000 per annum. This would be funded from the High Needs Block of 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The remaining costs would be funded by the school.  

• There could be an increase in the number of teaching and other staff – funding would be based on 
the number of commissioned places allocated through the formula funding for Support Centres 
charged to High Needs Block of the DSG. It would be for the school to decide how to allocate 
the funding but the local authority would expect this to include the appointment of a teacher in 
charge. The cost of the additional places is expected to be met by balancing the number of places 
in other settings and preventing the increase in band 4 bespoke packages for mainstream classes 
which would otherwise be necessary.  

• The development of additional provision will ensure that children with complex ASC can 
continue to have their needs met in the local area in line with parental preference, government 
guidelines and without the need for consideration of independent specialist places out of the city 
at a very high cost to the local authority and involving substantial travel and associated costs.  

• Five children currently at the school would transfer to the support centre and additional 
transport costs could be incurred for the additional five children depending on where they live. 

  

Page 70



 

Revised May 2013 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 

The facilities will be renovated in line with current regulations and health and safety during 
construction will be dealt with by the contractors and the school. There are no community safety 
issues related to this proposal. The risk management for this facility is incorporated within the 
school’s own risk management procedures. 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 

Schools are a key facility within their local communities and support wider cohesion in the area. An 
equality impact assessment has not been completed as the facilities that will house the Support 
Centre will be renovated prior to opening and therefore designed to current building regulations 
which are fully DDA compliant. In addition these are community facilities which are open to all; 
therefore issues surrounding discrimination on the basis of age, faith, gender, race or sexual 
orientation are not applicable. 

The Council’s Strategy for Change 2008 states that “The Council expects all schools in Plymouth to 
be inclusive. All pupils with Special Education Needs will, if appropriate, have the opportunity to begin 
early years and primary education as part of, or co-located with a mainstream school.” This proposal 
supports that aspiration. 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
It is recommended that: 

1. Authorisation is given to undertake formal consultations with all interested parties on 
proposals to add a SEN support centre for complex children with autistic spectrum condition 
to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School with effect from September 2014, using the facilities 
to be renovated by the Diocese. 

a) The proposed change would make effective use of the renovated facilities at the school and 
provide additional specialist provision for the growing number of children with autistic 
spectrum condition within a mainstream environment. 

b) The proposed change is considered to be in the best interests of children, families and staff. 

2. Authorisation is given for the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People to determine 
whether to publish formal proposals (Public Notice) to undertake the above change affecting 
Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School in light of the outcomes of and responses to the 
formal consultations; and to determine whether to implement the proposal outlined in any such 
Public Notice. 

c) The Council is required to carry out a period of formal consultation and consider all the 
outcomes of and responses to that consultation before deciding whether to publish a formal 
notice of the proposed change. Therefore it is recommended that the Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People, is authorised to determine whether to publish formal proposals to 
undertake the above change affecting Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School in light of the 
outcomes of and responses to the formal consultation. 

d) If a formal proposal is published, the third stage of the statutory procedures requires the 
Council to consider all the outcomes of and responses to the public notice and make a final 
determination whether or not to proceed with the proposal. Therefore, it is recommended 
that if a public notice is published, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People is 
authorised to make a final determination about this proposal. 

 
 

Page 71



 

Revised May 2013 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 
Doing nothing was considered and rejected on the basis that Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School 
currently has the opportunity, working with the Diocese, to make considerable alterations to the 
school and adjacent presbytery building which would provide a centrally located support base for 
ASC students and associated break out spaces, enabling the school to contribute to the Council’s 
strategic requirement of providing additional capacity to meet the special educational needs of 
complex children with ASC including specialist teaching input, within a mainstream setting. There is a 
need for additional facilities for the growing number of children with ASC and the school does not 
need the additional space for mainstream education. 
 
Published work / information: 
Plymouth City Council Children’s Services Strategy for Change Investment for Children 
Inclusion Strategy 2005-2008 
 
Background papers: 
 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Strategic Investment Proposal – 
Early Years and SEN – Schools 
Forum 5 March 2013 

X         

Plymouth’s SEND Strategy 
Development proposed work 
programme for 2013/14 – April 
2013 

X         

 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin PeopleF 

EC1314 
001 AM 
30/05/13 

Leg LT 
17211 
030613 

Mon 
Off 

TH
01
16 

HR N/A Assets  N/A IT N/A Strat 
Proc 

N/A 

Originating SMT Member: Judith Harwood, Assistant Director, Education Learning and Family Support 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes  
 

 

Page 72



 

Revised May 2013 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Since developing the Inclusion Strategy in 2004, we have worked to the principle that all pupils 
with Special Educational Needs should have the opportunity to begin early years and primary 
education as part of, or co-located with a mainstream primary school. 

1.2 Within Plymouth it is recognised that over the past 10 years, knowledge and understanding of 
the needs of children and young people with autism and earlier identification of children with 
ASC/complex communication needs have led to a dramatic increase in the need for provision 
in mainstream schools. 

1.3 The number of children in the city being diagnosed with autistic spectrum condition is rising 
and the proposed refurbishment of facilities at Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School and 
the adjacent presbytery provides an ideal opportunity to provide a centrally located support 
base for ASC students with associated break out spaces and specialist teaching input within a 
mainstream setting. 

2.0 Legislative changes 

2.1 The Children and Families Bill 2013 seeks to reform provision for children and young people 
with Special Educational Needs. The key changes proposed are: 

• Extend the SEND legislation from birth to 25; 

• Young people and parents to have greater control and choice in decisions; 

• Ensuring needs are properly met. 

It is expected that the Bill will receive Royal Assent in April 2014. 

2.2 The Bill takes forward the reform programme that is set out in Support and Aspiration: A 
new approach to special educational needs and disability: progress and next steps, by: 

• Replacing statements with a new birth to 25 education, health and care plan; 

• Offering families personal budgets; 

• Improving co-operation between all the services that support children and their families, 
particularly requiring local authorities and health authorities to work together. 

It is expected that local authorities will be required to implement the birth to 25 education, 
health and care plans, and publish the Local Offer in September 2014. 

2.3 In 2010 two key reviews were completed within Plymouth’s Children and Young People’s 
Plan. In July 2010 a review of provision for children and young people with autistic spectrum 
disorders resulted in recommendations for the improvement of provision and to meet 
identified gaps. In December 2010 a multi-agency Task and Finish Group review of support 
available to children and young people with ASC and their families resulted in an improvement 
plan to develop a more coherent, multi-agency response to need. Both reports highlighted the 
importance of recognising how early support, provision of information and co-ordination of 
services would improve outcomes for children, young people and their families both in 
relation to education and learning and out of school.  

2.4 In view of the national reform programme, there is a need to plan for our local 
implementation. This also provides us with an opportunity to review our local provision for 
children with SEND and the outcomes that children and young people are achieving through 
this provision. 

2.5 A detailed action plan is currently being developed to produce a local Special Educational 
Needs and Disability Strategy and implementation framework by April 2014. 

 

Page 73



 

Revised May 2013 

3.0 Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School 
3.1 Keyham Barton has a planned admission number in reception of 30 and a forecast number on 

roll in 2014 of 208. It is a smaller than average sized primary school. The school’s latest 
Ofsted report in February 2012 grades the school as ‘good’ having made significant 
improvements since the previous inspection and continuing to improve rapidly. 

3.2 Pupils’ attainment is broadly average, but achievement is good when progress from their 
individual starting points is taken into account. The school is determined to raise achievement 
further by ensuring that teaching is of high quality and always fully challenges pupils to learn. 

3.3 Behaviour is good and the care and respect that pupils show to each other are a strength of 
the school, reflecting good spiritual, moral, social and cultural provision. Pupils, parents and 
carers believe the school is a safe place. 

3.4 The school’s accurate monitoring and inspection evidence show that, overall, teaching is good; 
some is outstanding. Pupils say they enjoy their learning. Pupils have clear learning targets and 
know what they have to do to meet them. Marking and assessment of their work support 
them well in making good progress. 

3.5 The proportions of disabled pupils and those with special educational needs are below 
average, while the proportion of pupils with statements of special educational needs is broadly 
in line with the national situation. 

3.6 The school makes specially resourced provision for up to five pupils between the ages of 4-11 
with special educational needs who have autistic spectrum condition, which is very effective. 
Helpful personal support and the school’s inclusive practice enable these pupils to join 
mainstream classes and make good progress. 

3.7 Systems for tracking and monitoring pupils’ progress give the school a very clear picture of 
the good progress being made by individuals, groups and the school as a whole. 

3.8 The executive headteacher has introduced effective changes to the curriculum and teaching. 
The quality of leadership and management, including governance, has risen. All leaders have a 
clear vision for the school’s further improvement and pursue this relentlessly. Pupils and 
parents are positive about the direction being taken by the school. Staff show total 
commitment to the school and its pupils. 

4.0 Specialist facilities at Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School 
4.1 Currently Keyham Barton RC has five allocated places each academic year in a fully inclusive 

Enhanced Specialist Provision Unit (ESP). There is agreed 4.0 Teaching Assistant funding with 
three Mealtime Assistants for lunchtime provision. There is also a 0.5 Teacher funding. 

4.2 The unit is currently filled with four pupils but in the past year the school has not been the 
first choice of some parents. This is because the provision outside of the inclusive classroom 
practise does not have some specific requirements for children with high needs Autistic 
Spectrum Disorders. These requirements are a sensory room; break out spaces and quiet 
areas. 

4.3 In addition to this the outdoor space for the children within the unit is challenging as they are 
unable to be apart from the playground which at times can be too overwhelming in size and 
space. 

4.4 Lunchtimes too are a challenge, as the school lunch hall is off-site and again can be too 
overwhelming for these children at lunch time. 

 

Page 74



 

Revised May 2013 

4.5 Despite this, Keyham Barton is a very successful unit which works well for the children 
notwithstanding the difficulties the site and the building bring. Ideally the unit needs the 
previously mentioned requirements in order to provide for children with ASC diagnosis that 
would otherwise be catered for in the current provision. 

4.6 The school works closely with the Communication and Interaction Team in ensuring that the 
children are experiencing an inclusive education but who are also not being exposed to a 
learning environment that is overloading their sensory and physical needs. 

4.7 The unit has a growing expertise amongst the adults working with the ASC children. The 
teacher-in-charge has recently undertaken the National Award for SENCo accreditation (60 
Credits at Masters Level) and the ‘Understanding Autism’ module at Plymouth University.  A 
Teaching Assistant, whilst studying for her Foundation Degree has also completed the Autism 
module at the University.  Two other school Teaching Assistants plus the Parent Support 
Advisor are undertaking the Local Authority ELSA training which will be invaluable to the unit’s 
work with ASC children and their understanding of social communication and emotional 
wellbeing. In addition, a further two Teaching Assistants have completed the course ‘Autism 
and TEACCH’ which has developed inclusive practise and strategies even further. 

4.8 The proposed addition of five extra places at the school is fully supported by the governors, 
staff and parish and has been ratified at a full meeting of the Governors in the spring of 2013. 

5.0 Proposed support centre 
5.1 The local authority will work with Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School to develop a 

suitable support centre that will cater for 10 pupils and will mirror the development of 
provision completed at Goosewell Primary School in 2012 on the other side of the city. 

5.2 Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School currently has the opportunity, working with the 
Diocese, to make considerable alterations to the school and adjacent presbyter building which 
would provide a centrally located support base for ASC students and associated break out 
spaces. 

5.3 The proposed support centre would be a local authority provision commissioned from 
Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School and managed by the school on the local authority’s 
behalf through a service level agreement. The centre would initially accommodate 10 children, 
four of whom already attend the school. An evaluation of the service will be undertaken after 
three years to determine how it is meeting the identified need. The evaluation will inform the 
specification for the service level agreement for the following three years. 

5.4 Children would be allocated to the Support Centre by the local authority SEN Panel and 
would be registered as pupils of Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School. 

5.5 The school has the right ethos and a record of making provision for ASC children under their 
existing arrangements and this proposal would be an extension of that expertise. 

5.6 Keyham Barton is well located to meet the needs of pupils in the south west of the city. 
Current primary specialist ASC provision in the west of the city is at Mayflower Primary 
School, and this proposal would support providing provision that is more evenly spread across 
the city, with a potential saving on transport costs. 

6.0 Benefits and disadvantages  
6.1 Benefits of adding a support centre to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School include: 

• Improves the accommodation for the school and for the parish community use. 

Page 75



 

Revised May 2013 

• Provides strategic benefits to the city and the local area by providing additional facilities 
for the increasing number of primary age children with ASC. 

• Provides primary age children with ASC with inclusive educational opportunities within a 
mainstream school. 

• Narrows the gap in equality of access to support, increasing capacity in the south west of 
the city and providing choice for parents. 

• Builds on the school’s successful track record of dealing with children with ASC and 
makes effective use of the expertise and specialist knowledge already developed in the 
school.  

• Provides specialist support places to children with ASC that will inspire them to attend 
and enjoy school, and ensure that they achieve better qualifications and find high quality 
jobs. 

6.2 Disadvantages of adding a support centre to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School include: 

• The facilities could be used to expand the overall numbers in the school but additional 
places are not required in this locality. 

• Children with ASC are currently spread throughout the city and additional costs could be 
incurred in transporting them to a support centre in Keyham. 

• Additional set up costs could be incurred in equipping and staffing the support centre, but 
these would be covered by the support centre formula funding and Children’s Integrated 
Disability Service equipment budget. 

• There is no secondary school close by that has enhanced provision for secondary aged 
pupils with ASC although Stoke Damerel Community College does have a provision, and 
St Boniface’s RC School have significant experience in this area. 

• The development of the building to provide the support with facilities is part of a broader 
building project and detailed plans are not yet available.  However there is the 
opportunity to influence the plans to ensure the support centre provision is fit for 
purpose. 

7.0 Statutory procedures 
7.1 The local authority is responsible for the provision of appropriate SEN support across the 

area. This proposal can therefore be made by either the local authority or the governors. 
Where the local authority undertakes the statutory procedure the city council is the decision 
maker but the governors have a right of appeal within four weeks of the decision being taken 
to the schools adjudicator. The school is fully supportive of this proposal and has asked the 
local authority to undertake the statutory procedure. 

7.2 The first stage of statutory procedures – normally 6 weeks - is to hold detailed and formal 
consultations with all interested parties, including pupils, parents, staff and governors, as well 
as all other schools in the city and other public agencies. There are detailed provisions in DfE 
guidance as to the prescribed information that must be made available to all consultees, which 
includes the details of the proposal, and the impact of the proposal on students, staff, 
governors and the local community. 

7.3 Following completion of stage 1, the second stage prescribes that the local authority must give 
careful consideration to all the outcomes of and responses to the consultation and then 
decide in the light of those outcomes and responses whether to publish formal proposals, in 
the form of a public notice, to add a support centre to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary 
School.  

Page 76



 

Revised May 2013 

 

7.4 Following completion of stage 2, the third stage prescribes that the local authority must give 
careful consideration to all the outcomes of and responses to the public notice and then 
decide in the light of those outcomes and responses whether to implement the proposal to 
add a support centre to Keyham Barton Catholic Primary School. 

7.5 The fourth and final stage is to implement the proposals. 

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

  
Subject: Contract Award – Domestic Abuse Victim Support, Recovery 

and Prevention Services 

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor McDonald  

CMT Member:   Carole Burgoyne (Director for People) 

Author: Kate Lattimore, Project Officer 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 304955 
    email:kate.lattimore@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:     

Key Decision: Yes  
Part: I   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
This report summarises the recent tender process for two separate services for victims of domestic 
abuse.   

Service A will support people assessed as being at a ‘higher risk of serious harm’ and 
incorporates: 

• Qualified Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs), 

• Support for victims going through the Specialist Domestic Violence Courts, 

• Support to people staying at the women’s Refuge,  

• A service for the children of victims,  

• A Devon & Cornwall Probation funded victim liaison officer,  

And  

• A volunteer co-ordinator.   

This service will replace the current domestic abuse victim support contract which is due to end on 
30 November 2013.   

Service B is new provision that will focus on supporting people who have been assessed 
as being at a ‘lower risk of serious harm’ to prevent escalation of their needs.  This service 
will also be required to create initiatives to raise awareness amongst agencies and the general public 
of domestic abuse.    

The report recommends the awarding of the contracts to the winning provider(s). 

The provision of support services to enhance safety, promote recovery, provide measures of 
protection and provide support to prevent re-occurrences to victims of domestic abuse, and their 
children, is one of the key recommendations in the Commissioning Plan for Domestic Abuse Services 
approved by Cabinet in 2012. 

Agenda Item 12Page 79



 

 

The level of expenditure on the future services to replace this provision required a full competitive 
tender in accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders.  This competitive procurement 
was run a two stage process. 

Contract award information is submitted to Cabinet as a separate confidential report.           
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 – 2016/17  
 
Caring Plymouth City Council 

• Prioritise Prevention: By creating initiatives that raise awareness of domestic abuse and 
measures to combat it, whilst supporting people to recover and build their self-esteem and 
confidence and thus  prevent choosing unhealthy relationships in future 

  
• Children, Young People and Adults are Safe and Confident in their Communities: 

By targeting services in the areas with highest prevalence of domestic abuse within the City, 
most of which are also areas with highest deprivation levels; and by working closely with 
Police and Probation to ensure protection and safety of victims, prosecution of perpetrators 
and increase the reporting of domestic abuse  

 
• Help People Take Control over their Lives and Communities: By supporting people who use 

services to have choice, control and influence over how those services are developed and 
provided; and building individual capacity and resilience amongst people who have been 
victims of domestic abuse (through the development of pattern changing skills and promotion 
of recovery). 

          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 

As this is a priority service area for the City it was agreed that additional investment would be 
allocated to focus on awareness raising and prevention.  This alternative approach will enable the city 
to achieve a reduction in demand for crisis intervention and longer term support over the full life 
span of the contracts. 
 
The current annual spend on the existing specialist domestic abuse victim support contract is 
£510,495 per annum.  This includes partnership funding from Devon & Cornwall Police. 
 
Overall the costs of the new service provision totals £1,745,618 for the period 2013 – 2016 and 
£1,585,560 for 2016-2018.  This includes a commitment for partnership funding from Devon & 
Cornwall Probation Services and Devon & Cornwall Police. 
 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 

• Child Poverty: part of the service will provide support to the children of victims, supporting 
them to overcome any adversity they may have suffered as a result of witnessing domestic 
abuse, helping them to thrive and develop into well-functioning adults. 

• Community Safety:  this service will aim to increase brought to justice outcomes by working 
closely with the Police Domestic Abuse Unit to provide support to victims; by providing 
support to victims attending the Specialist Domestic Violence Courts, by attending the 
MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference - a victim-focused meeting where 

Page 80



 

 

information is shared on the highest risk cases of domestic abuse between criminal justice, 
health, child protection, housing practitioners) and by raising awareness about domestic abuse 
to the public. 

  

  

Equality and Diversity 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. No adverse impact was identified as a result of 
this however contract monitoring arrangements will continue to assess any impacts post contract 
award. 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/eia_domestic_abuse_commissioning_plan.pdf 
 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 
To award a three year contracts, containing an option to extend the contracts for a further three 
years, to the ‘most economically advantageous tenderers’ as identified the Contract Award Report 
(Part II report). 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
The option of not awarding any contract was considered but disregarded due to the importance of 
ensuring Domestic Abuse Victim Support, Recovery and Prevention Services continue to be available. 
 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Commissioning Plan for the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership 2012-2019 
 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s40866/Domestic%20Abuse%20Commissioning%
20Plan%20Final%20Appendix.pdf 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin Peopl

eF 
AC13
14 
001 
TOCS 
10/07/
2013 
 

Leg 1786
4/SC 

Mon 
Off 

TH
01
20 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

JK/S
PU/
CA/
324/
0713 

Originating SMT Member Dave Simpkins 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  

Page 81



 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

Domestic Abuse is a serious social problem and human rights violation.  It is hugely underreported, 
widespread and has no boundaries, affecting anyone regardless of age, sex, culture, ethnic or religious 
group, gender, sexuality, disability, income or lifestyle.   Domestic abuse has physical, emotional, 
social and economic consequences.   However, with good service provision that includes awareness 
raising and prevention, many people affected by domestic abuse can lead healthier and happier lives.     

A Commissioning Plan for Domestic Abuse Services was approved by Cabinet in 2012 and contained 
information showing that although there has been a decrease in the number of people who are 
repeat victims, there continues to be a high prevalence of domestic abuse in Plymouth (27% of all 
violent crime in the City is domestic abuse related, compared to a national figure of 16%).  This is 
despite local investment in preventative and support services and the commitment and work of the 
members of the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership Board.  

Combating the prevalence of domestic abuse requires on-going investment to allow the continuation 
of the current victim support recovery model and increased investment in prevention and early 
intervention to meet the city’s vision and strategic aims 

 

2. CURRENT SITUATION 

Currently there is one jointly commissioned service working holistically with victims/survivors of 
domestic abuse.  It works with victims aged 16+ and their families: 

 
Service provider Name of service Annual contract value 
Sanctuary Supported Living PDAS (Plymouth Domestic Abuse 

Service) 
£510,495 

The service consists of different elements, although they may be bridged according to need, and are 
as follows: 

• Qualified Independent Domestic Abuse Advisors (IDVA’s) 

• Measures of support, recovery protection aimed at helping re-build lives and preventing the 
cycle of domestic abuse. 

• Support into the women’s Refuge (11 units for women and their children) and 13 dispersed 
units, or ‘safe houses’ which are adapted social houses with additional security features, 
located in different parts of the City     

• Support through the specialist domestic abuse courts 

• Children’s service 

• Volunteer co-ordinator 

The current contract expires 30th November 2013.   

The service was commissioned in 2008 and its creation brought together what were previously three 
separate contracts and this integrated support model has been recognised as a significant step 
forward for the City.    This type of integrated model of service design is recognised nationally as best 
practice as it allows for a rapid response in meeting victims needs which is so crucial when dealing 
with those cases deemed high or medium risk of serious harm or murder.  Due to the overwhelming 
demand for this service, and the emergence of a new national risk assessment tool called the DASH 
that was rolled out for use by Police and all agencies dealing with domestic abuse in 2009/10, it was 
agreed that this service would only deal with those cases assessed a high or medium risk using this 

Page 82



 

 

tool.   This has left a gap for those lower level cases which if captured early could be prevented from 
deteriorating into a more serious situation. 
 

3. NEW SERVICES  

In light of the above, one of the key recommendations of the Commissioning Plan was to procure 
two victim support, recovery and prevention services: 

- Service A to support people assessed as being at ‘higher risk’.   This service was to retain the key  
positive elements of the existing service; i.e. providing an integrated service consisting of qualified 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs), support for victims going through the Specialist 
Domestic Violence Courts, support in the women’s Refuge, a service for the children of victims, and 
a volunteer co-ordinator and introduce a new element a probation funded victim liaison officer 

- Service B, a new service, to focus on prevention, early intervention and awareness raising.  This 
service will provide information, guidance and support to victims of domestic abuse who have been 
assessed as standard or low level risk in accordance with the DASH risk assessment, using measures 
that aim to prevent escalation of need, thus helping to reduce overall prevalence and re-occurrence 
of domestic abuse.   This service will also create initiatives to raise awareness amongst agencies and 
the general public of domestic abuse and the measures available to combat it, aiming to reduce 
overall prevalence of domestic abuse. 

 

4. PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

A competitive procurement was run as a two stage process with a Pre-Qualification Stage (Pre-
Qualification Questionnaire) followed by an Invitation to Tender (ITT).   

The invitation to tender document was published electronically via the Devon Procurement Portal 
(www.devontenders.gov.uk) in accordance with the following timeline: 
 

Activity Date: Service A 

Return of PQQ 4.02.13 

Dispatch of ITT for Service A to successful applicants 1.3.13 

Tender Return Date 4.4.13 

Evaluation of tenders completed and selection of successful 
Tenderer 

2.5.13 

Dispatch of ITT for Service B to successful applicants 5.4.13 

Tender Return Date 9.5.13 

Evaluation of tenders completed and selection of successful 
Tenderer 

4.6.13 

Estimated Service Commencement 1.12.13 

 

The Pre-Qualification Stage  

This stage required Providers to submit a Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ). Each PQQ was 
assessed and scores were used to select which Providers were to be shortlisted for the next stage of 
the procurement.  

The following sections of the PQQ contained mandatory questions, the responses to which were 
reviewed and treated as pass or fail criteria: 

Page 83



 

 

Professional and Business Standing 

Financial 

Insurance 

Data Protection 

Timescales 

In addition the following sections of the PQQ were evaluated and awarded a score. 

Section Weighting (%) 

 

Prime Contractor/Sub-Contracting  5 

Quality Management 10 

Health & Safety Policy 5 

Health & Safety  6 

Equality & Diversity Policy 5 

Equality & Diversity 6 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People Policy 9 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People 10 

Disputes  5 

Business Capability 32 

Recent Contracts/References  7 

These weightings and the scoring methodology for each section were published in the PQQ 
documentation. 

A minimum of two references were required.  All Providers invited to ITT stage received good and 
relevant references. 

A total of 10 PQQ’s were received.   Of these, six providers for each contract were shortlisted and 
invited to tender.   
 
5. TENDER EVALUATION METHODOLOGY                         

The project evaluation weightings were agreed prior to despatch of each tender documentation and 
were published in the ITT:  

Higher Risk Service A: 

 
 

Award Criteria Weighting (%) Sub Criteria (%) Weighting (%) 

Financial 15 Price 15 

Technical 85 Purpose 20 

Service details 59 

Management and operation 6 

Page 84



 

 

 
 

Lower Risk Service B: 

The completed tenders were evaluated by a team of individuals / stakeholders with various skill sets 
from across the business, in order to ensure both transparency and robustness. 

The ITTs were evaluated to identify the extent to which each tenderer had the ability, experience, 
and capacity to deliver the service. The technical responses were evaluated to identify how well each 
tenderer would meet the service specification requirements.  The commercial responses were 
evaluated on price offered. 

 

 

Award Criteria Weighting (%) Sub Criteria (%) Weighting (%) 

Financial 15 Price 15 

Technical 85 Purpose 45 

Service details 32 

Management and operation 8 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Revised Jul 2013 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 
Subject:    Contract award for local bus services  

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coker 

CMT Member:   Anthony Payne (Director for Place) 

Author: Debbie Newcombe, Public Transport Officer 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 307790 
    email: Debbie.Newcombe@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    Subsidised Bus Services 2013 

Key Decision: Yes  
 
Part: I   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
The report summarises the recent tender process for the commissioning of the following local bus 
services across the city: 
 
 7D, 13, 14, 18, 19, 25, 27, 28B, 31, 39, 43B and 52.  
 
The existing contracts expired in 2012 and are currently operated under permitted contract 
extensions.  
 
There is a separate private report detailing the outcome of the tenders and recommendations for 
awarding contracts for specific bus services. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
Pioneering Plymouth - the competitive tender process ensures the best possible value for money 
for the provision of these services. The tender process took on board a number of recommendations 
from the recent Growth and Prosperity Overview and Scrutiny Panel review of subsidised routes 
such as improving the assessment criteria used, increasing the length of contracts to achieve better 
value for money and increasing the notice period for both the Council and contractor to ensure 
more time to consider alternative options should a contract end prematurely. 
 
The provision of bus services to communities and new links across the city helps to encourage the 
use of sustainable transport instead of private cars which in turn will help reduce carbon emissions. 
 
 
Growing Plymouth – effective public transport provision is an enabler for growth and a number of 
the routes subsidised offer opportunities for residents to access employment. Particularly the newly 
extended service 14 is designed to link up communities across the City with key employment sites 
such as the Dockyard, Langage and Derriford. Certain shift start and finish times were considered as 
part of designing the service timetable. 
 

Agenda Item 13Page 87



 

Revised Jul 2013 

Caring Plymouth – the Council’s subsidised bus services cover the majority of the City in some 
form linking wards and offering journey opportunities that are not provided by the commercial bus 
network for a variety of reasons from access to healthcare, education, employment, shopping and 
social reasons. The links and therefore journey opportunities would not exist without the Council’s 
intervention.  
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 
The total budget available is £2,463,000 over five years. 
 
This is made up of £698,190 for the Plymouth Connect, service 14, which is part funded by the 
Department for Transport’s Local Sustainable Transport Fund, Section 106 from the Vision 
Development in Devonport and a proportion of the Council’s subsidised bus service budget.  This 
service will be recommended in the Part II report to be contracted initially for 20 months with an 
option to extend the contract for up to 5 years. 
 
All other bus services will be funded wholly by the Council’s subsidised bus service budget. In 
addition to the existing budget the Council will receive a devolved grant from the Department for 
Transport as detailed in section 5.5 of this report. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
N/A 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No  

However, the Council’s subsidised bus provision is covered by the Equality Impact Assessment 
undertaken for the Bus Strategy as part of our Local Transport Plan 2 and updated for Local 
Transport Plan 3. It can be found here http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/eiabusstrat.pdf  

  
 
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to note the report and consider it in conjunction with the private part 2 
report, which is to be considered later in the agenda, and award the contracts accordingly.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
N/A 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Subsidised Routes and Through Ticketing Scrutiny Report available here: 
 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s44335/Subsidised%20bus%20routes%20and%20t
hrough%20ticketing-
%20report%20of%20the%20Growth%20and%20Prosperity%20Overview%20and%20Scruti.pdf 
 

Page 88



 

Revised Jul 2013 

 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin Place

F 
TC13
14 
001 

Leg JAR/
1731
7/17/
04/1
3 

Mon 
Off 

TH
010
5 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

JK/
SP
U/C
P/3
17/0
413 

Originating SMT Member Clive Perkin 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  
 

 

Page 89



 

Revised Jul 2013 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The Council supports a number of bus services across the City either in their entirety or specific 

extensions to existing commercial services, such as an evening service. The Council’s policy for 
the provision of such services has a criterion that takes into account a range of factors including 
topography, historic service provision, car ownership levels in a particular area and where the 
cost per unique passenger (those without an alternative direct service within 400 metres of their 
existing stop and access to a minimum of an hourly service) does not exceed a set threshold 
which is currently £1.99.   

 
1.2 Ward Councillors and members of the public regularly provide suggestions to the Public 

Transport Team on ideas for bus routes. Any feedback received over the last three years has 
been considered and where possible was included as part of the tender process. 

 
1.3 This report summarises a tender process undertaken for the majority of the Council’s existing 

routes and a new cross city link which expands the service 14, which for the purpose of this 
report is known as the Plymouth Connect. 

 
2. PLYMOUTH CONNECT 

 
2.1 The Council was successful in securing funding through the Local Sustainable Transport Fund 

(LSTF) on submission of its Plymouth Connect bid.  Plymouth Connect provides the opportunity 
to build on the objectives set out in the Council’s third Local Transport Plan.    The Plymouth 
Connect project area focuses on the corridor between the communities of Devonport and 
Stonehouse in the west, through the city centre to Cattedown, Coxside, Plymstock and Plympton 
in the east.  The project will link communities together through improvements in walking, cycling 
and bus networks.  Improving connectivity between these communities and providing sustainable 
travel options for trips to employment and leisure opportunities on both sides of the city and 
along the waterfront is crucial to improving equality of access for areas in the western side of the 
city and tackling the environmental, social and economic challenges that currently exist.   

 
2.2 The Plymouth Connect package is a three tiered approach to achieving a shift in travel behaviour 

towards more sustainable modes – provision of sustainable facilities, encouraging greater use of 
facilities and raising awareness.  To help achieve these objectives Plymouth Connect includes an 
element of ‘kickstart’ funding to support a new bus service through the project area with the 
inclusion of Langage Business Park as a key employment site.  This funding is further supported by 
Section 106 monies from the Vision development at Devonport and an element of the Council’s 
subsidised bus budget currently allocated purely to the existing service 14 which is to be 
expanded.  

 

2.3 The Plymouth Connect service 14 which was tendered provides links to the following locations: 
Derriford Hospital, Ham, Torpoint Ferry, Devonport, Mutton Cove, City College, Millbridge, City 
Centre, Coxside, Cattedown, Plymstock, Plympton and Langage. 

 
3. CURRENT SITUATION 

3.1 The Council currently subsidises 15 bus routes across the city, as shown on the attached map.  
12 of these routes are affected by this tender and full details of these routes can be found in 
Table 1 below.  Within the table the current weekly subsidy assumes a standard week without 
any Bank Holidays and the subsidy per passenger is based on the average annual subsidy for the 
year 2012/13. 

Page 90



 

Revised Jul 2013 

Table 1. Current costing per route. 

Service Brief Route 
Details 

Days/Hours 
of Operation 

Current 
Operator 

Current 
Weekly 
Subsidy 

Subsidy 
Per 
Passenger 

7D City Centre – 
Cattedown - 
Plymstock – 
Hooe 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £697.65 £1.09 

13 City Centre – 
Weston Mill – 
Saltash Passage 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Plymouth 
Citybus 

£649.35 £0.53 

14 City Centre – 
Devonport – 
Ham – Derriford 
– Derriford 
Hospital 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £1,491.85 £1.01 

18 City Centre – 
Plymstock – 
Elburton 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £740.55 £1.53 

19 City Centre – 
Marsh Mills – 
Merafield – 
Plympton 
Ridgeway 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £675.00 £1.01 

25 City Centre – 
Barbican – Hoe 

Summer 
Sundays Only 

Plymouth 
Citybus  

£164.03 

 

£0.98 

27 City Centre – 
Deer Park – 
Derriford 
Hospital 

Sunday 
Daytime 

Plymouth 
Citybus 

£127.72 £0.56 

27/28 City Centre – 
Deer Park/ 
Eggbuckland – 
Derriford 
Hospital 

Sunday to 
Thursday 
Evening Only 

Plymouth 
Citybus 

£442.77 £0.77 

31 City Centre – 
Ford – Beacon 
Park – Ford 
Shops 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Plymouth 
Citybus 

£469.45 £0.66 

39 City Centre – 
Hartley Vale – St 
Peters Road – 
Crownhill 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £783.50 £1.46 

43B City Centre – St 
Budeaux – West 
Park – Holly Park 

Daily 
Evenings Only 

Plymouth 
Citybus 

£500.98 £0.65 

Page 91



 

Revised Jul 2013 

52 Plympton – 
Leigham – 
Estover – 
Derriford 
Hospital 

Monday to 
Friday 
Daytime 

Target Travel £858.65 £1.02 

 

3.2 The three services not included within this tender are:  

• The St Budeaux Taxibus which has not been tendered as it is a bespoke service negotiated 
directly with the taxi company following a separate tender process. 

• Service PR3 operating between the George Junction Park and Ride, Marjon and Derriford 
Hospital on Mondays to Fridays. This service is paid for by S106 funding. 

• Service 48 operating between Wembury and Burrator Reservoir via Plymstock and the City 
Centre on Sundays and Bank Holidays. This service is paid for by S106 funding from a 
development in the South Hams. 

 

4. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 Last year the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board set up a Task and Finish Group to carry 

out a review into subsidised bus routes and through ticketing . The review was undertaken over 
four separate occasions throughout October, November and December 2012 culminating in a 
report to Cabinet in February 2013. This report is included as a background paper to this report. 
Through the process the Council’s Public Transport Team presented the process used for 
subsidising bus routes and this was not challenged by the group. A total of 14 recommendations 
were made to Cabinet and all were accepted. The relevant recommendations to subsidised 
services are listed here and wherever possible were incorporated as part of the tender process: 

 
• Subsidised Services Recommendation 1 

In order to deliver a more stable subsidised bus network tendered services will 
generally be offered contracts of 3 years with an option to extend for a further 
two years and all will be subject to a 120 day notice period (an increase on the 
current 56 day statutory clause). 

 
• Subsidised Services Recommendation 2 

The Sustainable Transport Team is asked to provide greater levels of detail in 
the tendering process for all subsidised services in order to provide more clarity 
for bidders about how the council will be scoring the process. 

 
• Additional Recommendation 4 

Following the expected devolution of Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) 
funding from Operators to Local Authorities in respect of subsidised services the 
recommendation is made to permanently ring fence this funding towards the 
provision of subsidised bus services. 

 
• Additional Recommendation 5 

Sustainable Transport Officers are requested to notify the relevant ward 
members when the continuation of an individual subsidised bus service becomes 
at risk. 

 

Page 92



 

Revised Jul 2013 

• Additional Recommendation 7 
Sustainable Transport Officers continue to incentivise the bus operators to 
increase passenger numbers by offering net contracts for subsidised bus services 
as opposed to gross, where possible and suitable. 

 
5. PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

5.1 In view of the relatively low number of potential bidders for this contract approval was granted to 
use the open tender procedure. 

5.2 In view of the estimated contract value, an OJEU notice was published on 19 February 2013 and 
Invitations to Tender (ITT) were dispatched on 22 February 2013 in accordance with the 
following timeline, included within the tender documents (please note the last three stages have 
been delayed since the tender was issued, bus operators have been advised): 

 

 

 

Table 2. Procurement timetable. 
Activity Date 

OJEU Notice Submitted for publication 19 February 2013 

OJEU Notice Published 22 February 2013 

Dispatch of ITT 22 February 2013 

Deadline for ITT Clarifications 22 March 2013 

Deadline for Responses to Clarifications 28 March 2013 

Return of ITT 9 April 2013 

Evaluation of ITT 10-12 April 2013 

Post Tender Clarifications 16 April 2013 

Selection of successful Tenderer 19 April 2013 

Democratic Process and Standstill period 13 June 2013 

Contract Award 14 June 2013 

Contract Mobilisation 01 September 2013 

 

5.3This has been a multi-lot tender, with each lot representing one bus service but in some cases 
with two options for a particular route.   

5.4 Tenderers were invited to bid for any individual Lot or to submit a combination bid for multiple 
or all Lots contained within the tender. 

5.5 In view of changes to the way in which Bus Services Operators Grant is administered from 
January 2014, whereby local authorities will receive a grant from the Department for Transport 
(DfT) to reimburse these costs to operators in respect of subsidised bus services as opposed to 
operators receiving a direct payment from the DfT, operators were asked to submit prices to 
take account of this change. As the amount the Council will receive is not currently defined we 
have estimated it will be 80% of the current value. This will be £72,000 per annum.  

 

Page 93



 

Revised Jul 2013 

6. TENDER EVALUATION METHODOLOGY 

6.1 The evaluation criteria for this procurement was published in the tender documentation.  

6.2 This was broken down into the following sections: 
• Information Only Questions and Schedules 

- Organisation Identity 
- Organisation Information 
- Equalities and Diversity Policy 
- Timescales 
- Contract Information and Management Schedule 
 

• Pass/Fail Questions and Schedules  
- Compliance with EU Legislation/UK Procurement Legislation 
- Financial Standing 
- Insurance  
- Health & Safety 
- Data Protection 
- Proposed Contracts, Collaborations and Partnerships 
- Completion and Acceptance of Schedules 1-7 

 

6.3 Scored Questions 

The following sections contained mandatory questions and responses were evaluated and scored.  
For some questions responses were evaluated in terms of risk.   

Table 3. Assessment criteria. 

Section Weighting (%) 

Prime Contractor/Sub-Contracting  5% 

Quality Management 10% 

Environmental Management  5% 

Health & Safety Management 10% 

Equalities & Diversity 5% 

Disputes  10% 

Business Capability 30% 

Recent Contracts/References  15% 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People 10% 

 

6.4 Finally each individual Lot was evaluated against the following high level evaluation criteria.  Full 
details of this can be found at Appendix 1. 

 

Lot 1 – Plymouth Connect Service 

Commercial Factors 
- Price – 55% 
- Delivery Arrangements – 5% 

 

Page 94



 

Revised Jul 2013 

Technical Factors 
- Vehicle Age – 10% 
- Vehicle Quality – 10% 
- Branding and Publicity (for commencement of service) – 10% 
- Ongoing Marketing Plan – 10% 

 

Lots 2-12 – All Other Services 

Commercial Factors 
- Price – 65% 
- Delivery Arrangements – 5% 

 

Technical Factors 
- Vehicle Age – 10% 
- Vehicle Quality – 10% 
- Publicity and Marketing Plan – 10% 

 
7. SUBSIDISED BUS SERVICE NETWORK MAP 

7.1 One map follows this report showing the Council’s current subsidised bus network. Commercial 
bus services are not shown. 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



7D

7D

25 18

18

18

48

48

48

48

48

48

48

48

George 
Park and Ride

48

18

19

52
52

52

52

PR3

PR3

52

19

19

19A

31

31

31

31

13 43B

43B

14

14

14

14

14

14

14 48

14

13

13

T

T

T

T

T

13

39

39

39

43B

43B

27/28 27/28

27/28

27/28

27/28

KEY

7D  City Centre to Hooe (Monday to Friday daytime)
13  City Centre to Saltash Passage (Monday to Friday daytime)
14  City Centre to Derriford (Monday to Friday daytime)
18  City Centre to Elburton (Monday to Friday daytime)
19  City Centre to Merafield/Ridgeway (Monday to Friday daytime)
25  City Centre to Barbican and West Hoe (Summer Sundays and Bank Holidays)
27/28  City Centre to Eggbuckland/Derriford Hospital 
  (All day Sunday and Monday to Thursday Evenings)
31  City Centre to Ford shops (Monday to Friday daytime)
39  City Centre to Hartley Vale/Crownhill (Monday to Friday daytime)
43B  City Centre to Holly Park (Evenings daily)
52  Plympton to Derriford Hospital (Monday to Friday daytime)

48  Wembury/Plymouth to Burrator Reservoir (Sundays and Bank Holidays)
PR3  George Park and Ride to Derriford Hospital/Tamar Science Park (Monday to Friday daytime)
T  St Budeaux Taxibus (Monday to Friday daytime)

W
o lseley Rd

Hoe RdHoe Rd

Sutton Rd

Gdynia W
ay

Embankment Rd

drock R
d

Lanhy

Em
ba

nk
m

en
t R

d

Grenville Rd

Clovelly R
d

Alvington St

Mac
ad

am
 R

d
Max

well
 R

d

Catte
down Rd

W
est

Citadel Rd

Clarence Place

Stoke Rd

M
olesw

orth Rd

Keyham
 Rd

Beatrice A
ve St Levan Rd

Saltas
h Rd

Exm
outh Rd

D
evon

port Rd

Alma Rd Ford Park
 Rd

Peverell Park Rd

M
annam

ead Rd

H
ollycroft 

Rd

Ta
vi

st
oc

k 
Rd

Frobisher

Approach

Tav
isto

ck 
RdBudshead Rd

Budshead Rd

Tam
erton Foliot Rd

Tamerton Foliot Rd

Trelaw
ney Rd

Outl
an

d R
d

Se
agr

ave
 Rd

North Down RdCookworthy 

Rd

Ferndale Rd

Yo
rk 

Rd
St 

Bu
de

au
x

By
pa

ss

Roberts Rd

Barn
e Rd

Bridewell R
dChurch WayFlete

Cole bro
ok

 moor Rd
 Moor Ln

Rd

Peter’s Park Ln

Vict
or

ia 
Rd

W
olseley Rd

W
olseley Rd

Ham Drive Ham Drive

Merr
iva

le 
Rd

Beacon�eld Rd

Be
ac

on
 P

ar
k

N
orth

Rd

Prospect Rd

Beacon D
ow

n 

A
ve

Ay
re

vil
le 

Rd

Outl
an

d R
d

W
eston Park Rd

M
utley Plain

Elm Rd C
ul

m
e 

Rd

G
ra

nt
le

y 
G

dn
sMutley RdH

yde

Rd
Park

Seymour Rd

Hartley Ave

Eg
gb

uc
kla

nd
 Rd

Eggbuckland Rd Deer Park Dr

Oregon Way

The Parkway

Plymouth Rd

Crossway
Elford Cres

Boringdon H
ill Newnham Rd

Longcause

G
eorge Ln

Wolverwood Ln

Newnham Rd
St Margaret’s   Rd

Plymbridge    Rd

Stoggy L
n

Glen Rd

Sa
nd

y R
d

Ridgeway

Ridgeway

Glen Rd

W
oodford A

ve

Mera�eld Rd

Elburton Rd

Dean Hill

St
en

ta
w

ay
 R

d

Elburton Rd Vi
ne

ry
 L

n

Pomphlett Rd

Stanborough Rd

Furzehatt Rd

Furzehatt Ave

Hooe R
d

Meadow 
Park

St
am

fo
rd

 L
n

Underlane
Burrow Hill

C
hurch H

ill Rd

Sherford Rd

Spring�eld Rd

La
rk

ha
m

Ln

Dudley Rd
C

ot H
ill

Delamere Rd

Sheepstor Rd

Ba
m

pt
on

 R
d

Beechwood Rise

Mille
r W

ay

N
ov

or
iss

isk
  R

d Colwill Rd

M
ille

r W
ay

Derriford Rd
Ply

mbri
dg

e L
n

The Parkway

The Parkway

The Parkway

Coombe Park Ln

The Parkway

Higher Port View

Fairway

Oaklands Dr

Liskeard Rd

Burrat
on   R

d
A38

A38

A38

Callington 

Rd

Callington Rd

Hillside Rd

Yellowtor Rd

Ba
rk

er
’s 

H
ill

Yellow
tor Rd

Gilston Rd

Albert Rd

Lynher Dr

W
earde Rd

Fore St

New Rd N
orth Rd

Old Ferry Rd

Normanday Way

The Parkway

Kings Rd
Marina Rd

Honicknowle Ln

Speedwell Cres

Powisland Dr

Moorland View
Dunraven Dr

Fort Austin Ave

Crownhill Rd

Tr
an

sit
 W

ay

Lancaster Gdns

Warwick Ave
Rothesay Gdns

Bodmin Rd

Uxbridge Dr

Biggin Hill

Ernesettle Ln

M
ilford Ln

Canterbury

Dr

Taunton Ave
Shrewsbury Rd

Budshead Rd

Lakeside Dr

Crownhill Rd

Bowden Park Rd

Char�eld Dr

Culver W
ay

Tailyour Rd

Hunter Cls

Windermere Cres

Leat�eld Dr

Looseleigh ln

Southway Dr

Coo
mbe

 Ln

Ro
bo

ro
ug

h L
n

W
hit

so
nc

ro
ss 

Ln

Sta
tio

n R
d

Southway D
r

Clittaford Rd

Beverston Wy

Kinnaird Cr

Southway Ln

Morgan Rd

Glen
ho

lt R
d

Glen�eld Rd

Plymbridge Rd

Plymbridge Rd

Plymbridge Rd

Estover Rd

Darkla
ke View

Carradale Rd

Forder Valley Rd

Forder Valley Rd

Militar
y Rd

Goosew
ell 

Hill

Church Hill

Longbridge Rd

Blandford RdLower Compton Rd

Higher Compton Rd

Beaumaris Rd

Lin
ke

tty
 Ln

W
es

t

Torr Lane

St Pancras Ave

Chaucer Way

Careswell Ave St Pancras Ave

Compton Ave

Therlow Rd

D
urnford St

Ri
ch

 m
on

d 
W

alk

C
rem

yll St

Millbay R
d

Anstis St

N
or

th
   

 H
ill

Armada St

Plymouth 
Station

North Road West
Wilton St Stuart Rd

Paradise Rd

Valletort Rd

Park A
ve

Ferry Rd

Granby

Way

Mount St

Jam
es St

G
eorge St

Chapel St

Clowance St

Albert Rd

Balfour Tce

Pasley St East
Bro

wnin
g R

d

Mile
ho

use
 R

d

Royal Navy Ave

Union Street

Alexandra Rd

Be
rn

ice
 T

ce

Holmes Ave

Mount Gould Rd

Beaumont Rd

Queen’s Rd

Lip
son

 Rd

Sali
sbury R

d

Eff
or

d L
an

e

Old Laira Rd

Efford Rd

Blandford Rd

Pike Rd

M
ilitary Rd

Plymstock Rd

To Heybrook Bay

St Peter’s RoadSh eridan Rd

Shakespeare Rd

H
on

ick
no

w
le

 L
n

Lak
e V

iew

 D
r

Bam

p fylde Wy

    
   D

unnet Rd

Ta
vi

st
oc

k 
Rd

Lu
lwor

t h
 D

r 

Ste
er Park Rd

St M
aur ice Rd

C

oypool Rd

   
Le

igh
am

 M
an

or
 D

r

Kesw
ick

 C
re

s

Novorissisk Rd

Austin Cres

Ta

vi
s t

oc
k 

Rd

Tr
ev

ith
ic k

 R
d

Weston Mill H
ill

M
elville R d

  Pem

ros Rd

     Foulsto n A
ve

  Poo le  Park Rd

Sava g e R
d

King’s T
amerton Rd

    Plymou th
 R

d

C
hurch Rd

Long  Park 
Rd

Fa
irm

ea
d 

Rd

G
reenban k   Rd

Billacom be Rd
O

re
sto

n Rd

 M
ou

nt
 B

at
te

n W

ay

Ra
df

or
d 

Pa

rk 
rd

Cand i sh Dr

Arcadia Rd

 R
es

er
vo

ir R
d

Sh
ute

 Park R
d

W
em

bu
ry 

Rd

 S
ta

dd
isc

om
be

 Rd
Ascott Ln

H
ol

m
w

ood Ave

Laira Bridge Rd

Higher
St Budeaux

Torpoint

St Stephens

Burraton
Coombe

Burraton

Tamar 
Bridge

Pillmere

Saltash

Cremyll

St Budeaux
King’s 
Tamerton

Honicknowle

West Park

Badgers 
WoodErnesettle

Whitleigh

Southway
Glenholt
Park

Estover

Holly Park

Tamerton
Foliot

Ham

Brake
Farm

Eggbuckland

Leigham

Marsh Mills Woodford Colebrook

Steer ParkNewnham

Chaddlewood

St Maurice
Merafield

A38

A38

Efford

Laira

Prince 
Rock

Coxside

Cattedown

St Judes

Mutley

Peverell

Hartley

Beacon Park

Ford

Keyham

Barne Barton

Stoke

StonehouseDevonport

Mount Gould

The Hoe
Barbican

Billacombe

Pomphlett

Elburton

Goosewell
Hooe

Oreston
Turnchapel

Plympton

Plymstock

Mannamead

Lower Compton

Underwood Rd

Plymstock

Plymouth
City 

Centre

Crownhill

Derriford
Hospital

CURRENT SUBSIDISED BUS NETWORK
P

age 97



P
age 98

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 15Page 99
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 109

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 110

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 16Page 111
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 17Page 119
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 125
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 128

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Further notice of intention to conduct business in private
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 MINUTES
	5 STRATEGIC ALCOHOL PLAN FOR PLYMOUTH (2013-18)
	Plymouth Strategic Alcohol Plan Scrutiny Task and Finish Report

	6 BUSINESS RATES: DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF
	7 FINANCE - CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING REPORT
	8 URBAN ENTERPRISE: NEW ENTERPRISE UNITS AT OCEAN STUDIOS
	11 ADDITION OF A SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS SUPPORT CENTRE TO KEYHAM BARTON CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL
	12 CONTRACT AWARD - DOMESTIC ABUSE VICTIM SUPPORT, RECOVERY AND PREVENTION SERVICES
	13 CONTRACT AWARD FOR LOCAL BUS SERVICES
	Current Subsidised Bus Network map

	15 CONTRACT AWARD FOR LOCAL BUS SERVICES (E3)
	Recommended Subsidised Bus Network map part 2

	16 CONTRACT AWARD - DOMESTIC ABUSE VICTIM SUPPORT, RECOVERY AND PREVENTION SERVICES (E3)
	17 RESTRUCTURE OF TWO CITY CENTRE HEAD LEASES (E3)
	Restructure of two City Centre head leases. Appendices. plans


